Université de Montréal

## Links between abnormal lipid metabolism and inflammation in

## Alzheimer's disease

Par

Chenicka Lyn Mangahas

Département de Biologie moléculaire

Faculté de médecine

Mémoire présenté à la Faculté de médecine

en vue de l'obtention du grade de Maître ès sciences (M.Sc.)

en Biologie Moléculaire

Option Générale

Décembre 2020

© Chenicka Lyn Mangahas, 2020

Université de Montréal

Centre de recherche du CHUM, Département de neurosciences

Ce mémoire intitulé:

## Links between abnormal lipid metabolism and inflammation in

Alzheimer's disease

Présenté par:

## Chenicka Lyn Mangahas

A été évalué par un jury composé des personnes suivantes:

Francis Rodier, Ph.D.

**Président-rapporteur** 

Karl J.L. Fernandes, Ph.D.

Directeur de recherche

Jannic Boehm, Ph.D.

Membre du jury

## Résumé

La recherche sur la maladie d'Alzheimer (MA) est concentrée, en grande partie, sur l'étude de ses principales caractéristiques histologiques, les plaques β-amyloïdes (Aβ) et les enchevêtrements neurofibrillaires. Cependant, les thérapies ciblant directement ces caractéristiques n'empêchent pas la progression de la MA. En plus de ces caractéristiques, la génétique a mis en évidence l'implication du métabolisme des lipides et de la réponse immunitaire dans la MA. Les perturbations du métabolisme lipidique est le prédicteur génétique le plus puissant du développement de la MA, mais ses mécanismes restent un mystère. Des travaux récents dans notre laboratoire ont montré que les triglycérides s'accumulent dans le cerveau des patients atteints de MA et des souris 3xTg, un modèle murin de la MA. Chez les souris 3xTg, ces triglycérides sont enrichis en acide oléique (AO), un acide gras monoinsaturé, et l'inhibition de l'enzyme de synthèse de l'AO, le stéaryle-CoA désaturase (SCD), réduit leur accumulation et contrecarre la perte précoce de la neurogenèse hippocampique et les troubles de mémoire. Nous avons donc testé si l'inhibition de la SCD peut inverser les changements dans le transcriptome et rétablir la fonction de l'hippocampe chez les souris 3xTg symptomatiques. En comparant aux souris contrôles, l'hippocampe de souris 3xTg possède des altérations transcriptomiques impliquées dans les processus reconnus pour être perturbés dans la MA. Leur hippocampe a également montré une baisse significative des épines dendritiques. De manière remarquable, les données de séquençage de l'ARN montrent que le traitement des souris 3xTg pendant un mois avec un inhibiteur de la SCD a sauvé des gènes liés à l'immunité et aux synapses. Les analyses tissulaires ont révélé que ce traitement a conduit à des améliorations de la densité des épines dendritiques. Nous avons également établi un modèle de microglie en culture et nos données préliminaires suggèrent que les oligomères Aß pourrait être responsable de perturbations du métabolisme des lipides chez les microglies. En somme, ces études soulignent le potentiel d'un nouveau médicament ciblant SCD pour le traitement de la MA.

## **Mots-clés**

Maladie d'Alzheimer, métabolisme, lipide, microglie, inflammation, synapse, stéaryle-coA désaturase

## Summary

Alzheimer's disease (AD) research has mainly focused on studying its main histological hallmarks,  $\beta$ -amyloid (A $\beta$ ) plaques, and neurofibrillary tangles. However, therapies directly targeting these hallmarks do not prevent AD progression. In addition to these hallmarks, genetics have highlighted the implication of lipid metabolism and immunity in AD. Disturbances in lipid metabolism are the single strongest genetic predictor of developing AD, but the underlying mechanisms remain poorly understood. Recent work in our laboratory showed that triglycerides accumulate in the brains of both AD patients and 3xTg mice, a mouse model of AD. In 3xTg mice, these triglycerides are enriched with monounsaturated fatty acid oleic acid (OA), and the inhibition of the OAsynthesizing enzyme stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) reduced their accumulation and counteracts the early loss of hippocampal neurogenesis and memory deficits. Here, we tested whether SCD inhibition can reverse changes in the transcriptome and rescue hippocampal function in symptomatic 3xTg mice. Compared to their strain controls, the hippocampus of middle-aged, preplaque 3xTg mice showed transcriptomic alterations involved in processes recognized to be disrupted in AD. Their hippocampus also displayed significant reduction in dendritic spines. Remarkably, RNA sequencing data show that treatment of middle-aged 3xTg mice for one month with an SCD inhibitor rescued genes related to immunity and synapses. Tissue analyses revealed that this treatment led to improvements in dendritic spine density. We also established a model of microglia in culture and our preliminary data suggest that A $\beta$  oligomers may be responsible for disruptions in microglial lipid metabolism. Together, these studies shed light on the potential of a novel drug target SCD for the treatment of AD.

## Keywords

Alzheimer's disease, metabolism, lipid, microglia, inflammation, synapse, stearoyl-CoA desaturase

# **Table of Contents**

RÉSUMÉ .		I
MOTS-CL	.ÉS	I
SUMMAR	Υ	II
KEYWOR	DS	II
LIST OF F	FIGURES	VI
LIST OF T	ΓABLES	VI
ABBREVL	ATIONS	VII
ACKNOW	LEDGMENTS	XI
INTRODU	JCTION	1
1.0 Alzhe	eimer's disease	1
1.1 Ris	sk factors	2
1.1.2	Age	
1.1.3	Sex	
1.1.4	Environmental factors and lifestyle choices	
1.2 Ha	llmarks	
1.2.1	Abnormal protein aggregation and accumulation	
1.2.2	Cerebral amyloid angiopathy	9
1.2.3	Gliosis	9
1.2.4	Lipid accumulation	
1.3 Phy	ysiopathology	
1.3.1	Amyloid cascade hypothesis	
1.3.2	Tau propagation hypothesis	
2.0 Lipid	ls in the brain	

2.0.1	Fatty acids	
2.0.2	Phospholipids	13
2.0.3	Sterol lipids	14
2.1 Lij	pid metabolism in the brain	14
2.2 Ro	le of lipid metabolism in Alzheimer's disease	14
2.2.1	Abnormal lipid metabolism in Alzheimer's disease	14
2.2.2.	Lipid-related risk genes of Alzheimer's disease	16
2.2.3	Role of lipids in pathological processing of Amyloid precursor protein.	
3.0 Mici	oglia	
3.1 M	croglial polarization	
3.1.1	Homeostatic microglia (M0)	
3.1.2	Pro-inflammatory microglia (M1)	
3.1.3	Anti-inflammatory microglia (M2)	
3.2 M	croglia metabolism	
3.3 M	croglia in Alzheimer's disease	
3.3.1	Microglia in $A\beta$ pathology	
3.3.2	Microglia in tau pathology	
3.3.3	Excessive synaptic pruning	
3.3.4	Immune-related risk genes of Alzheimer's disease	
3.3.5	Metabolic reprogramming	
4.0 Rati	onal & Hypothesis	
4.1 Ste	earoyl-CoA desaturase	
4.2 Ste	earoyl-CoA desaturase in Alzheimer's disease	
4.3 M	ouse model of Alzheimer's disease	32

MATERIAL AND METHODS	34
Animal Experimental Models	34
Intracerebroventricular injection	34
RNA-sequencing	34
Golgi analysis	36
Flow cytometry analysis	37
Primary microglia experiments	39
Immunocytochemistry	39
Preparation of mAβ and AβO	40
Gel electrophoresis	40
Real-time quantitative PCR analysis	41
Statistical analyses	42
RESULTS	43
DISCUSSION	60
<b>3xTg mouse model of Alzheimer's disease</b>	61
SCD1 inhibition rescued genes associated with immunity and synapses in the 3xTg hippocampus.	62
SCD1 inhibition promotes regeneration of dendrites and dendritic spines in the 3xTg	5
hippocampus.	63
Microglial polarization in the 3xTg brain	64
Establishment of a model of microglia to study cell-specific inflammatory responses.	65
Important questions left to answer	66
CONCLUSION	67
REFERENCES	67

## List of figures

Figure 1. Population attributable fraction of potentially modifiable risk factors for dementia.

Figure 2. RNA-seq of WT and 3xTg hippocampus at 8 months of age.

Figure 3. SCD1 inhibition rescued genes related to immunity and synapses in the 3xTg hippocampus.

Figure 4. Effect of SCD1 inhibition on immune-related genes in the 3xTg hippocampus.

Figure 5. Dendritic spine loss occurs in the dorsal hippocampus of 3xTg mice at 8 months of age.

Figure 6. SCD1 inhibition rescued the loss of dendrites and spines in pyramidal cells of the CA1 in the 3xTg hippocampus.

Figure 7. SCD1 inhibition did not rescue the loss of spines in granule cells of the dentate gyrus in the 3xTg hippocampus.

Figure 8. Characterization of microglial polarization in the brain of asymptomatic and symptomatic mice.

Figure 9. Establishment of a protocol for primary microglia culture.

Figure 10. 3xTg microglia have higher mRNA levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines at baseline.

Figure 11. 3xTg microglia display a dampened response to LPS.

Figure 12. SCD1 inhibition does not reduce mRNA levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in 3xTg microglia.

Figure 13. Preparation of A $\beta_{1-42}$  oligomers.

Figure 14. AβO-induced inflammation increases SCD1 mRNA expression in WT microglia.

Figure 15. A hypothetical sequence of the pathogenetic steps of AD.

## List of tables

Table 1. List of antibodies

Table 2. List of primers

## Abbreviations

Aβ: β-amyloid ABCA7: ATP-binding cassette sub-family A member 7 Acetyl-CoA: Acetyl-coenzyme A AD: Alzheimer's disease AICD: Amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain APOE: Apolipoprotein E APP: Amyloid precursor protein APS: Ammonium persulfate Arg1: Arginase 1 ATP: Adenosine triphosphate AβO: β-amyloid oligomers BACE1: β-site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme 1 BBB: Blood-brain barrier BDNF: Brain-derived neurotrophic factor BIN1: Bridging Integrator-1 Clq: Complement component lq C3: Complement component 3 CAA: Cerebral amyloid angiopathy CA1: Cornu ammonis CD: Cluster of differentiation cDNA: Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid CLU: Clusterin CNS: Central nervous system Cr3: Complement receptor 3 CSF: Cerebrospinal fluid CSF1: Colony Stimulating Factor 1 CTF: C-terminal fragment CX3CR1: CX3C chemokine receptor 1 DAM: Disease-associated microglia DAMP: Damage associated molecular pattern

DAP12: DNAX-activating protein of 12 kDa DEG: Differently expressed gene DHA: Docosahexaenoic acid DIV: Days in vitro DMEM: Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium DMSO: Dimethyl sulfoxide E: Embryonic day ECM: Extracellular matrix EPA: Eicosapentaenoic acid ER: Endoplasmic reticulum FA: Fatty acid FAD-EOAD: Familial Alzheimer's disease- Early-onset Alzheimer's disease FAO: Fatty acid oxidation FBS: Fetal bovine serum FC: Flow cytometry FDR: False discovery rate GFAP: Glial fibrillary acidic protein GO: Gene ontology GSEA: Gene set enrichment analysis GWAS: Genome-wide association study HBSS: Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution HEX $\beta$ : Hexosaminidase subunit  $\beta$ HFIP: Hexafluoro isopropanol Hif1α: Hypoxia-inducible factor 1α HMGCR: 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase IBA1: Ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1 IFNγ: Interferon γ IGF1: Insulin growth factor 1 IL: Interleukin iNOS: Inducible Nitric oxide synthase LD: Lipid droplet

LPS: Lipopolysaccharide LTP: Long-term potential M0: Homeostatic/resting microglia M1: M1 pro-inflammatory microglia M2: M2 anti-inflammatory microglia mAβ: Monomeric β-amyloid MHC II: Major histocompatibility complex II mRNA: Messenger ribonucleic acid MUFA: Monounsaturated fatty acid NADP+: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate NFT: Neurofibrillary tangle NGF: Nerve growth factor NLR: NOD-like receptor NLRP3: NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain containing 3 NO: Nitric oxide OA: Oleic acid **OXPHOS:** Oxidative phosphorylation P/S: Penicillin Streptomycin P2RY12: P2Y purinergic receptor 12 PAMP: Pattern associated molecular pattern PBS: Phosphate buffer saline **PBS-T: PBS-Triton** PFA: Paraformaldehyde PL: Phospholipid PS1: Presenilin 1 PS2: Presenilin 2 PUFA: Polyunsaturated fatty acid RNA: Ribonucleic acid RNA-seq: Ribonucleic acid sequencing ROS: Reactive oxygen species RT- qPCR: Reverse transcriptase quantitative polymerase chain reaction SAD-LOAD: Sporadic Alzheimer's disease- Late-onset Alzheimer's disease SCD: Stearoyl-Coenzyme A desaturase scRNA-seq: Single-cell Ribonucleic acid sequencing SDS-PAGE: Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis SFA: Saturated fatty acid SLC2A5: Solute carrier family 2-member 5 SNP: Single nucleotide polymorphism SORL1: Sortilin Related Receptor 1 SPM: Specialized pro-resolving lipids mediator SREB1c: Sterol Regulatory Element Binding Protein-1C expression TAG: Triacylglyceride TEMED: Tetramethyl ethylenediamine TGF $\beta$ : Transforming growth factor  $\beta$ TGN: Trans-Golgi network Th: T helper cell TLR: Toll-like receptor TMEM199: Transmembrane protein 119 TNFα: Tumor necrosis factor α TREM2: Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor

## Acknowledgments

I would first like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Karl Fernandes, for his support and for guiding me throughout my master's. Thank you for taking me into your lab and for giving me a chance to prove my abilities. The door to Dr. Fernandes' office was always open whenever I ran into a trouble spot or had a question about my research or writing. I hope to, one day, further develop my critical thinking like you.

Thank you to our collaborators Dr. Martine Tétreault and her student Dr. Gaël Moquin-Beaudry, Dr. Natalie Arbour, and Dr. Catherine Larochelle and their lab members Audrey Daigneault and Oumarou Ouédraogo as well as Dr. Thierry Alquier and his student Arturo Machuca-Parra for their participation and input on our work.

I would also like to thank all the Fernandes lab members Anne Aumont, Dr. Laura Hamilton, Loïc Cochard, Federico Pratesi, Paule M'bra, and Myriam Aubin. Thank you for making my master's a wonderful and insightful experience. I am so grateful to be surrounded by supportive, encouraging, and amazing colleagues. I would like to also acknowledge my intern Alexandra Mondor-Leduc who lent a hand for the dendritic spine quantifications for the Golgi analysis. Furthermore, I wish to express my sincere gratitude to Laura for all the work she did with the RNA-seq data and the Golgi analysis. Without her help, I would not have been able to have the wonderful figures in my memoir.

Finally, I wish to thank my family as well as my boyfriend for providing me with unconditional love, support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study. Thank you for believing in me when stress had the better of me and when I doubted myself. Thank you for pushing me further when I wanted to give up.

## Introduction

## **1.0 Alzheimer's disease**

Over 50 million people worldwide are living with dementia (10). Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common form of dementia. In North America, AD is ranked amongst the top 10 leading causes of death (11). This neurodegenerative disease is mainly characterized by the abnormal protein aggregation and accumulation of  $\beta$ -amyloid (A $\beta$ ) and tau. AD is a progressive disease affecting brain function. There are two forms of AD, familial and sporadic AD, also known as early-onset (FAD-EOAD) and late-onset (SAD-LOAD) respectively, the latter being the predominant form. Generally, SAD-LOAD symptoms arise in patients over the age of 60 while symptomatic FAD-EOAD patients are much younger. Though this disease affects both sexes, 2-in-3 people with AD are women (10). Memory deficits are the most known symptom in AD, but it also entails impairments of other cognitive and intellectual functions, such as learning, language, visuospatial skills, behavior, and emotion. As brain function declines, patients will gradually lose their ability to perform day-to-day tasks causing patients to become dependent on their family and caregivers. The medical expenses for individuals with AD was estimated at \$10.4 billion in 2016. This is expected to rise to \$16.6 billion by 2031 (12).

Diagnosis for AD often occurs late-onset as symptoms are delayed, around 5 to 10 years after irreversible damages to the brain have been initiated (13). A patient presenting with memory deficits will be subjected to a variety of exams complemented with brain imaging to assess structural atrophy, particularly in the hippocampus, the key region affected in AD which is responsible for learning and memory. Clinical assessment of dementia is 85 to 90% accurate due to the complexity and heterogeneity of AD (10). However, AD can only be diagnosed with certainty with an autopsy of the brain. In 2011, the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups published recommendations further increasing the accuracy of AD diagnosis in living patients by promoting measurements of biomarkers in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and by positron emission tomography imaging for A $\beta$  and tau proteins (14). Nevertheless, improvements in AD diagnosis are still required as only 10 to 50% of people living with AD are diagnosed (10).

There is currently no cure for AD. Current treatments of AD aim to delay and manage cognitive symptoms. AD patients are provided with cholinesterase inhibitors which increase the levels of

neurotransmitters, such as acetylcholine, to promote brain activity. Clinical trials for AD have been mainly targeting the main events of this neurodegenerative disease including senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs). However, no treatment has been proven to modify the AD course (15, 16). With its increasing prevalence and burden, there is an urgency to identify the mechanisms leading to the initiation and development of AD to promote the establishment of new therapies.

### 1.1 Risk factors

The risk factors for AD are categorized as non-modifiable and modifiable risk factors. Nonmodifiable risk factors include genes, age, and sex while modifiable risk factors are associated with environmental factors and lifestyle choices (figure 1) (17-19). In the past decade, there has been an emerging interest in modifiable risk factors of AD, particularly diet, exercise, and education. Although modifiable factors may not fully prevent the emergence of AD, they can contribute to reducing the risk of AD and delaying its onset.

## 1.1.1 Genes

There are two forms of AD: SAD-LOAD and FAD-EOAD. They differ in the implication of heritable genetics. FAD-EOAD is a rare form of AD which is dictated by genetics in an autosomal dominant manner. Patients with FAD-EOAD will develop symptoms at early onset, around midlife in the third or fourth decade of life. The mutations responsible for the increased risk of FAD-EOAD are found in the genes encoding proteins implicated in amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing: *APP*, *presenilin-1* (*PS1*), and *presenilin-2* (*PS2*). APP is cleaved by  $\gamma$ -secretase which contains presenilins, the core catalytic subunits of  $\gamma$ -secretase, to give rise to A $\beta$  peptides. The mutations on these genes modify APP processing resulting in alterations in A $\beta$  production and aggregation. Inheritance of mutations on the *PS1* gene account for a higher proportion of FAD-EOAD (20). It is also important to note that patients with Down syndrome have an increased risk of developing AD as they possess an additional copy of chromosome 21 on which the *APP* gene is located.



Figure 1. Population attributable fraction of potentially modifiable risk factors for dementia (Reproduced with permission from Elsevier (18))

Regarding SAD-LOAD, it is the predominant form of AD in which symptoms begin to occur at the age of 60 years old or older. Contrary to FAD-EOAD, SAD-LOAD is not hereditary but rather caused by an interplay between environmental factors, lifestyle choices as well as genetic polymorphisms. The *Apolipoprotein E (APOE)* gene is the strongest known genetic risk factor for SAD-LOAD. There are three isoforms of APOE:  $\varepsilon 2$ ,  $\varepsilon 3$ , and  $\varepsilon 4$ . The carriers of the *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  allele are 2- to 15-fold more likely to develop SAD-LOAD while the carriers of *APOE*  $\varepsilon 2$  seem to be protected (5). In addition to *APOE*, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified up to 40 risk loci in SAD-LOAD patients involved in A $\beta$  and tau pathology, immunity, lipid metabolism, and endocytosis (1-4). The risk genes identified are associated with altered APP processing. These studies highlight the genetic profile of AD, however, identifying the biological processes and function of these loci are important to expand our knowledge of underlying mechanisms leading to AD.

### 1.1.2 Age

Age is the predominant risk factor for AD. The prevalence of AD between the age of 65 to 69 is under 1% (21). This doubles every 5 years after the age of 65 setting the prevalence at around 25% for AD patients aged 85 years old and older (21). Age at onset is highly associated with AD genetics. FAD-EOAD is attributable to mutations in the APP gene and in the genes of participating in its processing. Patients with FAD-EOAD will develop symptoms around mid-life. The age at onset of SAD-LOAD is 60 years old and older. A study of the effect of GWAS AD risk loci on age identified 10 loci associated with changes in age at onset and revealed that *APOE* was mostly responsible for variations of age at onset (22). Moreover, many hallmarks of aging overlap with AD, such as mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative damage, aberrant neuronal network activity, stem cell exhaustion, and glial cell activation and inflammation (23). These events are accelerated and amplified by an unknown trigger that has yet to be identified.

## 1.1.3 Sex

AD affects both men and women. However, the incidence of AD is higher in women (10) and they display a greater cognitive deficit compared to men (24). It was also hypothesized that women are more affected by AD than men due greater life expectancy and to the differences in brain composition between men and women. The male brain has been reported to have a higher brain volume and a higher content of white matter while women have more grey matter (25). This would attribute a certain resilience to brain atrophy in men thus delaying the appearance of cognitive symptoms. As for the severity of AD symptoms, women display greater deficits in cognition compared to men (24). A similar trend is also observed in mouse models of AD (26-29) in which AD progression is also accelerated (30, 31).

Additionally, hormones were also shown to be a contributing factor. Women's susceptibility to developing AD has been associated with the fluctuations of estrogen levels. Estrogen has been reported to enhance cognition and to possess protective effects on the brain (32, 33). The reduced

levels of estrogen in early menopause are associated with the risk of AD (34). Furthermore, *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  allele female carriers are more likely to develop AD than their male counterpart (5, 35). Compared to men with a 2-fold risk with one *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  allele, women with similar APOE genetics have a 4-fold increased risk (5). Although, it is important to note that homozygous *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  allele carriers possess a 15-fold risk of developing AD regardless of sex (5).

#### 1.1.4 Environmental factors and lifestyle choices

#### a. Diet

Diet is an important pleiotropic factor in health. Nutrition provides important nutrients to the brain, such as lipids, glucose, and amino acid, which are necessary for its normal function and maintenance of neuronal structures. The Western diet which is rich in saturated fats and carbohydrates has been known to cause an imbalance of energy metabolism promoting obesity, cerebrovascular diseases, cardiovascular diseases, and diabetes. Interestingly, these diseases are comorbidities and risk factors for AD. The Western diet owes its detrimental effects to its components, high levels of saturated fatty acids (SFAs) and sugars, which induce inflammation and oxidative stress. In animal models of AD, this diet was even shown to worsen the amyloid burden (36, 37). The Mediterranean diet which is rich in high unsaturated fats and antioxidants seems to possess a protective effect for AD. Mainly composed of polyphenols, monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs), and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), this diet has anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties (38-41). The consensus suggests that the Western diet promotes AD while the Mediterranean diet is beneficial for cardiovascular and brain health. The modulation of dietary patterns has been gaining interest in the past decade as a preventive measure and a non-invasive therapy for AD.

#### b. Exercise

A sedentary life leads to a reduction in lifespan and an increased risk of developing vascular pathologies, cancer, impairment of metabolism, and neurodegenerative diseases. Exercise, particularly aerobic and moderate-to-severe intensity activities, has been reported to reduce the risk of AD (42, 43). An active lifestyle can protect from depression, cardiovascular diseases, and metabolic pathologies, such as hypertension, diabetes, and obesity, which increase the likelihood to develop AD. Physical exercise has been shown to support brain health by increasing the production of growth factors and neurotrophins such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF),

insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) which stimulate neurogenesis, cerebrovascular health, neuronal survival, and plasticity as well as to contribute to the brain's energy metabolism (44-47). Interestingly, the levels of these factors were shown to be reduced in AD patients (48). Like diet, the interest in exercise has been on the rise as a potentially safe and non-invasive method of prevention against AD. Furthermore, as diet and exercise closely interact, a combined strategy can possess a synergic effect on brain health.

#### c. Education

Low educational attainment has been shown to increase the risk of AD. The risk is doubled in people with eight or fewer years of education (49, 50). A meta-analysis showed an inverse dose-response trend between years of education and AD risk leading to a 7% decrease in risk of developing AD per year of education (51). Though the mechanism by which education reduces the likelihood of developing AD is not well understood, education contributes to cognitive stimulation and cognitive reserve (49). The cognitive reserve hypothesis dictates that individual differences in brain resilience and adaptability leads to susceptibility to brain damage and neurodegenerative diseases. A study linked education as a predictor of two AD symptoms: visuospatial ability and working memory (52). Remarkably, intellectual stimulation was demonstrated to reduce the amyloid burden in AD patients (53, 54).

## **1.2 Hallmarks**

## 1.2.1 Abnormal protein aggregation and accumulation

In 1906, Dr. Alois Alzheimer described cognitive deficits and histological anomalies in the brain of his patient (55). His paper published in 1911 documented the first depictions of A $\beta$  plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) (56). Nowadays, these observations are known as AD hallmarks which are, still today, the primary neuropathologic criteria for AD diagnosis. A staging system was established to characterize the distribution of NFT (57) in the brain during AD while The Thal phase (58) and CERAD score (59) were established to visualize spatial-temporal distribution of amyloid depositions and to measure dense core plaques, respectively. Nonetheless, the aberrant aggregates of these proteins follow a similar pattern of migration in the brain starting at the entorhinal cortex to the isocortex leading to hippocampal and cortical atrophy as well as enlargement of ventricles (57-59).

### a) $A\beta$ depositions

The A $\beta$  protein is derived from APP, a type I transmembrane protein. Although the roles of APP are unclear, it seems to play a role in neuronal development, neurite outgrowth, and axonal transport alongside intracellular A $\beta$  (60, 61). Astrocytes and neurons are responsible for A $\beta$ synthesis. There are two proteolytic pathways for APP processing, the non-amyloidogenic, and the amyloidogenic pathway (62, 63). In the non-amyloidogenic pathway, APP is first cleaved by  $\alpha$ secretase producing soluble APP $\alpha$  and C-terminal fragment (CTF)  $\alpha$  which are then cleave by  $\gamma$ secretase to give rise to P3 and APP intracellular C-terminal domain (AICD). As for the amyloidogenic pathway, APP is cleaved by  $\beta$ -secretase, particularly  $\beta$ -site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme 1 (BACE1), producing soluble APPß and CTFß which is then cleaved by  $\gamma$ -secretase generating AICD and 38 to 43 amino acid A $\beta$ . In physiological conditions, APP is predominantly cleaved by  $\alpha$ -secretase (64). The most common species of A $\beta$  are A $\beta_{1-40}$  and A $\beta_{1-42}$ (65). In normal conditions,  $A\beta_{1-40}$  is abundantly and continuously produced while the latter is produced at a lower level (66). The levels of  $A\beta$  in the brain are shaped by  $A\beta$  production and clearance. In AD, there is an imbalance between the production of A $\beta_{1-42}$ , the principal component of amyloid plaques, via the amyloidogenic pathway and its clearance by phagocytosis or by drainage through the CSF and the brain's vasculature (67). A $\beta_{1-42}$  is commonly described as a "sticky" protein due to its high tendency to self-aggregate. The monomers of this hydrophobic molecule aggregate into soluble oligomers to insoluble fibrils which are resistant to proteolytic cleavage, and ultimately, extracellular amyloid plaques as diffuse or dense core plaques (68).

A $\beta$  oligomers (A $\beta$ O) are mainly responsible for amyloid neurotoxicity in AD (69). Although plaques occupy a larger surface in the brain, A $\beta$ O also can impair memory (70, 71) and inhibit LTP (72) in the absence of plaques or neuronal loss. Though fibrillar A $\beta$  also possesses detrimental effects on neurons, the degree of A $\beta$ O-associated cognitive impairment and inflammation is higher (69, 73, 74). Remarkably, A $\beta$ O in the brain was reported to induce metabolic deficits in the periphery (75). Additionally, A $\beta$ O can interact with lipids within lipids rafts of neurons and alter membrane integrity to form pores (76). Pore formation causes an imbalance in calcium homeostasis leading to cell death by promoting mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis. A $\beta$  can also disrupt mitochondrial bioenergetics by eliciting a chronic inflammatory response or by directly interfering with the electron transport chain and oxidative phosphorylation thus reducing adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production and promoting the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and nitric oxide (NO) (77). Moreover, A $\beta$ O can bind to multiple receptors downregulating cell survival, such as the nerve growth factor (NGF) receptor, the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, and the insulin receptor (78, 79). More importantly, as impairment of cognition correlates with loss of synapses, amyloid's role in AD-associated synaptotoxicity has been studied. A $\beta$ O prompts changes in dendritic structure and morphology (80-82) as well as the loss of synapses (81, 83-86). This phenomenon is due to the excitotoxic effects of oligomers causing alterations in synaptic plasticity and synapse inactivation by targeting glutamatergic receptors (87). Altogether, A $\beta$  is heavily implicated in various AD pathology.

#### *b)* Tau species

The tau protein is a microtubule-associated protein encoded by the MAPT gene. Tau is a dynamic molecule vital for the assembly and stability of tubulin regulating cytoskeletal dynamics. This protein is mainly found in the axons of neurons and is important for synaptic trafficking. In humans, there are six isoforms of tau produced by alternative splicing in exons 2,3, and 10. Abnormal inclusions of tau are not limited to AD. They have also been reported in frontotemporal dementia with parkinsonism-17, Pick disease, progressive supranuclear palsy, cortico-basal degeneration, argyrophilic grain disease, and chronic traumatic encephalopathies. The intracellular tauopathies in AD are found as NFT in neurons and neuropil threads in dendrites and axons which are composed of all six isoforms of tau. There are also extracellular accumulations of tau called ghost tangles. In AD, tau phosphorylation is 4-fold higher than in healthy brains (88). The hyperphosphorylation of tau leads to reduced affinity for microtubules and prone to aggregate into straight or paired helical filaments, the latter being the primary component of NFT in AD (89).

Tau's neurotoxic effects are exerted by its intracellular and extracellular accumulation. The intracellular accumulation of tau occurs in the somatodendritic compartment and axons of neurons. Cell death is induced as axonal transport and microtubule network are disrupted (89). Tau can also destabilize mitochondrial dynamics by increasing fission and decreasing fusion causing increased production of ROS and impaired production of ATP (90). Extracellular tau possesses a neurotoxic effect on calcium homeostasis, neurite pathology, and vesicle trafficking. Tau can bind muscarinic receptors on neurons and induce mobilization of calcium ions leading to neuronal cell death (91). Although the effect of tau on dendritic and synaptic morphology and density is unclear, it is required for AβO synaptotoxicity (92, 93).

#### 1.2.2 Cerebral amyloid angiopathy

A $\beta$  depositions can also be found in blood vessels disrupting the brain's vasculature (94). This is known as amyloid cerebral angiopathy (CAA) which can manifest as strokes and progressive dementia. There are two forms of CAA, hereditary and sporadic with the latter being the most common. Like AD, patients with CAA can possess neuritic plaques (95). Although the mechanisms inducing CAA have not been established, mutations in *APP* and *PS1* can give rise to CAA (96). The *APOE*  $\varepsilon$ 4 allele is also a risk factor for sporadic CAA (97, 98). Contrary to AD, CAA associated with increased levels of A $\beta_{1-40}$  aggregates and are mostly found in arteries, arterioles, and capillaries of cerebral and cerebellar cortices and leptomeninges (99). The clinical presentations of CAA are also distinct from AD manifesting as spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage and transient neurological focal episodes. Nonetheless, the similarities between AD and CAA suggest a mechanistic link.

### 1.2.3 Gliosis

Gliosis refers to the activation and proliferation of glia in response to brain injury, to an insult by pathogens, or neurodegenerative-associated proteins. This phenomenon occurs in aging and CNS injury as a defense and regeneration mechanism. The cells involved are astrocytes and microglia (100) which closely interact together to maintain a healthy and functional brain network. Astrocytes play a vital role in tissue scarring and blood-brain-barrier maintenance (BBB) reconstruction after an injury as well as in the immunomodulation of microglia. In AD,  $A\beta$ aggregates and hyperphosphorylated tau species can trigger sustained reactive astrogliosis and microgliosis resulting in neuronal death, chronic inflammation, altered dendritic morphology, demyelination, and the inhibition of axon regeneration. Microglial activation stimulates proinflammatory cytokines production and secretion to activate a cascade of pathways designed to rid the brain of pathogens and debris. In chronic reactive microgliosis, these cytokines are constantly produced and induce neuronal atrophy (101). As for astrogliosis, its sustained activation leads to excitotoxic glutamate effects on neurons and the breakdown of the BBB (102). Stimulated astrocytes can also trigger microglial activation further contributing to neuroinflammation and neuronal stress. Moreover, chronic activation of astrocytes and microglia enhances production of ROS and NO largely contributing to oxidative stress in AD.

#### 1.2.4 Lipid accumulation

Alongside his observations of amyloid plaques and NFT, Dr. Alzheimer also reported abundant "lipoid granules" in the brain of his AD patient (55, 56). As studies have greatly focused on amyloid and tau pathologies, lipid metabolism has been overlooked. Brain lipid imbalances play a major role in neurodegenerative diseases, neurological disorders, and stroke (103). It manifests as neuronal energy collapse and accumulations of lipid droplets (LDs). These lipid accumulations were observed in humans (104) and mouse models of AD (104, 105). Also, the predominant AD risk gene, *APOE*, plays a major role in lipid transport in the brain. Altogether, these studies emphasize the role of aberrant lipid metabolism in AD. Yet, the mechanisms linking lipid metabolism to AD pathologies remain poorly understood.

#### **1.3 Physiopathology**

#### 1.3.1 Amyloid cascade hypothesis

The amyloid hypothesis was introduced in the early 1990s (106, 107). It postulates that the accumulation of Aß aggregates is the cause of the AD physiopathology. The evidence supporting this hypothesis resides in the genetic aspects of AD along with AB's detrimental effects on the brain. AD have been associated with mutations in genes implicated in aberrant amyloidogenesis. Also, A $\beta$  species trigger a cascade of changes in the brain by promoting sustained inflammation, neuronal atrophy and cell death. To further verify this hypothesis, studies have sought to determine if the addition of A $\beta$  can induce AD-like pathology and whether removing A $\beta$  from AD brains is a potential treatment. In mouse models of AD, the introduction of mutated human APP with and without PS1 results in Aβ pathology and induces cognitive deficits as early as 4 months of age (108) suggesting that A<sup>β</sup> induces AD. However, in humans, A<sup>β</sup> pathology and AD do not posses a direct causal relationship. Studies have reported the presence of amyloid depositions in the absence of cognitive affections (109-111). Therefore, the degree of amyloid burden is not proportional to cognitive impairment. Yet, in normal elders and AD patients, the presence of amyloid depositions accelerates brain atrophy (112-114). As for the benefits of A $\beta$  removal on cognition, clinical trials fail to cure AD via the reduction of A $\beta_{1-42}$  levels as they show no improvement in cognition (15, 16). However, these clinical trials recruit patients that already display irreversible damages which allows for one only refutable conclusion: alleviating the amyloid burden in late-stage AD does not rescue the underlying symptoms or change AD course. More work is required to study the role of  $A\beta$  in the early stages of AD.

## 1.3.2 Tau propagation hypothesis

In AD, the tau propagation hypothesis was introduced in 2009 (115). It posits that abnormal hyperphosphorylated tau aggregates induce protein misfolding of normal tau causing proteins to aggregate in a prion-like manner and to propagate throughout the brain. Tau propagation in the brain is well documented and correlates with AD progression and cognitive decline (57). However, it is reported that similar to  $A\beta$ , some individuals with NFT do not have cognitive affections (116). The accumulation of abnormal tau aggregates impairs synaptic transmission, mitochondrial function, and axonal transport leading to synaptic loss and neuronal cell death. Clinical trials have targeted tau aggregation by modulating kinases and phosphatase as well as by increasing microtubule stability, but they have all failed to stop AD progression (15, 16).

In addition to A $\beta$  and tau pathology, genetic have highlighted the implications of lipid metabolism and immunity in AD (1-4). These processes represent interesting targets for AD. *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  allele (5) and microglial *triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2)* gene (6, 7) represent the top two genetic risk factors of AD. As recent studies demonstrate the importance of alterations in lipid metabolism and immunity in AD, we investigate the potential role of lipid metabolism and inflammation in AD development and progression.

## 2.0 Lipids in the brain

Lipids account for close to 50% of the brain's dry weight (117). Brain lipids are comprised of four main species: triacylglycerols (TAGs), fatty acids (FAs), phospholipids (PLs), and sterol lipids. Lipids are essential for brain function serving as energy storage compartments, signaling molecules, and structural components of cell membranes. These important macromolecules are found abundantly in the lipid rafts of cell membranes and the myelin sheath of axons. Most lipids come from diet and are transported into the brain from the systemic circulation through the BBB by passive diffusion. The primary sites of lipid synthesis are the adipose tissue and the liver. Oxidative tissues, such as skeletal muscle and the heart, also produce lipids to a lesser extent. Lipids are stored in the cell as LDs which are mostly composed of esterified cholesterol and TAGs. LDs act as an energy storage unit, signaling molecules, and a defense mechanism from mitochondrial lipid toxicity when lipids are in excess in the cytoplasm.

### 2.0.1 Fatty acids

FAs are classified by the length of their carbon chain: short (<6 carbons), medium (6–12 carbons), and long (>14 carbons). They are also categorized as SFAs, MUFAs, and PUFAs depending on the number of carbon-carbon double bonds. The brain can perform *de novo* synthesis of SFAs and MUFAs via TAG lipolysis or acetyl-CoA through glucose metabolism. However, the brain depends on diet as a source of essential omega-6 PUFA linoleic acid and omega-3 PUFA  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid. FAs can directly enter  $\beta$ -oxidation once transformed to FA acyl-CoA to fuel energy requirements or they can be stored by being added to the glycerol backbone of glycerophospholipids.

#### a) Saturated fatty acids

SFAs possess a linear carbon chain without carbon-carbon double bonds. They originate from diet and *de novo* synthesis. SFAs are converted to MUFAs of the same length by stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) which introduces a double bond at the 9<sup>th</sup> carbon of the fatty acid chain. The most abundant SFAs are palmitic and stearic acid. SFAs have been reported to play a role in the regulation of food intake and energy consumption (118). However, the consumption of an SFArich diet is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular diseases (119) and Alzheimer's disease (120). They have mostly been associated with deleterious effects, such as accumulation of body fat, hyperphagia, insulin resistance, glucose intolerance, and inflammation. Palmitic acid, in particular, is a potent activator of microglia (121, 122) and was also shown to induce metabolic reprogramming (123).

#### b) Monounsaturated fatty acids

Brain MUFAs stem from brain *de novo* synthesis and the diet. They possess one carbon-carbon double bond on their carbon chain. SFAs and MUFAs have often been shown to have opposing effects. Though diets enriched with MUFAs lead to fat mass accumulation similar to SFAs (124), they have been shown to reverse the effect of an SFA-rich diet. Studies have shown that MUFAs can prevent palmitic acid-induced apoptosis and glucose intolerance in the pancreas (125). Oleic acid (OA), the most abundant MUFA, was shown to improve insulin resistance induced by SFAs (124, 126-128). Additionally, OA has been associated with anti-inflammatory properties (127, 129, 130).

### c) Polyunsaturated fatty acids

Other well-established fatty acids with anti-inflammatory properties are omega-3 PUFAs, docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA). These fatty acids possess multiple carbon-carbon double bonds on their fatty acid chain, and they come from dietary fats. They possess important functions in the brain, including neurogenesis, neuronal differentiation, neuroprotection, synaptogenesis, and neurotransmission (131). PUFAs also possess highly potent anti-apoptotic, anti-oxidative, and anti-inflammatory abilities as well as potential benefits on age-associated pathologies (132). DHA and EPA as well as their specialized pro-resolving lipids mediators (SPMs) are essential for the attenuation of inflammation in microglia and astrocytes following brain injury and insult from pathogens (133-135). However, not all PUFAs are beneficial. Omega-6 arachidonic acid exert opposite effect to DHA like increase inflammation and reduced synaptic signal transduction (136). Studies have shown that a decrease in DHA and a rise in arachidonic acid in circulation were observed in subjects with depression and anxiety (137, 138).

## 2.0.2 Phospholipids

PLs can be segregated into two major classes: sphingolipids and glycerophospholipids. These lipids are predominantly found in cell membranes closely interacting with cholesterol modulating cell membrane integrity, permeability, and flexibility (139). Hence, their important role in vesicular budding and membrane fusion. They allow for protein anchoring into the membrane and dynamic membrane remodeling. Sphingolipids are classified into two main groups glycosphingolipids which are enriched in the grey matter as well as in neurons and sphingomyelin which is found in oligodendrocytes and myelin (140). Ceramides are also a major sphingolipid. They participate in cellular processes including autophagy, apoptosis as well as cell death, and proliferation. As for glycerophospholipids, there are major forms including phosphatidylcholine, phosphatidylethanolamine, and phosphatidylserine. These molecules compose the inner leaf of plasma membranes modulating their curvature and fluidity (139). Phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylserine act as reservoirs for choline, an essential component of neurotransmitters, and DHA, respectively.

### 2.0.3 Sterol lipids

The major form of sterol lipids is cholesterol. In the brain, it is mostly found as an unesterified form. Cholesterol synthesis occurs by the mevalonate pathway starting with acetyl-CoA. Glia, such as astrocytes, produce cholesterol via the Bloch pathway while neurons will favor the Kandustch-Russel pathway (141). Although all cells in the brain can produce cholesterol, astrocytes are the principal endogenous source of cholesterol in the brain. In the periphery, the liver produces most of the sterol lipids found in the body which are loaded into lipoproteins to traverse the BBB. In the brain, APOE is the predominant lipoprotein. It plays an important role in the transport and distribution of PLs and cholesterol. Excess cholesterol is stored in LDs. In addition to its role in the cell membrane and myelin, cholesterol is crucial for the synthesis of neurotransmitters and hormones as well as neurite growth and axonal guidance.

## 2.1 Lipid metabolism in the brain

Although the main source of energy in the brain is glucose, lipids contribute to approximately 20% of its energy requirement through FA oxidation (FAO) (142). This phenomenon occurs predominantly in astrocytes which provide metabolic support to neurons. Metabolites such as ketones, acetyl-coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA), flavin adenine dinucleotide, cholesterol, and lactate are produced in astrocytes which are then taken up by neurons. As neurons are unable to store important pools of energy, they are highly dependent on astrocytes. Astrocytes also protect hyperactive neurons from lipid toxicity shuttling LD to their mitochondria (143). Microglia also act as a protector of neurons from lipid toxicity through the phagocytosis of the surplus of LDs. Moreover, oligodendrocytes are also important cells in brain lipid metabolism. They are responsible for the production of myelin sheaths for axons. Altogether, lipids are important for the structural and functional maintenance of the brain.

## 2.2 Role of lipid metabolism in Alzheimer's disease

## 2.2.1 Abnormal lipid metabolism in Alzheimer's disease

Lipid dyshomeostasis has been associated with numerous neurodegenerative diseases, including AD, Huntington's disease, Niemann–Pick Type C disease, and Parkinson's disease. The major lipid classes known to be disrupted in AD include cholesterol, sphingolipids, and FAs (144-148). Disturbances in lipid metabolism are primarily observed as abnormal accumulations of LDs (104, 105).

### a) Lipid raft: Cholesterol and sphingolipids

The major component of lipid rafts, cholesterol, and sphingolipids were found to be altered in AD. Elevated cholesterol levels in midlife were associated with an increased risk of AD (149). An AD-like phenotype can be induced in mice with a diet enriched with cholesterol (150). In the brain of AD subjects, high levels of cholesterol were measured (151, 152) and this was also replicated in animal models of AD (153, 154). Studies have reported that cholesterol promotes A $\beta$  production through the amyloidogenic pathway (see "*Role of lipids in pathological processing of APP*") and tau hyperphosphorylation (155, 156). Remarkably, a study also reported a correlation between high cholesterol levels and NFT burden in the hippocampus and cortex (157). Clinical trials on statins, inhibitors of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase (HMGCR) the limiting enzyme to cholesterol *de novo* synthesis, for AD treatment yield conflicting results. Some indicate no significant effect on cognition (158, 159) while others report improvement of cognition (160, 161).

As for sphingolipids, the implications of sphingolipids in AD have not been investigated in-depth compared to cholesterol. Sphingomyelin is metabolized by sphingomyelinase to produce ceramides. Sphingomyelinase activity was discovered to be enhanced in AD which concurs with findings that found ceramide to be increased while sphingomyelin was depleted (162-164). Elevated levels of ceramide have been associated with increased risk of AD, and lowering its levels is associated with cognitive improvements (165). Also, they participate in pathological  $A\beta$  production (see "*Role of lipids in pathological processing of APP*").

#### b) Fatty acids

Alterations in FAs are strongly associated with AD. These FAs include SFAs palmitic acid as well as unsaturated FAs linoleic acid, linolenic acid, DHA, EPA, OA, and arachidonic acid (146, 148). Here we will discuss the implications of major lipid species palmitic acid, OA, and DHA on AD physiopathology.

#### Palmitic acid

Palmitic acid was found to be increased in AD brains (146). It was reported to induce cellular stress resulting in increased BACE1 activity (166-168) and hyperphosphorylation of tau (168). Additionally, palmitic acid is a strong inducer of microglial activation via Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (121, 122)and was shown to modify the phagocytic and migratory activity of microglia in response to stimuli (169, 170)). In obese mice, microglial activation by palmitic acid was shown

to impair synaptic plasticity and correlate with memory deficits (171). Hence, palmitic acid assists in cellular stress and inflammation in AD.

#### Oleic acid

A rise in OA levels was observed in AD brains (144-146). Though OA is praised for its benefits related to the Mediterranean diet, excess of OA can also be harmful. The inhibition of OA production protected mice from obesity (172, 173) and insulin resistance (174-176). A *in vitro* study demonstrated that cells treated with OA increased expression of PS1 and secretase activity resulting in a rise in A $\beta$  levels (177). Interestingly, work in our lab demonstrated that OA was enriched in the brain of a mouse model of AD negatively impacting neuronal stem cell activity (104). By inhibiting the OA-synthesizing enzyme SCD neuronal stem cell impairment was rescued. Thus, the overproduction of OA via SCD seems to contribute to lipid dyshomeostasis in AD.

#### Docosahexaenoic acid

Many studies have highlighted the decreased levels of DHA in AD (144, 145, 147, 178, 179). Although the cause for reduced DHA in the brain has not been identified, a study explored the effect of APOE on DHA transport to the brain. They showed that *APOE* ɛ4 mice appears to possess a reduced brain uptake of DHA compared to *APOE* ɛ2 mice (180). A DHA-rich diet has protective effects against mild cognitive impairment and AD (120, 181). In mouse models of AD, DHA plays an important role in dendritic pathology and cognitive decline. It was shown to rescue spine loss (133, 182) and ameliorate memory (182, 183). Clinical trials on DHA supplementation as a treatment for AD-associated cognitive alterations resulted in conflicting results with a study showing improvements (184) and another observing no effects (185). As previously mentioned, DHA possess inflammatory pro-resolving effects on microglia and astrocytes (133-135). They are precursors of SPMs, crucial lipids for resolution of inflammation, and wound healing. Remarkably, these lipids were also found to be reduced in the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus of AD patients (186, 187). The reduction of essential DHA and its derivatives impairs brain function potentially contributing to AD progression.

## 2.2.2. Lipid-related risk genes of Alzheimer's disease

GWAS studies have identified several lipid genes associated with increase susceptibility to SAD-LOAD (1-4, 188). Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the major candidate genes were

found in the loci for lipid-related proteins including APOE, ATP-binding cassette sub-family A member 7 (ABCA7), Clusterin (CLU), Bridging integrator 1 (BIN1), and Sortilin Related Receptor 1 (SORL1).

#### a. APOE

In the brain, APOE is the predominant lipoprotein. It is responsible for lipid transport, particularly cholesterol, between cells in the brain. APOE is mainly expressed by astrocytes but under certain conditions, neurons, ependymal cells, and microglia can also produce APOE. As previously mentioned, *APOE* is the strongest known genetic risk factor for SAD-LOAD. While the carriers of the *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  allele are up to15-fold more likely to develop SAD-LOAD, carriers of *APOE*  $\varepsilon 2$  seem to be protected (5). APOE isoforms were also observed to have a similar effect on the risk of developing CAA (97, 98).

APOE is implicated in various aspects of AD, including A $\beta$  pathology, tauopathy, inflammation as well as cell metabolism. *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  promotes A $\beta$  seeding in early AD (189) and A $\beta$ oligomerization (190). It also increases the amyloid burden in AD brains (191). The depletion of APOE resulted in reduced A $\beta$  deposits (192, 193). *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  was also shown to facilitates tau hyperphosphorylation (194). As for neuroinflammation, *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  patients displayed a higher proportion of reactive microglia than other APOE isoforms (195). Enriched in amyloid plaque, APOE facilitates the uptake of A $\beta$  by microglia via TREM2 (196, 197). The TREM2-APOE pathway mediates microglial activation (30) and its changes associated with neurodegenerative diseases (8, 9). It was also shown to contribute to dendritic spine loss in AD (198).

Furthermore, lipid and glucose metabolism were found to be disrupted in an APOE isoform dependent manner. Farmer et al demonstrated that *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  astrocytes display smaller but significantly more LDs than their *APOE*  $\varepsilon 3$  counterparts (199). Smaller APOE particles were also observed in the CSF of *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  carriers (200). Lipidation was also less efficient in *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  subjects (201). Finally, the brain of AD patients exhibited reduce glucose metabolism (202).

### b. ABCA7

In the brain, *ABCA7* is highly expressed particularly in the cortex and the CA1 of the hippocampus. It is found to be abundant in microglia and neurons. ATP-binding cassette proteins are important lipid transporters for PL and cholesterol and are responsible for the translocation of these lipids to cell membranes as well their efflux from cells to APOE and Apolipoprotein A. ABCA7 is also a key regulator of lipid homeostasis via modulation of cholesterol levels. Two main variants of *ABCA7* were identified for SAD-LOAD, rs3752246, and rs3764650, associated with its loss of function. ABCA7 can modulate phagocytosis in macrophages and microglia. The phagocytic activity of these immune cells in response to A $\beta$  was dampened by ABCA7 knockout (203). Sakae et al also found that *ABCA7* deletion alters A $\beta$  biosynthesis by promoting the increased expression of BACE1 thus resulting in increased A $\beta$  production (204). Consistent with the reduction in clearance of A $\beta$  and enhanced processing, the absence of ABCA7 leads to an increase in amyloid burden in mouse models of AD (204) and humans (205, 206). This protein's role in tauopathy has been studied to a lesser extent. A study reported that *ABCA7* variants were associated with decreased A $\beta$  levels in the CSF but did not influence tau or hyperphosphorylated tau levels (207).

#### c. CLU

Also known as Apolipoprotein J, *CLU* is constitutively expressed in all tissues. It plays an important role in apoptosis, complement activation, cellular stress immune modulation, and lipid transport. CLU key functions to act as an extracellular chaperone. In the brain, astrocytes are the principal source of CLU production although neurons can also produce CLU in cases of brain injury, neuroinflammation, and neurodegenerative diseases. CLU seems to play a key role in lipid accumulation and metabolic disorders as it can regulate Sterol Regulatory Element Binding Protein-1C expression (SREB1c), a crucial regulator of several lipid metabolic pathways (208). In AD, there are three main SNPs in *CLU* that were identified: rs11136000, rs2279590, and rs9331888 (209). CLU and APOE are the main transporters of cholesterol and A $\beta$  in the brain. Some have reported that CLU is beneficial for AD by inhibiting aggregation of A $\beta$  and enhances clearance (210) while another report that CLU contributes to A $\beta$  toxicity (211). Though CLU was found to be upregulated in the frontal cortex and hippocampus, studies suggest that that the ratio CLU: A $\beta$  dictates it is neuroprotective or neurotoxic (212, 213). Also, a proportional relation between CLU and tau levels was reported in the CSF (214) and the brain of AD patients (215).

#### d. BIN1

Mostly associated with vesicular endocytosis, *BIN1*, also known as Amphiphysin 2, is a member of the Bin/Amphiphysin/Rvs family of adaptor proteins. It is capable of binding to the lipids within the cell membrane to modulate membrane curvature thus regulating lipid membrane dynamics. In human AD brains, *BIN1* SNP rs59335482 (216) and rs744373 (217) are associated with an

increased tau burden. A recent study demonstrates a mechanism by which BIN1 modulates the mislocalization of tau into synapses induce synaptic dysfunction and spine loss (218). Furthermore, BIN1 was shown to promote extracellular tau and its phosphorylated species seeding via extracellular vesicles and it hinders microglial clearance of tau (219). Knockdown of BIN1 in Drosophila attenuated tau but not A $\beta$  mediated neurotoxicity (204). The role of BIN1 on A $\beta$  pathology is conflicting. A study reported that decreased BIN1 leads to a rise in BACE1 levels increasing A $\beta$  production (220) while others report no effect on APP processing nor on the amyloid burden. (216). Essential for tubulation and cytoskeleton remodeling, BIN1 mediate AD tauopathy more consistently than amyloid pathology.

## e. SORL1

Also knows as SorLA and lipoprotein receptor 11, SORL1 regulates endosomal and trans-Golgi network (TGN) transport. It is a member of the low-density lipoprotein receptor family of APOE receptors and the vacuolar protein sorting 10 domain receptor family. Mostly enriched in neurons, SORL1 plays an important role in APP processing and A $\beta$  production. It was found to colocalize with APP in the TGN and early endosomes. In AD brains, SORL1 was shown to be reduced in SAD-LOAD and not in FAD-EOAD (221, 222). *SORL1* has neuroprotective abilities by reducing APP cleave and consequently, A $\beta$  production. Many mechanisms were proposed to explain SORL1's role in APP processing. One mechanism suggests that SORL1 expression induces redistribution and mobilization of intracellular APP to the TGN (223) while the second mechanism implies that SORL1 utilizes retromer complexes to redirect APP to the TGN inhibiting entry into endosomes where the first steps of APP cleavage occur (224).

## 2.2.3 Role of lipids in pathological processing of Amyloid precursor protein

APP is synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and is translocated through the Golgi apparatus to the TGN for sorting. APP is then loaded into endosomes or vesicles and trafficked to the cell membrane to be cleaved by secretases to produce extracellular A $\beta$  species. If the APP is not processed, it is returned to the TGN or sent to the ER via retromers. Lipids actively participate in APP processing, particularly cholesterol, sphingolipids, and DHA.

During the amyloidogenic pathway, the cleavage of APP by  $\beta$ -secretase takes place within cholesterol- and sphingomyelin-enriched lipids raft in the cell membrane. Cholesterol is crucial for the surge in A $\beta$  production via the amyloidogenic pathway by boosting BACE1 and  $\gamma$ -secretase

proteolytic activity (155, 225, 226) along with promoting BACE1 sequestering to lipid rafts (227). Cholesterol was also shown to play a crucial role in A $\beta$  aggregation (228). Studies have shown that preventing cholesterol production via inhibition of HMGCR (229) and depletion of cholesterol (230) reduces A $\beta$  production. Thus, statins have been employed as a potential treatment for AD. However, clinical trials on statins for AD yield mixed outcomes. Some indicate no significant effect on the amyloid burden (231, 232) while others report alleviation of the amyloid burden (233).

Regarding sphingolipids, the key regulators of membrane fluidity, a study demonstrated that heightened fluidity promotes the non-amyloidogenic processing of APP via enhanced  $\alpha$ -secretase activity and impaired APP internalization (234). In AD, sphingolipids, such as ceramide, were found to be increased while sphingomyelin is decreased (162-164). These two lipids possess opposing roles in APP processing. While ceramides stimulate A $\beta$  production, sphingomyelin constrains its production (235). Interestingly, A $\beta$  can modulate lipid homeostasis via regulation of lipid enzymes. Studies by Grimm et al demonstrate that A $\beta_{1-40}$  is capable of suppressing HMGCR activity thus lowering cholesterol levels while A $\beta_{1-42}$  activates sphingomyelinase to reduce sphingomyelin synthesis to heighten its production via ceramides (225, 235).

Finally, DHA promotes the non-amyloidogenic pathway. This occurs by inhibiting BACE1 activity, enhancing  $\alpha$ -secretase stability, and lowering cholesterol via the inhibition of HMGCR (236, 237). Also, DHA lowers levels of PS1 (238). Altogether, lipids and A $\beta$  species closely interact modulating key components of their synthesis.

Lipids are vital for brain function, but its processes must be tightly regulated to prevent imbalances and deleterious effects on the brain. Alterations in lipid metabolism promote AD but the underlying mechanisms remain poorly understood. Recent studies have highlighted the crosstalk between lipid metabolism and immunity and their role in modulating inflammation and dictating microglial phenotypical conversion to disease-associated microglia (DAM) or microglia neurodegenerative phenotype (8, 9). In the following section, we explore the emerging role of lipid metabolism in microglia dysfunction in AD.

## 3.0 Microglia

Microglia are the primary immune cell in the CNS. They represent 12% and 16% of cells in the CNS in mice and humans, respectively (239, 240). Derived from erythromyeloid precursors cells, they originate from the yolk sac appearing in the neuronal tube at early stages of embryogenesis around embryonic day 9 (E9) in mice (241, 242) and around the 5th week of gestation in humans (243). Although they share many functions, microglia are quite distinct from macrophages with diverging transcriptomic profiles and origins (244, 245). Transcriptomic signatures uniquely expressed in microglia include transmembrane protein (TMEM)119, solute carrier family 2-member 5 (SLC2A5), P2Y purinergic receptor (P2RY)12,  $\beta$ -hexosaminidase subunit  $\beta$  (HEX $\beta$ ). Although microglia are not derived from fetal hematopoietic stem cells like macrophages (246), these stems cells can contribute to the microglial pool during pathological events (247, 248). Microglia sustain self-renewal via apoptosis and local proliferation. Microglial proliferation and survival require colony-stimulating factor 1 (CSF1) (249) and transforming growth factor-beta (TGF $\beta$ ) (250). *In vitro* astrocytes nurture microglia by providing these factors as well as cholesterol (251). CSF1 was shown to be particularly important as its inhibition leads to impaired microglial proliferation and cell death (249, 252, 253).

Microglia are highly versatile and adapt to the needs of the CNS. They make up a heterogeneous population in the brain. They are subject to spatial and temporal heterogeneity. Spatial heterogeneity refers to the assortment of microglial populations between different brain regions varying from their panel of immune markers, their transcriptomes, and their functions as well as their density (254-256). As for temporal heterogeneity, microglia assume different transcriptomic and immune profiles according to requirements at different stages of life from the embryo to adulthood (257-260). For example, immature microglia express P2RY12 while TMEM119 is only expressed once microglia are mature (260). During pre-and postnatal development, microglia are active displaying an amoeboid form to facilitate migration and modulate cell death and apoptosis, axonal outgrowth and fasciculation, cortical interneuron migration, neuronal survival, and oligodendrogenesis and synaptic development (261). Microglia maintain the pool of neuronal progenitor cells by contributing to their proliferation, survival, maturation as well as controlling their abundance (262-264). They also closely interact with oligodendrocyte precursor cells promoting myelinogenesis (265). In the developing brain of adolescents, microglia are important for the modeling of neuronal (266, 267) and synaptic circuits (268, 269).

As for adulthood, the ultimate goal of microglia is to maintain the brain's proper function. Microglia are highly perceptive constantly scan the brains for changes in the microenvironment. To maintain a healthy brain microenvironment free of pathogens, misfolded proteins, debris, and apoptotic cells, microglia possess a diversified sensome of receptors. Astrocytes and T cells can also activate microglia via cytokines and chemokines during insults and brain injury. Microglia also monitor neuronal activity, refine synaptic neurotransmissions, and protect the brain from infiltrating invaders (261). Additionally, microglia support neurogenesis in neurogenic niches, hippocampus (266), and subventricular zone (270) throughout life.

Microglial aging occurs in a region-dependent manner (271). During aging, microglia will enter a primed state in which they express higher levels of pro-inflammatory receptors and cytokines in a chronic low-grade manner. This results in an exaggerated inflammatory response when challenged. This phenomenon is also known as "inflammaging" (23, 272). Aged microglia display a reduction in number and length of ramifications, a limited migration ability, and lowered phagocytic activity (273, 274). As microglia play a central role in shaping and maintaining the neural network, their dysfunction has been associated with inducing neurodegenerative diseases.

## 3.1 Microglial polarization

Microglia possess a broad spectrum of activation. However, they have been commonly classified by their state of activation for simplicity and conceptualization of microglial activities. Hence, M0 for homeostatic microglia, M1 for pro-inflammatory microglia, and M2 for anti-inflammatory microglia. These classes are equally important and equilibrium between M1 and M2 is crucial for proper brain function. Each state of polarization has specific signatures and immune markers (275-278). They can also be distinguished amongst them by their morphology. Homeostatic microglia are highly ramified with thin branches while activated microglia display a reduced number of thick branches or no branching adopting an ameboid form to facilitate migration and phagocytosis (274, 277). As previously mentioned, microglia and macrophages are separate entities though microglial polarization nomenclature stems from macrophage classification. Therefore, there are gaps in knowledge of microglia polarization, and more research is required to fully document microglial responses.

#### 3.1.1 Homeostatic microglia (M0)

Homeostatic microglia are also referred to as resting microglia. However, this term is contradicting as M0 microglia are continuously in movement. As the sentinel of the brain, they are constantly probing and surveilling the brain's microenvironment. The homeostatic phenotype is enriched with TMEM119, P2RY12, SLC2A5, and CX3C Motif Chemokine Receptor 1 (CX3CR1) (259). TGF $\beta$  is a potent cytokine modulating microglial activation (250, 279). Neurons also contribute to ensuring that microglia remain homeostatic in absence of an immune challenge. Cluster of differentiation (CD) 200 and CX3C Motif Chemokine Ligand 1 bind to CD200 receptor and CX3CR1 (280), respectively. These mechanisms are required to prevent microglia from going rogue by inhibiting non-elicited activation of microglia.

#### 3.1.2 Pro-inflammatory microglia (M1)

Pro-inflammatory responses are activated via the classical pathway of microglial activation. An immune challenge is triggered when microglia recognize damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as ATP, A $\beta$ ,  $\alpha$ -synuclein, and lipids as well as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), bacterial motifs (i.e., lipopolysaccharide (LPS), peptidoglycan, flagellin) and viral motifs (i.e., double-stranded ribonucleic acid (RNA) and CpG oligodeoxynucleotides). Astrocytes (281) and T helper 1 (Th1) cells (282) can also secrete interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ), tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ), interleukin 1 $\beta$  (IL1 $\beta$ ), and IL6 to activate microglia. These inflammatory molecules are recognized by the microglia's arsenal of receptors including TLRs, NOD-like receptors (NLRs), C-type lectin receptors, Fc receptors, P2R/X receptors, and scavenger receptors (283). A cascade of transcription factors, such as Nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B, and inflammatory complexes, including the NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome complex, are activated to the secretion of cytokines leading to the initiation of proliferation, migration, apoptosis, and phagocytosis to rid the brain of invading pathogens and to clear cellular debris (284). These cytokines are TNFα, IL1β, IL6, IL12, IL23, and NO (275-277). Microglia also secrete proteases via complement activation and undergo oxidative burst producing ROS and superoxide anion to further promote the destruction of pathogens (275, 276, 285). Additionally, microglia participate in establishing immune memory. They secrete chemokines to recruit T helper cells and present antigens at their surface via major histocompatibility complex II (MHC II). M1 cells will upregulate the expression of MHC II, integrins, co-stimulatory molecules, and CD68, a transmembrane glycoprotein protein linked with lysosomal activity (275, 276, 285). Microglia are
the warriors of the CNS. However, the proteins secreted by microglia to eliminate intruders also have harmful effects on neurons. Hence, the importance of M2 anti-inflammatory microglia which counteract inflammation and promote tissue repair.

#### 3.1.3 Anti-inflammatory microglia (M2)

Anti-inflammatory microglia are known for their role in neuroprotection. Known to be activated by the alternative pathway of inflammation, its functions are to resolve microglial proinflammatory responses as well as to restore homeostasis following clearance of debris and elimination of pathogens. This phenotype can be induced by three mechanisms: (a) through cytokines secretion of IL4 and IL13 by Th2 cells, (b) through the activation of specific Fcy receptors, TLRs, and immune complexes, and (c) through IL10, glucocorticoids, and TGF<sup>β</sup>. M2 microglia modulate inflammation through the recruitment of regulatory T cells which suppresses inflammation (278). Anti-inflammatory microglia also produce and secrete cytokines, growth factors, and extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules to promote wound healing and remodeling. Known immune markers for these microglia are IL3, IL10, IL21, IL33, CD206, chitinase-3-Like-3, and arginase 1 (Arg1) (275-278). Arg1 is important for the conversion of arginine into ECM molecules, such as polyamines and ornithine, and it can also downregulate the production of NO (276). M2 microglia will also secrete molecules to promote tissue repair as well as neuronal survival and proliferation, such as IGF1, BDNF, fibroblast growth factor, nerve-derived growth factor, and glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (275, 276). Microglia also participate in maintaining vascular health through VEGF (275, 276). A lack of M2 and consequently, failure to dampen the actions of M1 microglia have been associated with processes underlying neurodegenerative diseases.

#### 3.2 Microglia metabolism

Glycolysis is primarily responsible for most of the microglia's energy requirements. Glucose enters the cell via glucose transporters and is converted to pyruvate. It is then sent to the mitochondria into the Krebs cycle to produce ATP via oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), also known as mitochondrial respiration. In hypoxic conditions, microglia perform anaerobic glycolysis where pyruvate is transformed into lactate and shuttled via monocarboxylate transporters. Glycolysis generates nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NAPD<sup>+</sup>) necessary for mitochondrial electron transport and mitochondrial respiration. Microglia are

flexible and capable of switching from a source of energy to another to exert their metabolic functions in response to demands and changes in the brain's microenvironment. They can also rely on ketone bodies, FAs, and amino acids for fuel. Homeostatic microglia mostly rely on OXPHOS for their energy metabolism. As they require constant energy to roam the brain, mitochondrial respiration is an efficient and reliable source of ATP. M0 microglia can use glutamine as fuel when glucose is depleted (286). This is accomplished as glutamine is converted to  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate which can enter the Krebs cycle.

As for M1 microglia, they display increase glucose uptake (287-291) and lactate production (287, 289). Pro-inflammatory microglia shift to anaerobic glycolysis by inhibiting OXPHOS and FAO (289). This transition from OXPHOS to glycolysis is known as the "Warburg effect" and it results in the production of hypoxia-inducible factor  $1\alpha$  (HIF- $1\alpha$ ) and succinate which drives the production of IL1 $\beta$  (292-294). Though OXPHOS yields an important amount of ATP compared to anaerobic glycolysis, it leads to rapid production of glucose providing a burst of energy for microglia to quickly migrate and exert their biocidal abilities. Glycolysis is essential for the activation of the M1 phenotype. The inhibition of glucose consumption via glucose transporter inhibition (290) as well as limiting glycolysis itself by utilizing a glucose analog completely blocks the activation of a pro-inflammatory response (291, 295). On the other hand, M2 microglia have decreased glucose consumption and lactate production (287) but increased ATP production via OXPHOS (296). FAO is also important for M2 cells to carry out its anti-inflammatory activity (297, 298). They utilize OXPHOS and FAO to promote the transcription of genes associated with tissue repair and the production of growth factors. If OXPHOS is defective, M2 polarization cannot occur and M1 inflammation remain unresolved (299).

#### 3.3 Microglia in Alzheimer's disease

Neuroinflammation is a key factor in many neurodegenerative diseases. In AD, maladaptive microglia response results in exaggerated synaptic pruning, neuronal loss, inhibition of neurogenesis, oxidative stress, demyelination, and BBB permeability leading to cognitive impairment. RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) studies have identified a subpopulation of microglia associated with AD (8, 9, 30). These microglia are referred to as DAM phenotype, microglia neurodegenerative phenotype, and activated response microglia. These studies found that genes associated with homeostasis were found to be downregulated whereas the expression of

inflammatory genes was upregulated in AD (8, 9, 30). Recent findings suggest that the changes observed in microglia occur in response to A $\beta$  (300, 301). Once seen as the hero, microglia become harmful to the brain. In the mouse model of AD, the removal of microglia was shown to produce benefits in AD (252, 253, 302, 303). However, as microglia are also crucial for maintenance and protection, therapies modulating microglia should be privileged.

#### 3.3.1 Microglia in $A\beta$ pathology

Neuroinflammation and A $\beta$  were found to be correlated in the human brains of AD (304). Microglia can be found around amyloid plaques in AD brains (305-307). They possess a variety of receptors to recognize Aβ species and its plaques, such as TLR4, CD33, CD36, TREM2, Fc receptors, and scavenger receptors (283). Aß pathology in AD is driven by its heightened production and reduced clearance in the brain. Microglia participate in these key processes. In the early stages of AD, acute microglial activation by A $\beta$  leads to its uptake and clearance (101, 308). However, as inflammation promotes amyloidogenesis, pro-inflammatory factors produced by microglia increase APP processing and Aβ production (308-311). Microglial activation by Aβ also gives rise to NLRP3 activation which promotes A $\beta$  seeding (312). Furthermore, exposure to A $\beta$ and systemic inflammation was also shown to prime microglia where subsequent activation leads to disproportionate immune response (313, 314). As the balance between production and clearance is disrupted, microglia are chronically exposed to increasing levels of AB leading to increased proliferation and recruitment of microglia as well as increased levels of cytotoxic molecules in the brain. The accumulated Aβ species will aggregate forming oligomers, fibrils, and finally plaques. Alongside amyloid plaques, sustained activation of microglia induces oxidative stress in neurons and exaggerated synaptic pruning. As AD progresses, microglia functions are compromised, and they enter a tolerant state with reduced ability to phagocyte and to engage an immune response to A $\beta$  but maintain a sustained release of pro-inflammatory molecules (315). GWAS studies that identified AD risk genes whose variants are associated with impaired recognition and clearance of A $\beta$  by microglia in AD (3, 188, 316). An emerging concept is maladaptive microglia as the driver for abnormal A $\beta$  aggregation. Many studies have shown that microglia accumulate A $\beta$  and release it back into the brain's microenvironment (317, 318). To further elucidate microglia's role in A $\beta$ pathology, studies have depleted microglia in mouse models of AD. Short-term depletion of microglia via CSF1 receptor inhibition in a mouse model of AD did not alter amyloid burden but it rescued synaptic and neuronal loss as well as memory deficits (253, 302). On the contrary, longterm depletion of microglia in young mice alleviated amyloid burden and improved cognitive deficits (252, 303). Altogether, microglia play a key role in the development and progression of A $\beta$ -associated AD pathology.

#### 3.3.2 Microglia in tau pathology

In AD brains, activated microglia are found close to extracellular tau species and neurons carrying NFTs (304, 319, 320). Microglia enter the M1 pro-inflammatory state when in contact with tau (321, 322). Recognition of tau species by microglia is mediated by TREM2 and CX3CR1 receptors. Once tau binds to these receptors, clearance of tau by phagocytosis is initiated although microglia possess a moderate ability to internalize tau compared to infiltrating macrophages (323). A study demonstrated that microglia participate in tau seeding in mice (324). This was confirmed when the removal of microglia impaired tau propagation in the early stages of AD (325, 326). However, in later stages of AD, reduced uptake of phosphorylated tau by microglia aid in increasing the NFT burden. TREM2 (327) and CX3CR1 (328, 329) depletion or its disrupted signaling was associated with accelerated and exacerbated hyperphosphorylation and aggregation of tau. Also, chronic microglial activation leads to the sustained production of pro-inflammatory cytokine IL1β which further triggers tau phosphorylation (330). Pathological microglial activation participates in AD tauopathies by promoting phosphorylation and seeding of tau. Altogether, these studies, in addition to the study conducted by Sierksma et al., suggest that neuroinflammation occurs upstream from AD tauopathies.

## 3.3.3 Excessive synaptic pruning

As previously mentioned, microglia shape synapses throughout life. Synaptic pruning is essential for the specificity of synaptic connections by eliminating excess and weak spines. This phenomenon is modulated by signaling via CX3CR1 and complement receptor 3 (CR3). Complement components 1q (C1q) and 3 (C3) tag synapse destined for microglial engulfment. The refinement of synaptic connectivity is crucial to ensure efficient neuronal communications. Synaptic loss entails shortening of dendrites and a reduction in dendritic spine density. In AD, C1q and C3 levels were upregulated in mice (331, 332). Interestingly, studies have demonstrated that A $\beta$ O injections in the brain induced upregulation of C3 and C1q levels (333, 334). These studies suggest that A $\beta$ O induces exaggerated spine engulfment by microglia leading to loss of synapses. In mouse models of AD, inhibition of C1q and C3 rescued cognitive impairment, synaptic loss,

and neuronal loss (270, 334). Moreover, microglial activation was shown to have synaptotoxic effects through the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF $\alpha$ , IL6, and NO (335). Hence, through the upregulation of complement factors and activation of microglia, A $\beta$ O induces loss of synapses. Altogether, this suggests that microglia and A $\beta$ O closely interact causing an exaggerated synaptic loss in AD.

#### 3.3.4 Immune-related risk genes of Alzheimer's disease

Immune-related risk genes with increased susceptibility to develop SAD-LOAD are mostly associated with microglia immune response. Top candidate risk genes were found in the loci of Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells-2 (TREM2) and CD33 (3, 188, 316). Remarkably, a study by Sierksma et al investigated the contribution of AD risk gene variants to its pathology and they found that these genes were altered in response to  $A\beta$  and not to tau. This hints at the significant involvement of  $A\beta$  in AD-associated changes in microglia.

#### a. TREM2

TREM2 is a receptor found on cells of myeloid lineage. In the brain, this transmembrane glycoprotein is exclusively expressed in microglia. TREM2 is important for the clearance of lipids (phospholipids, glycolipids, and lipoproteins), apoptotic neurons, cellular debris, bacterial products, and A $\beta$ . It also mediates microglial proliferation and bioenergetics. TREM2 signaling occurs via a DNAX-activating protein of 12 kDa (DAP12). Mutations in *TREM2* have been associated with an increased risk for neurodegenerative disease (336). In AD, *TREM2* is the second strongest genetic risk factor after *APOE* with a two- to three-fold increased risk (6, 7). Interestingly, TREM2 and the APOE-TREM2 pathway are regulators of microglia polarization in AD (6, 7). Its main variant is the *TREM2* R47H allele (9). It causes loss of function impacting microglia's ability to be activated (9, 337-340) and to bind to its ligands (197, 341-344). Moreover, its levels are elevated in the cortex and hippocampus of AD brains as a form of compensation for its altered function (345).

TREM2's role in A $\beta$  pathology has been largely studied. TREM2 is upregulated in microglia surrounding amyloid plaques (346). However, TREM2 depletion or signaling failure through DAP12 impairs microglial migration to the plaques and accelerates A $\beta$  pathology (344, 347, 348). This was also shown in human AD (9, 347). TREM2 was shown to have different effects on the A $\beta$  burden depending on AD progression. In mouse models of AD, TREM2 deficiency reduced amyloid plaque in the cortex and the hippocampus (349, 350) but accelerated amyloidogenesis and increased A $\beta$  (347) in the early stages of AD. Regarding late stages of AD, the absence of plaqueassociated microglia reduced amyloid plaque compaction leading to increased neuronal dystrophy and plaque size (347, 348). Furthermore, as A $\beta$  uptake is increased when complexed with APOE (197, 351), TREM2 mediates APOE production by microglia (347). Likewise, *TREM2* mutations impair its ability to sense lipids (350). In sum, TREM2 aid microglia in the clearance of A $\beta$  and the formation of a protective barrier for neurons against amyloid plaques. As for tau, similar to A $\beta$ , *TREM2* depletion and its R47H variant play different roles at different stages of AD. In early tauopathy, it protects against microgliosis (339) but promotes tau seeding (324) while in the late stages of AD, TREM2 depletion increases its hyperphosphorylation and aggregation (327). Altogether, TREM2 is protective against abnormal accumulation and aggregation of A $\beta$  and tau and it represents a bridge between lipid metabolism and neuroinflammation.

#### *a. CD33*

Also knows as sialic acid-binding immunoglobulin-like lectin 3, CD33 is a transmembrane receptor expressed on peripheric myeloid cells and microglia. This receptor can bind to sialic acid found on proteins as well as pathogens and lipids (apolipoproteins and gangliosides). The activation of this receptor leads to inhibition of microglial activation. It protects microglia from eliciting an immune response from "self" molecules. Remarkably, it was shown that TREM2 and CD33 closely interact and have opposite effects on microglia and amyloid pathology (338). Knockout of TREM2 inhibits microglial pro-inflammatory response whereas knockout of CD33 upregulates pro-inflammatory genes. Griciuc et al also show that TREM2 acts downstream of CD33.

In AD, the major *CD33* variant is rs3865444. It has a protective (minor (A/T) allele) and risk allele (major (C/G) allele). While the protective allele was found to reduce CD33 levels and protect against AD (352), the risk allele displayed opposite effects with increased levels of CD33 and increased amyloid burden (353). In AD, *CD33* risk allele levels were upregulated while the minor allele was decreased (352-354). Additionally, the *CD33* risk allele was also associated with cognitive decline (353, 355). Hence, CD33 expression reduces microglial activation leading to impaired clearance of A $\beta$  and tau as they both present sialic acid residues. The depletion of CD33 increased A $\beta$  uptake by microglia and decreases the amyloid burden but does not affect A $\beta$ 

degradation nor its biosynthesis (352). Furthermore, amyloid plaques and NFT are rich in gangliosides and sialic acid that allows them to mask them from microglia by activating the CD33 receptor. Together, studies demonstrate that the CD33 AD risk gene impairs microglial clearance.

#### 3.3.5 Metabolic reprogramming

An emerging field of study in AD is microglia bioenergetics. In AD, chronic activation of microglia in the presence of  $A\beta$  leads to impaired clearance of  $A\beta$ , increased microglial proliferation, and sustained production of pro-inflammatory cytokines resulting in neuronal death. Although the concept of a link between disrupted energy metabolism and impaired microglia function is relatively new, recent findings suggest that altered metabolism in the AD brain is a key player in microglial dysfunction. In physiological conditions, glycolysis is crucial for the activation of a microglial pro-inflammatory response. However, chronic activation of microglia to Aβ leads to metabolic defects by downregulating OXPHOS and glycolysis and results in decreased phagocytic activity and dampened immune responses (73). This phenomenon was reversed when treating microglia with IFNy, a mediator of glycolysis, and the mTOR pathway. Interestingly, a study demonstrated that TREM2 variants were associated with altered glycolysis, reduced ATP production, and mTOR signaling as well as defective microglia functions (356). TREM2 was shown to be an important regulator of lipid metabolism in microglia (357). TREM2 deficiency and its loss of function inhibit the activation of microglia and lead to lipid accumulations and neuronal damage (357). Noteworthy, recent work in our lab shows that triglycerides accumulate in the forebrain of both AD patients and AD mice (104). We demonstrate that these triglycerides were enriched with MUFAs, particularly OA which was reported to modify microglial metabolic patterns (297) and weakened microglial response to LPS (127). These studies suggest that microglia undergo metabolic alterations preventing them from engaging an immune response.

The majority of AD risk loci identified by GWAS studies are solely expressed in microglia highlighting their importance in AD pathology. The identification of the TREM2-APOE axis as a regulator for the DAM phenotype suggests a mechanistic link between inflammation and lipid metabolism. As immunometabolism is a promising target for AD, the role of lipids in AD-associated neuroinflammation requires further attention.

# 4.0 Rational & Hypothesis

In this memoir, I focus on disturbances in brain lipid metabolism, the single strongest genetic predictor of developing AD which remains poorly understood. Previous work in our laboratory has identified the presence of abnormal lipid metabolism manifesting as accumulations of triglycerides in post-mortem brain samples of human AD patients. Interestingly, we also demonstrated that these early-onset accumulations precede cognitive impairment in a transgenic murine model of AD, 3xTg (104). In 3xTg mice, these triglycerides are enriched with monounsaturated OA. The inhibition of the OA-synthesizing enzyme stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) rescued forebrain neural stem cell activity (104) and memory (unpublished). This suggests that excess MUFA contributes to AD pathology and that SCD inhibition is a potential therapeutic target.

## 4.1 Stearoyl-CoA desaturase

SCD is a crucial enzyme for MUFAs synthesis. It incorporates a cis double bond between carbons 9 and 10 to the acyl-CoA groups of SFAs earning its name  $\Delta$ -9 desaturase. This enzyme is found bound to the ER membrane. In mice, there are four isoforms of SCD (SCD1, SCD2, SCD3, and SCD4) while humans only express two isoforms (SCD1 and SCD5). In humans and mice, SCD1 is ubiquitously expressed but highly expressed in lipogenic tissues including adipose tissue and the liver. SCD2 is also ubiquitously expressed except in the liver. In the mouse brain, SCD2 expression is particularly high during the neonatal stage of life. As for SCD3, it is mostly present in the skin as well as the Harderian and preputial glands while SCD4 is mainly expressed in the heart. Finally, human SCD5 is found in the pancreas and the brain. SCD1 is the predominant and most studied form of SCD in humans and mice. Its main SFAs substrates are palmitate and stearate which are converted to palmitoleic acid and OA, respectively. SCD1 activity is activated by high carbohydrate and saturated fat feeding. Its expression can also be induced by glucose, fructose, saturated fatty acids, vitamins, and insulin which is achieved through liver X receptors, SREBP-1c, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors, and CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins. SCD1 repressors include leptin and PUFAS.

SCD1 plays a crucial role in lipid homeostasis by mediating SFA: MUFA ratio. Alterations in its activity results in disturbances in energy metabolism promoting the development of diseases, such as cancer, diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and obesity (358). SCD1 deficient mice had delayed

tumor growth and cancer cell death (359, 360) and were protected from developing obesity (173, 361), fatty liver (362), glucose tolerance (174, 363), and insulin resistance (174-176). Moreover, as a surge in SCD1 activity induces inflammation (364), its depletion in Agouti mice and mice on a high-fat diet displayed reduce adipocyte and macrophage-mediated inflammation (365). Interestingly, SCD2 was found to be enriched in the mouse hypothalamus and its knockdown induce a reduction in weight as the body's energy expenditure was increased (366).

## 4.2 Stearoyl-CoA desaturase in Alzheimer's disease

SCD1 expression (144) and OA (144-146) were found to be elevated in the brain of AD patients. Upregulation of SCD1 correlated with poor cognitive performance (144). As previously mentioned, high levels of OA increased amyloidogenic APP processing (367) and impaired neuronal stem cell proliferation which was rescued by SCD1 inhibition (104). Interestingly, SCD1 inhibition was found to be beneficial in another neurodegenerative disease as well. It inhibited  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced lipid dyshomeostasis by impairing  $\alpha$ -synuclein toxicity and neuronal degeneration in Parkinson's disease (368). Hence, SCD1 and OA seem to play a key role in neurodegeneration. SCD also plays a role in lipid-related inflammation in the brain, a study also showed that SCD1 depletion reduces the pro-inflammatory phenotype induced by prolonged exposure to the myelin of microglia thus promoting remyelination (369). More importantly, macrophages upregulate SCD1 when treated with A $\beta$  (370). Altogether, SCD1 represents an interesting target for modulation of aberrant lipid metabolism and inflammation in AD.

#### 4.3 Mouse model of Alzheimer's disease

In the following memoir, we conducted experiments with 3xTg mice, a mouse model of AD, and age matched WT strain B6129SF2/J 101045 mice. 3xTg mice were originally derived by comicroinjecting two independent transgenes encoding human Swedish mutant APP and the human tau P301L mutation, both under control of the neuron-specific mouse Thy1.2 regulatory element, into single-cell embryos harvested from homozygous M146V mutant PS1 knock-in mice (371). This animal model represents a model of familial AD as it entails the incorporation of mutated transgenes PSEN1, human APP and the human tau resulting in the overproduction of A $\beta$  and tau and leading to amyloid plaques and NFTs. 3xTg mice is one of the only mouse models of AD that recapitulate both amyloid and tau pathology as well as AD hallmarks such as CAA, gliosis, and lipid accumulation (26, 27). They also display cognitive (26, 27) and metabolic deficits (104, 372). 3xTg display similar AD pathology observed in AD patients compared to other mouse models expressing mutations leading to either A $\beta$  or tau pathology exclusively, such as APP/PS1, 5XFAD and Tau $\Delta$ K280 mice. Additionally, it is important to note that experiments were performed in female mice except for *in vitro* studies, the latter being due to limitations in sexing P1 pups. Compared to males, female 3xTg mice display behavioral abnormalities earlier (31, 373) and with higher severity (31, 374-376). They also present higher severity of A $\beta$  pathology (376-378) tau pathology (376) and gliosis (376). More importantly, Jackson Laboratory reported that 3xTg male mice may not exhibit phenotypic traits of AD.

The goal of this project is to investigate SCD inhibition as a therapeutic approach for intervention in AD. We hypothesized that alterations in lipid metabolism are responsible for changes in microglia immune response and other downstream effects in AD and that SCD inhibition can intervene in these processes. We mainly focus on early stages of AD when 3xTg mice display ADrelated changes, such as deficits in neurogenesis (379) and cognition (unpublished) as well as peripheral metabolic alterations (unpublished) prior to the formation of amyloid plaques and NFTs. To test this hypothesis, we established three objectives:

1) To determine the effect of SCD1 inhibition on the transcriptome of the 3xTg hippocampus.

We performed RNA-seq to profile the genome-wide transcriptional changes in the 3xTg hippocampus and the impact of SCD1 inhibition on these changes.

2) To determine the effect of SCD inhibition on hippocampal dendrites.

Dendrites and their spines are neuronal processes important for neurotransmission between neurons. In AD, synaptic loss disrupts neuronal connectivity and plasticity leading to cognitive deficits (380, 381). We performed Golgi staining on hippocampal slices of female 3xTg and WT mice that received a 28-day intracerebroventricular infusion of an SCD inhibitor via an osmotic pump. We assessed the effect of SCD inhibition on dendritic arborization as well as dendritic spine density in the hippocampus of middle-aged 3xTg mice and WT control mice.

3) To determine the impact of SCD1 inhibition on microglia-mediated inflammation.

We first sought out to study microglial polarization in 3xTg mice and WT control mice. We performed flow cytometry on microglia from the whole brain of 2- and 8-month-old female 3xTg and WT control mice to characterize microglial polarization at an asymptomatic and symptomatic age. We also established a primary microglia culture from WT and 3xTg neonatal pups to study gene expression of microglia in response to immune challenges and the impact of SCD1 inhibition on these responses.

# Material and methods

# Animal Experimental Models

Experiments were conducted following the guidelines of the Canadian Council of Animal Care and were approved by the institutional animal care committee of the Research Center of the University of Montreal Hospital (CRCHUM). 3xTg-AD mice (stock # 034830) and their WT strain B6129SF2/J (stock #101045) were obtained from Jackson Laboratory mice. Experiments were performed on female 3xTg mice (PS1M146V, APP<sub>Swe</sub>, and Tau<sub>P301L</sub>) (371) and their aged matched WT control except for primary microglia cultures in which both sexes were used. Ages are specified in the figure legends. All mice were bred at the CRCHUM and kept in identical housing conditions and given free access to a standard rodent diet (#2018, Harlan Teklad) and water.

# Intracerebroventricular injection

Alzet 28-day osmotic pumps (0.11 µl/h infusion rate, model 1004; Durect, cat #0009922) attached to brain infusion cannula (Durect, cat# 0008851) were stereotaxically implanted into the left lateral ventricle (coordinates: 0 mm AP and -0.9 mm ML to the bregma) according to manufacturer's instructions. Pumps contained the vehicle, DMSO (Sigma Aldrich, cat# D2650), or 80µM SCD1 inhibitor (Abcam, cat# ab142089) diluted in DMSO both products were diluted in artificial cerebrospinal fluid according to manufacturer's instructions.

# **RNA-sequencing**

# **RNA extraction from tissue**

Ipsilateral hippocampi were dissected from intracerebroventricular injected mice and immediately flash frozen on dry ice. Total RNA was extracted with TRIzol (Invitrogen cat# 15596018) and chloroform (Invitrogen cat# 15593031) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was then purified with the RNeasy mini kit (QIAGEN cat# 74104) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was quantified using a NanoDrop<sup>TM</sup> 2000/2000c Spectrophotometer (Thermofisher Scientific). 1µg of total RNA was sent to the Institute for Research in Immunology and Cancer's Genomics Platform (IRIC).

## Library preparation and RNA-seq

400 ng of total RNA was used for library preparation. RNA quality control was assessed with the Bioanalyzer RNA 6000 Nano assay on the 2100 Bioanalyzer system (Agilent technologies) and all samples had a RIN above 8. Library preparation was done with the KAPA mRNAseq Hyperprep kit (KAPA, cat#. KK8581). Ligation was made with 38 nM final concentration of Illumina dual-index UMI (IDT) and 11 PCR cycles were required to amplify cDNA libraries. Libraries were quantified by Qubit 2.0 Fluorometer (Thermofisher Scientific) and BioAnalyzer DNA1000. All libraries were diluted to 10 nM and normalized by quantitative PCR using the KAPA library quantification kit (KAPA, cat# KK4973). Libraries were pooled to equimolar concentration. Sequencing was performed with the Illumina Nextseq500 using the Nextseq High Output 75 cycles kit using 2.6 pM of the pooled libraries. Around 20-30M single-end PF reads were generated per sample. Library preparation and sequencing were made at the IRIC Genomics Platform.

## **Bioinformatics**

The RNA-seq data was run in a bioinformatics pipeline using the Compute Canada clusters (assigned to Dr. Gaël Moquin-Beaudry from Dr. Martine Tétreault's lab). The alignment was performed using HiSAT2 (382) against reference genome mm19. Read counts were obtained with htseq-count (383), and differential expression analysis was performed with the Bioconductor R package TCC v1.24.0 (384). Group data were analyzed pairwise and normalized using the DEGES/DESeq2 generalized linear model. Differentially expressed genes were identified with the TCC implementation of likelihood ratio test within DESeq2 with a p-value < 0.01 threshold. GO enrichment analysis on up-and down-regulated DEGs was performed using ShinyGO v0.61Ge SX, Jung D & Yao R, Bioinformatics 2020. For hierarchical clustering tree summarizing the correlation among significant pathways, the pathways with many shared genes are clustered together. Bigger dots indicate more significant p-values. The network plot also shows the relationship between enriched pathways. Two pathways (nodes) are connected if they share 20% or more genes. Darker nodes are more significantly enriched gene sets, bigger nodes represent larger gene sets, thicker edges represent more overlapped genes. Gene set analysis was accomplished on DEGs using GSEA 4.0.3 (385). Enriched gene sets were then curated from GSEA using the following keywords: lipids (lipid, fat, sterol), immunity (inflam-, cytokine, immun-,

neutro-, antigen, leukocyte, chemotaxis, lymphocyte, interleukin, myeloid, interferon, chemokine), and synapses (synap-, dendri-, neurotrans-, spine).

#### **Golgi analysis**

#### Golgi staining

To expose the hippocampus, mouse brains were cut into hemispheres and at 5mm from the olfactory bulb and 4 mm from the cerebellum with a mouse brain mold. For mice that received SCD1 inhibitor or vehicle, the contralateral hippocampus from osmotic pumps was used. Golgi staining was performed with the sliceGolgi kit (Bioenno Tech cat# 003760). Slices were post-fixed in fixative solution for 1 hour at 4°C and then in fresh fixative solution for an additional 48 hours at 4°C before slicing on a vibratome at 150um. Approximately 16 sections per animal were stained, between -1.06mm to -3.52mm from Bregma (n=4 animals per group). Briefly, sections were washed 3 times with 0.2M phosphate buffer pH 7.4. Free-floating sections were then stained in the impregnation solution for 24 hours and then in fresh impregnation solution for another 4 days at room temperature on a rocker. Then sections were washed once with phosphate buffer saline-Triton X (PBS-T) to remove impregnation solution. Subsequent washes were performed with PBS 1X pH 7.4. Golgi staining was performed by incubating sections in Solution C for 1 minute and then in post-staining solution D for 2 minutes. Sections were dehydrated in a series of ethanol baths (50%, 80%, 95%, and 100%) followed by two Xylene washes. Sections were then mounted onto slides with Permount (Thermofisher Scientific, cat# SP15-100) and allowed to dry overnight under a chemical hood before imaging.

#### **Golgi quantification**

Only neurons where the cell body and secondary and tertiary dendrites were completely visible were selected for quantification. The dorsal hippocampus sections were between -1.06mm to - 2.70mm from Bregma while the ventral hippocampus sections were -2.70mm to -3.52mm from Bregma. Dendritic spine density was assessed by counting spines on a length of 19µm on secondary or tertiary dendrites of neurons in the dentate gyrus or the CA1 of the hippocampus on a light microscope at 100X (Olympus DP21). Quantification was performed on two neurons per region per section for a total of 24 neurons per group. For the analysis of dendritic arborization, Z stacks were taken at a step of 0.2µm at 40X on a light microscope (Olympus IX2-UCB). Stacks were analyzed with ImageJ v1.52p (386). Total dendritic length and Sholl analysis were assessed

with Fiji plug-in "Simple Neurite Tracer". For Sholl analysis, the distance of concentric circles drawn from the middle of the cell body was set at 10µm.

#### Flow cytometry analysis

## **Brain single-cell dissociation**

Single cells from the whole brain were achieved using the protocol established by Dr. Natalie Arbour's and Dr. Catherine Larochelle's labs. This was performed by Audrey Daigneault, Oumarou Ouédraogo and myself. Briefly, mice were perfused with 40ml of cold PBS 1X pH 7.4 (diluted from PBS 10X (Wisent, cat# 811-012-CL) with MilliQ water), brains were dissected and transferred to cold Hibernate media (Thermofisher Scientific, cat# A12475-01). To digest the tissue, brains were cut into small pieces with a scalpel, transferred to a tube containing  $14\mu g/mL$ DNase I (Sigma Aldrich, cat# 10104159001) and 2mg/ml Collagenase D (Sigma Aldrich, cat# 11088866001) in Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) 1X (Wisent, cat# 311-512-CL), then placed in a 37°C water bath with shaking for 15 minutes. Brain homogenates were then filtered through a 100µm cell strainer and centrifuged for 7minutres at 1400rpm at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was resuspended in Percoll 37% (Sigma Aldrich, cat# 17-0891-01) to remove myelin. Homogenates were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 1500 rpm without brakes to achieve phase separation, the pellet was washed with Hibernate media, and samples were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 1600 rpm at 4°C. Finally, the supernatant was discarded, and the cell pellets were resuspended in Hibernate media with 1% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Wisent, cat# 085150).

## Flow cytometry staining

Cell staining was performed using the protocol established by members of Dr. Natalie Arbour's and Dr. Catherine Larochelle's labs, Audrey Daigneault and Oumarou Ouédraogo. Briefly, dissociated cells were counted with Trypan blue (Sigma Aldrich, cat# T8154) and 1 million cells were transferred into wells of a 96 wells plate with a V bottom. Cells were treated with 1  $\mu$ g/ml Brefeldin A (Sigma Aldrich, cat# B7651) for 1 hour at 37°C and washed with flow cytometry (FC) buffer (Hibernate (Thermofisher Scientific, cat# A12475-01) + 1% FBS (Wisent, cat# 085150)) by centrifuging samples at 1600rpm 7 minutes 4°C. The pellet was then resuspended with Aqua vivid (Thermofisher Scientific, cat# L34966), a live/dead stain for 30 minutes at 4°C, washed with FC buffer, and centrifuged at 1600rpm for 7 minutes at 4°C. Cells were then fixed and permeabilized with FoxP3/Transcription Factor Fixation/Permeabilization solution (eBioscience, cat# 00-5521-00) for 30 minutes at 4°C, washed and again centrifuged at 1600rpm for 7 minutes at 4°C. Extracellular staining was achieved by incubating cells with the (Table 1) antibodies diluted in FC buffer for 20 minutes at 4°C, cells were then washed with FC buffer and centrifuged at 1600rpm for 7 minutes at 4°C. Next, cells were resuspended in 200µl FC buffer and analyzed on the BD LRS II (BD Biosciences) flow cytometer. For intracellular staining, cells were incubated with the (Table 1) antibodies diluted in FC buffer with Triton-X 0.1% (Fisher Scientific, cat# BP151100) overnight at 4°C, washed with FC buffer, and centrifuged at 1600rpm for 7 minutes 4°C. Cells were then resuspended in 200µl FC buffer and analyzed at the flow cytometer BD LRS II (BD Biosciences). Data was analyzed on FlowJo by Dr. Catherine Larochelle's and Dr. Natalie Arbour's labs. Flow cytometry analysis of microglia was performed by gating on CD45 intermediate- CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells.

Name	Company (cat#)	
Immunocytochemistry	Dilution	
Alexa488 donkey anti-rabbit	Invitrogen (A21206)	1:1000
Alexa555 goat anti-mouse	Invitrogen (A21424)	1:1000
IBA1 (rabbit)	Wako (019-19741)	1:500
GFAP (mouse)	Chemicon (MAB360)	1:1000
Flow cytometry		Volume per million cells
Arg1 A700	eBioscience (56-3697-80)	2 µl
Aqua vivid	Thermofisher Scientific (L34966)	0.5 µl
CD11b BV605	BD Biosciences (563015)	0.5 µl
CD206 PE	Biolegend (141706)	2 µl
CD45 Cy7	Biolegend (103114)	2 µl
CD86 V450	BD Biosciences (560449)	2 µl
iNOS APC	eBioscience (17-5920-80)	2 µl
MHC II BV650	BD Biosciences (563415)	2 µl
TNFa PerCPCy5.5	BD Biosciences (560659)	1 µl

Table	1.	List	of	antibodies
-------	----	------	----	------------

## Primary microglia experiments

#### Primary microglia culture

This is a modified protocol from Dr. Thierry Alquier's lab. Primary microglia were obtained from whole brains of P1 WT or 3xTg pups. Following the dissection of the brain, meninges were carefully removed in an ice-cold solution of HBSS 1X without Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup> (Wisent, cat# 311-512-CL). The brain was then cut into small pieced with a scalpel and filtered through 100µm cell strainer in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), high glucose without sodium pyruvate (Invitrogen cat# 11965118) containing 10% heat deactivated FBS (Wisent cat# 085150) and 1% penicillin and streptomycin (P/S) (Wisent cat# 450-201-EL). Cells from 2 brains were resuspended in 12mL of media (DMEM+ %10 FBS+ 1%P/S) and cultured in a T-75 flask in a 37°C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After 3 days in culture, the media was changed to remove debris. The media was subsequently changed 2 times a week until microglia isolation. When astrocytes reached 95-100% confluence, between DIV 11-14, microglia were isolated by incubating flasks on a rocker for 1 hour at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Microglia were then plated on a 48 well plate coated with poly-D-lysine (Sigma Aldrich, cat# P9404) at a cell density of 100 000 cells/well and incubated for 48 hours before the experiment to allow microglia to enter a "homeostatic/resting state".

#### Primary microglia treatments

Microglia were treated with 25ng/mL of LPS (Sigma Aldrich, cat# L4516) diluted in PBS 1X (Wisent, cat#311-010-CL), A $\beta$  oligomers and monomers (see "*Preparation of A\betam and A\betao*") or 5 $\mu$ M of SCD1 inhibitor (Abcam cat# ab142089) diluted in DMSO. Treatments had a duration of 6 hours in a 37°C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> after which cells were lysed to isolate total RNA.

## **Immunocytochemistry**

Immunocytochemistry was performed on chamber slides. Cells were plated in chamber slides coated with poly-D-lysine (Sigma Aldrich, cat# P9404) at a cell density of 50 000 cells/well. After 48 hours after plating cells, they were first washed with PBS 1X pH 7.4 (diluted from PBS 10X (Wisent, cat# 811-012-CL)) and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 15 minutes at room temperature. PFA was washed away with PBS 1X pH 7.4 and then cells were permeabilized with 0.2% PBS-T for 7.5 minutes. Cells were washed and non-specific antigens were blocked with a blocking solution of 0.5% bovine serum albumin (Bioshop, cat# ABL001) and 6% goat serum (Jackson Immuno Research, cat# 005-000-121) for 2 hours. The primary antibodies (Table 1) were

diluted in 1:1 blocking solution dilution and PBS 1X pH 7.4 and incubated overnight at 4°C in a humid box. Primary antibodies were washed away with PBS 1X pH 7.4 and the secondary antibodies (Table 1) were added. Cells were incubated with the secondary antibodies (Table 1) for 45 minutes and then with Hoechst 1:500 (Sigma Aldrich, cat# B2261). Slides were rinsed with 0.2M PB and mounted with Mowiol mounting medium (13% (w/v) polyvinyl alcohol and 2% (w/v) DABCO in 2:1 Tris-Base (pH 8.5): Glycerol).

# **<u>Quantification of microglial purity</u>**

The purity of microglial cultures was evaluated by immunocytochemistry. We quantified the number of IBA1<sup>+</sup> microglia and GFAP<sup>+</sup> astrocytes in a field in each well of chamber slides (n=6) at 20X on a fluorescent microscope (Olympus IX2-UCB). Microglial purity was calculated by dividing the number of IBA<sup>+</sup> cells by the total number of cells counted.

## **Preparation of mAβ and AβO**

To A $\beta_{1-42}$  peptides (BACHEM cat# 4014447) were dissolved in ice-cold HFIP (Sigma-Aldrich, cat# 105228) to a concentration of 1µM. HFIP was evaporated under a laminar flow hood at room temperature. The resulting A $\beta$  films were stored at -80°C for no longer than 6 months. A $\beta$  monomers were prepared by dissolving peptides in DMSO (Sigma Aldrich, cat# D2650) and brought to a concentration of 500µM with sterile PBS 1X (Wisent, cat#311-010-CL). To obtain oligomers, A $\beta$  monomers were incubated at 4°C for 42 hours after which A $\beta$ O was isolated by centrifugation at 12 000rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C and recuperating the supernatant. A $\beta$  products were confirmed by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue (*see below*).

## **Gel electrophoresis**

Gel electrophoresis was performed with sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide (SDS-PAGE) gels. The stacking gel contained 5% acrylamide, 0.5M Tris pH 6.8, 1% ammonium persulfate (APS), 1% SDS and 0.05% Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED) while the separating gel was composed of 15% acrylamide, 1.5M Tris pH 8.8, 1% APS, 1% SDS and 0.05% TEMED. 10µg of samples were diluted in 4X sample buffer (0.5M Tris-HCl, 10%v/v SDS, 40% v/v Glycerol, 5% v/v  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, and bromophenol blue) and completed to 40µL with MilliQ water. The samples were heated at 95 °C for 5 minutes. Samples were then transferred in 1.5mm-thick SDS-PAGE gels and were run at 80-120V.

# Coomassie blue staining

SDS-PAGE gels were stained with a 0.04% Coomassie blue (Bio-Rad, cat# 161-0406) filtered solution diluted in 25% methanol and 10% glacial acetic acid for 1 hour at room temperature and a Destain I solution (40% ethanol and 10% glacial acetic acid for 30 minutes at room temperature. Gels were then left overnight with Destain II solution (20% ethanol and 7% glacial acetic acid) on a rocker at room temperature. For imaging, gels were transferred in MilliQ water and imaged with a ChemiDoc MP imaging system (Bio-Rad).

# **Real-time quantitative PCR analysis**

# **RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis**

Total RNA was extracted with TRIzol (Invitrogen cat# 15596018) and chloroform (Invitrogen cat# 15593031) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was quantified using a NanoDrop<sup>TM</sup> 2000/2000c Spectrophotometer (Thermofisher Scientific). cDNA was prepared from 1µg of total RNA using a mix of 1X Reverse transcriptase buffer (from 10X stock: 1M Tris pH 8.3, 1M MgCl<sub>2</sub>), 25 mM dNTP mix (Invitrogen cat# 10297-018), 0.5M Dithiothreitol (Invitrogen cat# R0861), 20U RNAse inhibitor (Invitrogen cat# N8080119) and 100U M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen cat# 28025-013). Samples were incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. cDNA was diluted to a final concentration of 4ng/µL in RNAse- DNase-free water (Wisent, cat# 809-115-CL).

# Real-time quantitative PCR

Real-time quantitative PCR was performed using SensiFAST 2X SYBR Lo-ROX kit Maser mix (Bioline cat#BIO-94050) on the QuantStudio3 (Applied Biosystems). Primers (Table 2) were diluted in RNAse- DNase-free water (Wisent, cat# 809-115-CL) to 40µM. Gene expression of target mRNAs was calculated using the Comparative Ct method and was normalized to expression levels of the housekeeping gene *GAPDH*.

IL1β Forward	GGTACATCAGCACCTCACAA
IL1β Reverse	TTAGAAACAGTCCAGCCCATAC
GAPDH Forward	AACAGCAACTCCCACTCTTC
GAPDH Reverse	CCTGTTGCTGTAGCCGTATT
SCD1 Forward	AGCGGTACTCACTGGCA
SCD1 Reverse	CCCTACGACAAGAACATTCAATC

# Table 2. Sequences of primers

TNFα Forward	CCTCTTCTCATTCCTGCTTGT
TNFα Reverse	TGGGAACTTCTCATCCCTTTG

## **Statistical analyses**

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software). Two-tailed unpaired t-test paired Student's t-test and one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple comparisons test was used as well as two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  standard errors of the mean. Statistical tests performed are detailed in the legend for each figure. P-values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

# Results





**Figure 2. RNA-seq of WT and 3xTg hippocampus at 8 months of age.** (A) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes found to be differentially expressed between WT and 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (B) GO enrichment analysis of biological processes that were found to be upregulated in the 3xTg hippocampus, n=4 (values correspond to enrichment false discovery rate (FDR)). (C) GO enrichment analysis of biological processes that were found to be

downregulated in the 3xTg hippocampus, n=4 (values correspond to enrichment FDR). (D) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to immunity found to be differentially expressed between the hippocampus of WT and 3xTg mice (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (E) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to lipids found to be differentially expressed between the hippocampus of WT and 3xTg mice (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (F) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to be differentially expressed between the hippocampus of WT and 3xTg mice (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (F) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to be differentially expressed between the hippocampus of WT and 3xTg mice (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (F) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to be differentially expressed between the hippocampus of WT and 3xTg mice (n=4, p adj < 0.01).

# <u>Alterations in the transcriptome of the 3xTg hippocampus correspond to process altered in</u> <u>AD.</u>

We investigated the disparities between the transcriptome of WT and 3xTg hippocampus at the early stages of AD when memory deficits are already present. To do this, we microdissected the whole hippocampus of middle-aged of 4 WT and 4 3xTg mice at 8-month of age at stage preceding plaque and tangle formation (379) and proceeded to perform RNA isolation with a TRIzol reagent. The concentration of RNA isolated was measured by UV spectrophotometry via a Nanodrop and a solution of  $50\mu$ L of RNA at a concentration of  $20ng/\mu$ L was sent to the IRIC genomic platform for sequencing with the Illumina Nextseq500 system. A bioinformatician Dr. Gaël Moquin-Beaudry from Dr. Martine Tetreault's lab assisted with the sequencing data.

We identified 1114 significantly differentially expressed genes (DEGs) between WT and 3xTg hippocampus with an adjusted p-value < 0.01 threshold (figure 2A). We performed gene ontology (GO) enrichment analysis of the 482 DEGs that were found to be upregulated and the 632 DEGs that were downregulated. This revealed that altered biological processes corresponded to process known to be altered in AD, including upregulation of cell metabolism and response to misfolded proteins (figure 2B) in addition to downregulation of synapses and neuronal differentiation (figure 2C). We were interested in assessing the proportions of DEGs that were associated with major processes that are modified in AD, such as immunity, lipids, and synapses. To do this, we closely studied the significant GO terms of biological processes provided by gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) and searched for keywords associated with immunity, lipids, and synapses. We found that amongst the 1114 DEGs, 26% of DEGs were related to immunity (figure 2D), 16% related to lipid (figure 2E), and 18% related to synapses (figure 2F). Altogether, the transcriptome in the hippocampus of 3xTg mice displays changes in processes known to be altered in AD.



**Figure 3. SCD1 inhibition rescued genes related to immunity and synapses in the 3xTg hippocampus.** (A) Experimental design. (B) Venn diagram highlighting the effect of SCD1 inhibition on the transcriptome of the 3xTg hippocampus, n=4. (C) GO enrichment analysis of

rescued biological processes that were found to be upregulated in the 3xTg hippocampus, n=4 (values correspond to enrichment FDR). (D) GO enrichment analysis of rescued biological processes that were found to be downregulated in the 3xTg hippocampus, n=4 (values correspond to enrichment FDR). (E) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to immunity found to be rescued with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (F) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (F) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to be rescued with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (G) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to be rescued with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (G) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to be rescued with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (G) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to be rescued with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (G) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to be rescued with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (G) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to be rescued with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01).

#### SCD1 inhibition rescued 41% of alterations in the 3xTg hippocampus.

To determine the effect of SCD1 inhibition on the transcriptome of the 3xTg hippocampus, we administered an SCD1 inhibitor or its vehicle, DMSO, in the brains of 9-month-old WT and 3xTg mice via intracerebroventricular infusion with a sample size of 4 mice per group (figure 3A). The administration of SCD1 inhibitor or DMSO through the ventricles allows for the distribution of the products throughout the brain by the CSF. After 28 days of treatment, we sacrificed mice and microdissected the whole hippocampus. We processed the hippocampus as previously mentioned.

We wanted to determine if treating 3xTg mice with SCD1 inhibitor normalizes alterations in their transcriptome to possess a similar gene expression to WT mice treated with the vehicle. We did a first comparison between WT and 3xTg mice treated with the vehicle. This led to the identification of 777 DEGs with an adjusted p-value < 0.01 cut-off (figure 3B). Then, we performed a second comparison between WT DMSO-treated mice and 3xTg mice treated with SCD1 inhibitor. This led to the identification of 1022 DEGs with a cut-off of p adj < 0.01 (figure 3B). We found that amongst the genes that were initially differently expressed between WT and 3xTg mice treated with DMSO, 322 DEGs were no longer significant between WT DMSO and 3xTg treated SCD1 inhibition (rescued) while 455 DEGs remained (unchanged) (figure 3B). This indicates that SCD1 inhibition normalized 41% of DEGs in the 3xTg hippocampus. SCD1 inhibitor also led to the appearance of 567 new DEGs (new) that were not initially found to be significant when comparing the hippocampal transcriptome of WT and 3xTg mice treated with DMSO (figure 3B). We further investigated the biological processes of genes that were rescued with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus by GO enrichment analysis. Biological processes related to synapses were amongst

upregulated processes (figure 3C) while most downregulated processes were involved with immunity (figure 3D). Consistent with this, 29% of DEGs were associated with immunity (figure 3E) and 17% with synapses which together represent just under 50% of the rescued DEGs (figure 3G). A proportion of rescued genes were also related to lipids (figure 3F). These data suggest that SCD1 inhibition could be beneficial for rescuing AD changes related to immunity and synapses in the hippocampus.



Figure 4. Effect of SCD1 inhibition on immune-related genes in the 3xTg hippocampus. (A) Venn diagram summarizing the effect of SCD1 inhibition on DEGs associated with immunity in the 3xTg hippocampus, n=4. (B) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to immunity found to be rescued with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (C) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to immunity found to be unchanged with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (D) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to immunity found to be unchanged with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (D) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes related to immunity found to be new with SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (E) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes associated

with M1 pro-inflammatory phenotype (n=4, p adj < 0.01). (F) Heatmap of z-score expression levels of genes associated with M2 anti-inflammatory phenotype (n=4, p adj < 0.01).

## Effect of SCD1 inhibition on immune-related genes in the hippocampus.

We studied the effect of SCD1 inhibition on immune-related genes more closely and found that among the DEGs reported in the previous figure (figure 3B), 94 DEGs were rescued, 144 DEGs were unchanged and 159 new DEGs appeared with SCD1 inhibition (figure 4A-D). Proinflammatory markers have been reported to have increased levels in AD brains as antiinflammatory markers were reduced (186, 387-389). Therefore, we also pulled out genes related to M1 and M2 phenotype to determine if SCD1 inhibition affects the polarization of immune cells. In general, in mice treated with DMSO, it seems that the 3xTg hippocampus upregulates both M1 pro-inflammatory and M2 anti-inflammatory genes in comparison to the WT hippocampus (figures 4E-F). SCD1 inhibition in the 3xTg hippocampus appears to alter gene expression of M1 genes by downregulating half of these genes (figure 4E). In contrast to M1 genes in the 3xTg hippocampus, SCD1 inhibition does not seem to affect M2 genes (figure 4F). Altogether, it seems that SCD1 inhibition affects the expression of M1 pro-inflammatory genes in the 3xTg hippocampus.



**Figure 5. Dendritic spine loss occurs in the dorsal hippocampus of 3xTg mice at 8 months of age.** (A) Representative 4X image of Golgi staining of the dorsal hippocampus. (B) Dendritic spine density in the CA1 of the dorsal hippocampus (n=18, t-test \*\*p<0.01). (C) Dendritic spine density

in the dentate gyrus of the dorsal hippocampus (n=18, t-test \*\*\*\* p<0.0001). (D) Representative 4X image of Golgi staining of the ventral hippocampus. (E) Dendritic spine density in the CA1 of the ventral hippocampus (n=18, t-test). (F) Dendritic spine density in the dentate gyrus of the ventral hippocampus (n=18, t-test).

#### Dendritic spine loss occurs in the dorsal hippocampus of middle-aged 3xTg mice.

To assess, dendritic pathology in the 3xTg hippocampus, we performed Golgi staining. This method for staining neurons and their dendrites was established by Camillo Golgi which published his drawing in 1886 (390). Known for his drawings of neurons, Santiago Ramón y Cajal used the Golgi staining method to visualize isolated neurons and alongside Camillo Golgi, they won a Nobel prize in 1906 for their depictions of neuronal structures. We purchased a Golgi staining kit and modified its protocol to obtain quantifiable and isolated neurons. These parameters included cutting the brains in two to allow diffusion of the staining solutions and reducing the concentration of detergent for washes to allow uniformization of staining.

We evaluated dendritic spine density in hippocampal slices of pre-plaque middle-aged WT and 3xTg mice at 8 months of age. At this age, 3xTg mice display deficits in memory and increase anxiety (unpublished). We investigated the loss of dendritic spines of neurons in the cornu ammonis 1 (CA1) and the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus. The CA1 and the dentate gyrus are sub-regions of the hippocampus where atrophy was duly documented (391). We first measured in the dorsal hippocampus (figure 5A), a region associated with spatial learning and memory (392), and found significant spine loss on the dendrites of neurons in the CA1 (figure 5B) and dentate gyrus (figure 5C) of 3xTg mice when compared to WT mice. We were also interested in studying the ventral hippocampus (figure 5D) which is associated with emotions and anxiety (392). We did not measure a difference in the ventral hippocampus of 3xTg mice in the CA1 (figure 5E) nor in the dentate gyrus (figure 5F). These results show that the reduction of dendritic spine density occurs in the dorsal hippocampus in middle-aged 3xTg mice and not in the ventral hippocampus.



Figure 6. SCD1 inhibition rescued the loss of dendrites and spines in pyramidal cells of the CA1 in the 3xTg hippocampus (A) Representative 4X image of Golgi staining of the dorsal hippocampus with the black frame represents the CA1. (B) Representative 40X image of Golgi staining of pyramidal cells in the CA1. (C) Representative 100X image of Golgi staining of dendrites of pyramidal neurons. (D-E) Dendritic spine density of pyramidal cells in the CA1 of the dorsal hippocampus (n=24, two-way ANOVA \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001). (F) Total length of dendrites of pyramidal neurons (n=35, two-way ANOVA \*p<0.05). (G) Quantification of the number of dendritic intersections per circle set at 10 $\mu$ m by Sholl analysis (n=35, two-way ANOVA \*p<0.05).



Figure 7. SCD1 inhibition did not rescue the loss of spines in granule cells of the dentate gyrus in the 3xTg hippocampus (A) Representative 4X image of Golgi staining of the dorsal hippocampus with the black frame represents the dentate gyrus. (B) Representative 40X image of Golgi staining of granule cells in the dentate gyrus. (C) Representative 100X image of Golgi staining of dendrites of granule cells. (D-E) Dendritic spine density of granule cells in the dentate gyrus of the dorsal hippocampus (n=24, two-way ANOVA \*p<0.05). (F) Total length of dendrites of granule neurons (n=35, two-way ANOVA). (G) Quantification of the number of dendritic intersections per circle set at 10 $\mu$ m by Sholl analysis (n=35, two-way ANOVA).

#### SCD1 inhibition rescued the loss of dendrites and spines in the 3xTg hippocampus.

Since SCD1 inhibition rescued synapse-related genes (figure 3C and 3G) as well as memory in 3xTg mice (unpublished), we investigated its effect on dendritic arborization and spine density in the dorsal hippocampus of 3xTg mice. We hypothesized that SCD1 inhibition would ameliorate neurite pathology in the hippocampus of 3xTg. To verify this hypothesis, we performed Golgi staining on slices of the hippocampus of 9-month-old WT and 3xTg mice whose brain was infused with the SCD1 inhibitor or its vehicle, DMSO, for 28 days (figure 3A). We measured total

dendrites length and quantified dendritic spine density of neurons in the CA1 region (figure 6A) and the dentate gyrus (figure 7A). We also performed Sholl analysis on the dendritic tree to assess dendritic complexity. This consists of quantifying the number of intersections between dendrites and concentric circles drawn from the middle of the cell body and distanced at 10µm from each circle.

In the CA1 region, we studied apical dendrites of pyramidal neurons (figure 6B) and their dendritic spines (figure 6C). When comparing vehicle-treated mice, dendritic spine density on the secondary (figure 6D) and tertiary dendrites (figure 6E) of 3xTg mice was significantly reduced. The inhibition of SCD1 rescued spine loss in 3xTg mice (figure 6D, 6E). We measured dendritic projections and examined the dendritic complexity of neurons in the CA1. We found that dendrites were shortened in 3xTg mice treated with DMSO (figure 6F) which also displayed reduced complexity of dendrite branching compared to WT DMSO mice (figure 6G). A recovery of dendritic pathology was observed following SCD1 inhibition in 3xTg mice (figure 6F, 6G). Interestingly, SCD1 inhibition resulted in a reduction of dendritic projection length (figure 6F) and dendritic complexity (figure 6G) in WT mice.

We performed similar analyses on the granule cells of the dentate gyrus (figure 7B). We assessed dendritic spine density (figure 7C) and found that this was also significantly reduced in the dentate gyrus of 3xTg mice compared to WT mice (figure 7D, 7E). Spine loss on secondary dendrites was not recovered with SCD1 inhibition 3xTg mice although there was so significant difference between WT mice treated with DMSO and 3xTg mice treated with SCD1 inhibitor (figure 7D). On tertiary dendrites, though it did not result in a significant effect, SCD1 inhibition seems to slightly stimulate dendritic spine growth in 3xTg mice (figure 7E). These data suggest that SCD1 inhibition of neurons within the dentate gyrus, we did not observe a significant difference in dendritic projection length (figure 7F) or dendritic complexity (figure 7G) between WT and 3xTg mice treated with DMSO and nor did SCD1 inhibition in both strains affect the dendritic tree in the dentate gyrus (figure 7F-G). However, although insignificant, SCD1 inhibition did seem to have a positive effect on dendritic projection length (figure 7F) or dendritic complexity (figure 7G).

Together, these results indicate that aberrant lipid metabolism contributes to dendrite and spine loss in 3xTg mice and that SCD1 inhibition allows for recovery of loss of synapses and some possible benefits on the dendritic tree in the CA1 and the dentate gyrus of these mice.



Figure 8. Characterization of microglial polarization in the brain of asymptomatic and symptomatic mice. (A) Gating strategy for microglia. (B) Proportion of microglia amongst immune cells in the brain (n=4, two-way ANOVA). (C-F) Proportion of microglia in the brain that expresses pro-inflammatory markers TNF $\alpha$ , iNOS, MHC II, and CD86, respectively (n=4, two-way ANOVA). (G-H) Proportion of microglia in the brain that expresses anti-inflammatory markers CD206 and Arg1, respectively (n=4, two-way ANOVA).

#### 3xTg brains seem to display high proportions of microglia as early as 2 months of age.

In AD, microglia are known to adopt a pro-inflammatory phenotype which often is accompanied by deleterious effects on the brain. To better understand microglial behavior at the early stages of AD, we compared the proportion of M1 pro-inflammatory and M2 anti-inflammatory microglia in WT and 3xTg brains at a young/asymptomatic age and early stages in AD. To do this, we performed flow cytometry on the whole brains of 2- and 8-month-old WT and 3xTg mice in collaboration with the labs of Dre Catherine Larochelle and Dre Natalie Arbour. Flow cytometry analysis of microglia was performed by gating on CD45 intermediate/medium-CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells while CD45 high cells represent macrophages (figure 8A). We studied the proportion of microglia in the brains of mice and characterized microglial phenotype with markers associated with M1 proinflammatory microglia (TNFa, inducible NO synthase (iNOS), MHC II and CD86) or M2 antiinflammatory microglia (CD206 and Arg1). In this pilot study, we observed a significant amount of variability, which may be technical or due to inter-animal variability. Nevertheless, certain observations can be made. We did not observe a significant difference between WT and 3xTg microglia at both ages. However, at 2 months of age, 3xTg brains seem to possess a higher proportion of microglia than WT mice and this effect was absent in 8-month-old mice (figure 8B). Additionally, there appears to be a trend following age in the proportion of WT and 3xTg microglia expressing pro-inflammatory markers (figure 8C-F). Aging is associated with increased inflammation in a phenomenon known as "inflammaging" (23, 272). Interestingly, the proportion of 3xTg microglia expressing anti-inflammatory cytokines (figure 8G-H) seems to be reduced compared to WT microglia at 8 months of age. This would coincide with findings that in AD, microglia downregulated genes associated with homeostatic and anti-inflammatory microglia AD (8, 9, 30). However, further work needs to be done to confirm these observations and to duly characterize microglial polarization in 3xTg throughout AD pathology.



**Figure 9. Establishment of a protocol for primary microglia culture.** (A) Protocol to culture microglia from an astroglial culture from the brains of neonatal pups. (B) Immunocytochemistry of cells found in the resulting primary microglia culture (yellow: IBA1 microglia, red: GFAP astrocyte, blue: Hoechst stain; scale bar 100µm). (C) Quantification of microglia IBA1<sup>+</sup> cells and astrocyte GFAP<sup>+</sup> cells to assess the purity of microglia culture.

## Establishment of a protocol for primary microglia culture.

Microglia culture is a useful tool to study microglia-specific inflammatory responses. In general, primary microglia cultures from rodents come from neonatal animals as adult microglia are difficult to sustain in culture (393). We initially obtained the protocol from Dr. Thierry Alquier's lab and we modified it to match the requirements of our experiments. The optimized protocol starts with the whole brains of P1 neonatal WT and 3xTg pups (figure 9A). Our protocol consists of isolating the brains of P1 pups and culturing a mixed culture of dissociated single cells. We use media with high glucose and supplemented it with FBS to promote astrocyte and microglia proliferation. In vitro astrocytes are crucial for microglial survival and proliferation as they provide microglia with factors such as colony-stimulating factor, cholesterol, and TGF $\beta$  (251). After 5 days in vitro (DIV), we perform the first media change to remove debris and maintain the culture until astrocytes reach confluence around 7 to 10 days in culture. When astrocytes reach confluence, there is an increasing number of round bright cells, microglia, which appear around DIV11-14 and

this is when microglia are ready to be harvested. We harvest microglia by placing the flask on a shaker in an incubator causing microglia to detach and to be found in suspension while astrocytes stay attached. Microglia are then plated in a 48 well plate at a density of 100 000 cells per well. We assessed the purity of our primary microglia culture by plating microglia on chamber slides and performing immunocytochemistry for microglia ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1 (IBA1)<sup>+</sup> cells and astrocytes glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)<sup>+</sup> cells (figure 9B). We counted the microglia IBA1<sup>+</sup> cells and astrocytes GFAP<sup>+</sup> cell in subfields on each chamber resulting in an average purity of 98.6%.



Figure 10. 3xTg microglia have higher mRNA levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines at baseline. (A-B) mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL1 $\beta$ , respectively (n=8, t-test, \*\* p<0.01). (C) mRNA expression of SCD1 (n=8, t-test, \*\*\*\* p<0.0001). The housekeeping gene used is GAPDH.



Figure 11. 3xTg microglia display a dampened response to LPS. (A-B) mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL1 $\beta$ , respectively, in response to exposure to LPS (n=8, t-test, \* p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01). (C) mRNA expression of SCD1 in response to exposure to LPS (n=8, t-test, \* p<0.05). The housekeeping gene used is GAPDH.

# <u>3xTg microglia express increased mRNA levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines but display a</u> dampened response when challenged.

We compared the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF $\alpha$  and IL1 $\beta$ , in WT and 3xTg microglia at baseline and found that 3xTg microglia express higher mRNA levels of TNF $\alpha$  (figure 10A) and IL1β (figure 10B) than WT microglia. We also observed that 3xTg microglia had a decreased mRNA expression of SCD1 compared to WT microglia (figure 10C). When challenged with a strong inducer of inflammation, acute 6-hour treatment of LPS at a concentration of 25ng/mL, 3xTg microglia exhibit a blunted response displayed by a reduced expression of TNFa (figure 11A) and IL1 $\beta$  (figure 11B) as opposed to WT microglia. It is important to note that when treated with the vehicle (PBS 1X), the significant increased expression of pro-inflammatory were no longer observed although it seems to be slightly elevated (figure 11A-B). Interestingly, LPSinduced inflammatory response resulted in a normalization of SCD1 expression in 3xTg microglia to WT microglia levels. These results imply that 3xTg microglia in culture exhibit a similar behavior than what is observed in AD where microglia upregulate pro-inflammatory cytokines and possess a reduced ability to respond and to engage an immune response. Additionally, proinflammatory LPS increased the expression of SCD1 within 3xTg microglia to resemble WT microglia levels. This suggests that microglia-mediated inflammation might be responsible for the rise in SCD1 in AD brains.



Figure 12. SCD1 inhibition does not reduce mRNA levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in **3xTg microglia.** (A-B) mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL1 $\beta$ , respectively, in response to exposure to LPS and SCD1 inhibitor (n=7, two-way ANOVA, \* p < 0.05, \*\* p < 0.01). The housekeeping gene used is GAPDH.

# SCD1 inhibition does not reduce the mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in 3xTg microglia.

As our RNA-seq data show that inflammation is downregulated with SCD1 inhibitor (figure 3D-E), we investigated the effect of SCD1 inhibition on microglia-mediated inflammation. We treated WT and 3xTg microglia with LPS and an SCD1 inhibitor for 6 hours and observed that SCD1 inhibitor has a significant effect on inflammation in WT microglia but not on 3xTg microglia which is partially consistent with results observed with RNA-seq of their hippocampus where SCD1 inhibition increase TNFa gene expression while IL1ß expression seemed unchanged (figure 4E). SCD1 inhibitor partially blunted the expression of TNF $\alpha$  (figure 12A) and IL1 $\beta$  (figure 12B) in WT treated with LPS. However, it did not affect the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines by 3xTg microglia (figure 12A-B). Of note, similar to the previous figure, no significant difference was observed between WT and 3xTg microglia treated vehicle, PBS 1X+ DMSO (figure 12A-B). These results suggest that SCD1 inhibition does not mediate inflammation by acting through proinflammatory cytokines in 3xTg microglia.



Figure 13. Preparation of  $A\beta_{1-42}$  oligomers. (A) Protocol for  $A\beta_{1-42}$  oligomerization. (B) Coomassie blue staining of an SDS-PAGE gel of monomeric  $A\beta$  preparation. (C) Coomassie blue staining of an SDS-PAGE gel of oligomeric  $A\beta$  preparation.



Figure 14. A $\beta$ O-induced inflammation increases SCD1 mRNA expression in WT microglia. (A-B) mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL1 $\beta$ , respectively, in response to exposure to mA $\beta$  (n=5, one-way ANOVA). (C) mRNA expression of SCD1 in response to
exposure to mA $\beta$  (n=5, one-way ANOVA). (D-E) mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL1 $\beta$ , respectively, in response to exposure to A $\beta$ O (n=4, one-way ANOVA, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*\* p<0.0001). (F) mRNA expression of SCD1 in response to exposure to A $\beta$ O (n=4, one-way ANOVA). The housekeeping gene used is GAPDH.

#### <u>AβO-induced inflammation might be responsible for the upregulation of SCD1 in microglia.</u>

The increase in SCD1 expression with LPS treatment suggests that inflammation is related to lipid metabolism (figure 11C). We investigated an inflammatory molecule relevant to AD, A $\beta$ . A $\beta$ O is the most neurotoxic (69) and potent inflammatory species of A $\beta$  (69, 73, 74) of A $\beta$ . Therefore, we treated WT microglia with A $\beta$  monomers (mA $\beta$ ) and A $\beta$ O to determine the effect of A $\beta$  on inflammation and SCD1 expression in "healthy" microglia to determine if we can replicate A $\beta$ O-induced inflammation. Also, as a study reported that SCD1 was upregulated in macrophages (370), we wanted to study if this occurs in microglia as well. We establish a protocol to produce A $\beta$ O (figure 13A). Monomeric and oligomeric A $\beta$  are prepared from A $\beta$ 1-42 peptides which were solubilized with hexafluoroisopropanol (HFIP) and aliquoted to obtain A $\beta$  films (figure 13A). Monomers were obtained from dissolving A $\beta$  films with DMSO and diluted with PBS. As for oligomeris, they were produced by incubating monomers at 4°C for 42 hours to allow oligomerization. We confirmed the form of A $\beta$  produce by migrating samples on an SDS-PAGE gel and staining the gel with Coomassie blue. mA $\beta$  possesses a molecular weight is around 4.5kDa (figure 13B) while A $\beta$ O weighs over 16kDa (figure 13C).

We acutely treated WT microglia with increasing concentrations of mA $\beta$  and A $\beta$ O for 6 hours. In microglia treated with mA $\beta$ , we did not observe an inflammatory response (figure 14A-B), nor did it lead to changes in the level of SCD1 mRNA expression (figure 14C). In microglia treated with A $\beta$ O, levels of TNF $\alpha$  mRNA expression and concentrations of A $\beta$ O displayed a proportional relation (figure 14D). As for IL1 $\beta$  and SCD1 expression, there seems to be a trend towards increase expression with increasing concentrations of A $\beta$ O although it did not attain significance (figure 14E-F). This experiment needs to be replicated. However, this suggests that inflammatory A $\beta$  species, A $\beta$ O, might be responsible for SCD1 upregulation in AD.

### Discussion

There is currently no cure for AD as the mechanism underlying the development and progression of this disease remains unclear. Consequently, clinical trials are struggling to find a cure for AD

as they test multiple hypotheses (15, 16). Studies into the genetics of AD have identified alterations in pathways implicated in immune cell response, lipid metabolism as well as amyloid and tau proteins influencing APP processing and A $\beta$  production in both SAD-LOAD and FAD-EOAD (1-4). As studies have greatly focused on amyloid and tau pathologies along with inflammation, lipid metabolism has been omitted. Previous work in our lab has shown lipid metabolism abnormalities in AD human and mouse brains and we have observed that SCD1 inhibition had benefits in early loss of neurogenesis (104) and cognitive deficits (unpublished).

The purpose of my project was to investigate SCD1 inhibition as a therapeutic approach for intervention in AD. We hypothesized that A $\beta$  causes alterations in lipid metabolism at the early stages of AD which is responsible for changes in microglia immune response and other downstream effects in AD and that SCD inhibition can intervene in these processes (figure 15). In this memoir, we employed an SCD1 inhibitor to dissect the impact of abnormal lipid metabolism on AD pathology. Our results suggest that it modulates processes involved with neuronal projections and immunity. Altogether, these findings emphasize the important role of altered lipid metabolism in AD.



### Figure 15. A hypothetical sequence of the pathogenetic steps of AD.

#### 3xTg mouse model of Alzheimer's disease

We have to chosen to use 3xTg mice to conduct our experiments as it is the only mouse model that recapitulates the components of AD physiopathology. Nevertheless, it does have its constraints. The majority of our studies were performed on female 3xTg mice. Although 2-in-3 people with AD are women (10), this does not reflect the reality of AD as both male and female are affected

by this neurodegenerative disease. However, the absence of AD pathology in 3xTg male limits their practicality. Moreover, we did not consider the oestrus cycle of mice when performing our experiments. The oestrus cycle was reported to influence behavior (394, 395), synaptic plasticity (396, 397) and neuroinflammation (398, 399). Also, as hormonal fluctuations are a risk factor for AD, the stage of oestrus cycle may affect observed results. Additionally, the predominant form of AD is SAD-LOAD while 3xTg mice as well as other models of AD correspond to FAD-EAOD. A mouse model of SAD-LOAD is yet to be developed. Indeed, the incorporation of AD risk genes, *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  allele or TREM2, in mice enhance the risk of SAD-LOAD but developing this form of AD also relies on the interplay of environmental and lifestyle risk factors in addition to a genetic component which is challenging to recreate.

The general consensus is that  $A\beta$  is responsible for initiating AD pathology. Our hypothesis is that  $A\beta$  pathology increases the activity of SCD leading to abnormal lipid metabolism and downstream effects in AD. If this hypothesis is true, we expect to obtain similar results in other mouse models of AD that exhibit  $A\beta$  pathology. As Fanning et al report that SCD inhibition inhibited  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregates and neuronal degeneration in a model of Parkinson's disease, the link between abnormal protein aggregation in neurodegenerative diseases and aberrant lipid metabolism warrants further investigation.

# SCD1 inhibition rescued genes associated with immunity and synapses in the 3xTg hippocampus.

Our RNA-seq data of the hippocampus revealed changes in lipid metabolism, immunity, and synapses in 3xTg mice. These findings are similar to observations made by GWAS studies (ref). SCD1 inhibition rescued 41% of DEGs in which close to half of the normalized genes were associated with immunity and synapses. We also found that SCD1 could be modulating pro-inflammatory signals. The administration of the SCD1 inhibitor or its vehicle was done by installing an osmotic pump with a tube piercing the brain to be released in the lateral ventricle of mice. This procedure creates acute inflammation in the brain. However, with a treatment period of 28 days, this inflammation would have subsided at the time of sacrifice. Nonetheless, this is an important factor to consider as we are interested in inflammation in the brain. Moreover, the data we present in my memoir is quite superficial and mainly focused on rescued processes in the 3xTg hippocampus. We are currently investigating the processes that remained unchanged as well as the

new processes with SCD1 inhibition. Also, we have yet to explore the individual genes that were found to be differentially expressed. In particular, we must closely look into lipid-related genes to understand the beneficial effects of SCD1 inhibition. Furthermore, SCD1 inhibition could be altering the transcriptome in other brain regions. For instance, the cortex, another key region affected in AD, and the hypothalamus, the regulator of the endocrine system, would be potential prospects.

Our studies on gene expression were performed by bulk RNA-seq on the hippocampus. However, this technique possesses limitations. Bulk RNA-seq allows identifying gene expression patterns and global processes that are modified in pathologies. The caveat of this type of sequencing is that it relies on the average gene expression across a large number of cells that have been mashed up altogether. In a homogeneous tissue, the average gene expression is more likely to be represented as opposed to a highly heterogeneous tissue, such as the brain. Hence, microglia, which represent up to 12% of the brain cell population, will be outweighed by major cell populations, such as neurons and astrocytes. To circumvent this, we are currently working on single-cell RNA-seq (scRNA-seq) data from the brains of mice that received an SCD1 inhibitor. scRNA-seq will allow us to discern the cell-specific effect of SCD1 inhibition could be affecting other cells that regulate lipids in the brain, such as astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. However, studying gene expression through mRNA is not directly equivalent to protein levels. Proteomics can be performed to provide additional information on the levels and the modifications of proteins in pathological conditions.

# SCD1 inhibition promotes regeneration of dendrites and dendritic spines in the 3xTg hippocampus.

We observed that middle-aged 3xTg mice displayed a reduction of dendritic spine density in the dorsal hippocampus but not in the ventral hippocampus. As the dorsal hippocampus is responsible for memory, this coincides with the appearance of cognitive symptoms of AD where memory deficits are the earliest symptom of AD. Alternatively, larger sample size may be required to observe a significant loss of dendritic spines in the ventral hippocampus of 3xTg mice. Our data also show that dendritic shortening and spine loss occur in their dorsal hippocampus in middle-aged 3xTg mice. SCD1 inhibition rescued changes in gene expression related to synapses as well

as dendrite and spine loss in the CA1 of the hippocampus of 3xTg mice. Although SCD1 inhibition did not have a significant effect on the dendrites of the dentate gyrus, it seemed to normalized spine loss as observed by the loss of significance between the spine density between WT mice treated with the vehicle and 3xTg mice treated with the SCD1 inhibitor. Additional work to increase the sample size might overcome these results. On the other hand, we did not see a difference in dendritic length between our experimental groups hinting that dendritic shortening occurs in the CA1 of the hippocampus before the dentate gyrus in middle-aged mice. Work done in our lab observed that SCD1 inhibition ameliorated memory and learning in 3xTg mice (unpublished). These findings imply that abnormal lipid metabolism plays a role in the loss of synapses and that SCD1 inhibition rescued cognitive deficits in 3xTg mice by promoting dendrite and spine regeneration although how SCD1 inhibition rescued dendrite and spine regeneration in the 3xTg hippocampus remains unknown. Additional work studying the functionality of synapses with electrophysiological approaches following SCD1 inhibition should be explored. This can be done by measuring long-term potentiation and -depression in the hippocampus of mice that received SCD1 inhibitor or the vehicle via an osmotic pump for 28 days or, on hippocampal slices.

Golgi staining is a commonly used technique to visualize dendrites and their spines. However, the disadvantage of this method is that it only stains a subset of neurons in a random manner by which the mechanism of selection is not yet understood. Also, the protocol of Golgi staining was rather arduous to optimize. We purchased a kit for Golgi staining, but we had to change parameters to achieve uniform staining without overstaining sections to obtain isolated neurons. This silver staining method allows studying spine morphology. Long and thin spines are associated with immature spines while mushroom-shaped spines are known as mature spines (400). This would have been interesting to study in our experiments. However, due to limited resolution on the microscope, we were not able to distinguish these categories of spines.

#### Microglial polarization in the 3xTg brain.

Flow cytometry is a helpful tool to characterize a population of cells in heterogeneous samples and to study the expression of molecules in these cells. In our experiment, we studied microglia in the brains of WT and 3xTg mice at two stages of AD, asymptomatic (2 months old) and symptomatic (8 months old). From the data we obtained from our pilot study with a sample size of 4 mice per

group, we were not able to conclude due to the high variability within experimental groups. This experiment needs to be further replicated to obtain a sufficient sample size to correct for variability.

However, this flow cytometry does have its caveats. As we wish to study microglial activation, it is important to note that the protocol for cell isolation from whole brains leads to the stimulation of microglia as they are highly sensitive to changes in their environment. An alternative to studying microglial activation in the brain is through immunohistochemistry. This would allow a spatial evaluation of microglia polarization in different brain regions. However, due to limitations in the number of allocated fluorescent channels, only a few proteins of interest can be studied at once. The advantage of flow cytometry in the presence of multiple laser channels allowing for up to 18 colors depending on cytometers. Thus, a larger panel of immune markers can be analyzed at once.

#### Establishment of a model of microglia to study cell-specific inflammatory responses.

Our experiments on primary microglia cultures demonstrate that 3xTg microglia express higher mRNA levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines but are unable to mount a proper immune response when challenged. Although, microglia treated with the vehicle no longer displayed significant differences between WT and 3xTg, the trend seemed to be conserved. Microglia are highly sensitive to the slightest changes in their environment. The evaluation of gene expression of microglia at baseline was performed without the addition of additives to the media while the vehicle contained PBS 1X and DMSO. This important factor should be considered. We observed that the acute activation of a pro-inflammatory response by LPS had a normalizing effect on SCD1 mRNA levels in 3xTg microglia. Additional studies looking into the effect of chronic inflammation on SCD1 expression should be investigated. As for A $\beta$ O, we would need to increase our sample size, but our preliminary data suggest that inflammatory ABO was able to increase SCD1 expression in WT microglia. Although we have yet to treat 3xTg microglia with AβO, this suggests that ABO-induced activation of microglia is implicated in altered lipid metabolism in microglia. Hence, we expect 3xTg microglia to react similarly to WT microglia but with a higher expression on SCD1. It would also be interesting to treat microglia with A $\beta$  fibrils to study the effect on SCD1 expression. As A $\beta$  fibrils are less immunogenic as A $\beta$ O, we anticipate an increase in SCD1 but at a lesser extent compared to ABO. In our in vitro studies, we have used a higher concentration of A $\beta$ O than the ranges of concentration quantified in the brains of AD patients,

between picomolar to nanomolar concentrations, as a higher concentration of synthetic A $\beta$  is required to obtain a similar effect (401-403).

Since our data on microglia culture rely on the expression of mRNA levels, we should verify the capacity of microglia to produce cytokines by Western blot and the secretory ability of microglia by measuring cytokines by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay in the media of treated microglia. To test whether A $\beta$ O is responsible for altering lipid metabolism in microglia, future approaches should by measuring glycolysis and OXPHOS by performing real-time metabolic analysis with the Agilent Seahorse machine which measures mitochondrial respiration. Furthermore, we still are studying the impact of SCD1 knockout on microglia immune response. This will provide additional insights into the role of SCD1 in inflammation.

Although additional work is necessary to support our hypothesis, microglia culture is a useful tool to study microglia-specific inflammatory responses in 3xTg mice, but it does have its caveats. Our protocol utilizes neonatal microglia which is widely accepted in the field. However, they lack the cellular interactions with other cells in the brain, such as astrocytes, neurons, and oligodendrocytes, and the exposure to changes occurring in the brain with aging and with the AD pathology. These components cause alterations in the epigenetics and the transcriptome of microglia which shape their functions and their behavior in pathologies. Efforts towards establishing a protocol to obtain microglia from adult brains could relieve this problem. Nonetheless, our data on primary microglia culture provide essential information regarding the link between microglia-mediated inflammation and lipid metabolism in AD.

#### Important questions left to answer.

Altogether, these findings show that targeting metabolic dysregulation through SCD1 inhibition could be a potential target for treating AD. However, as lipids are vital for brain function and SCD1 plays a central role in lipogenesis, determining alterations in the compositions of lipids in the brain with SCD1 inhibition is essential to understanding how this is beneficial for AD. As AD brains display alterations in energy consumption (404), we are also looking into the effect of SCD1 inhibition on the uptake of glucose and fatty acids in the different brain regions of WT and 3xTg with radioactive tracers, [18]- Fluorodeoxyglucose and 14(R, S)-[18F] Fluoro-6-thia-heptadecanoic acid, respectively. Be that as it may, our understanding of the mechanisms causing

AD-induced perturbations in lipid metabolism is shallow although it seems to play a central role in AD development and progression.

## Conclusion

Disturbances in cell metabolism, lipid metabolism, in particular, is emerging as a central player in neurodegenerative diseases. In addition to work done in our lab, SCD1 has been gaining interest as a novel drug target for synucleinopathies, such as Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies (368) and multiple sclerosis (369). Also, identifying the cause of neurodegenerative disease-induced perturbations in lipid metabolism is crucial to develop targeted therapeutical strategies. Future work focusing on altered lipid metabolism in the brain can provide leads to identifying new therapeutical strategies to alleviate cognitive deficits and improve metabolic deficits during AD.

## References

1. Harold D, Abraham R, Hollingworth P, Sims R, Gerrish A, Hamshere ML, et al. Genomewide association study identifies variants at CLU and PICALM associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet. 2009;41(10):1088-93.

2. Jansen IE, Savage JE, Watanabe K, Bryois J, Williams DM, Steinberg S, et al. Genomewide meta-analysis identifies new loci and functional pathways influencing Alzheimer's disease risk. Nat Genet. 2019;51(3):404-13.

3. Kunkle BW, Grenier-Boley B, Sims R, Bis JC, Damotte V, Naj AC, et al. Genetic metaanalysis of diagnosed Alzheimer's disease identifies new risk loci and implicates Abeta, tau, immunity and lipid processing. Nat Genet. 2019;51(3):414-30.

4. Marioni RE, Harris SE, Zhang Q, McRae AF, Hagenaars SP, Hill WD, et al. GWAS on family history of Alzheimer's disease. Transl Psychiatry. 2018;8(1):99.

5. Farrer LA, Cupples LA, Haines JL, Hyman B, Kukull WA, Mayeux R, et al. Effects of age, sex, and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein E genotype and Alzheimer disease. A meta-analysis. APOE and Alzheimer Disease Meta Analysis Consortium. JAMA. 1997;278(16):1349-56.

6. Guerreiro R, Wojtas A, Bras J, Carrasquillo M, Rogaeva E, Majounie E, et al. TREM2 variants in Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(2):117-27.

7. Jonsson T, Stefansson H, Steinberg S, Jonsdottir I, Jonsson PV, Snaedal J, et al. Variant of TREM2 associated with the risk of Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(2):107-16.

8. Keren-Shaul H, Spinrad A, Weiner A, Matcovitch-Natan O, Dvir-Szternfeld R, Ulland TK, et al. A Unique Microglia Type Associated with Restricting Development of Alzheimer's Disease. Cell. 2017;169(7):1276-90 e17.

9. Krasemann S, Madore C, Cialic R, Baufeld C, Calcagno N, El Fatimy R, et al. The TREM2-APOE Pathway Drives the Transcriptional Phenotype of Dysfunctional Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Immunity. 2017;47(3):566-81 e9.

10. ADI. World Alzheimer Report 2019: Attitudes to dementia. London: Alzheimer's Disease International; 2019.

11. NIH/NIA. Alzheimer's Disease Fact Sheet 2019 [Available from: https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/alzheimers-disease-fact-sheet.

12. Alzheimer Society of C. Report summary Prevalence and monetary costs of dementia in Canada (2016): a report by the Alzheimer Society of Canada. Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can. 2016;36(10):231-2.

13. Beason-Held LL, Goh JO, An Y, Kraut MA, O'Brien RJ, Ferrucci L, et al. Changes in brain function occur years before the onset of cognitive impairment. J Neurosci. 2013;33(46):18008-14.

14. McKhann GM, Knopman DS, Chertkow H, Hyman BT, Jack CR, Jr., Kawas CH, et al. The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2011;7(3):263-9.

15. Liu P-P, Xie Y, Meng X-Y, Kang J-S. History and progress of hypotheses and clinical trials for Alzheimer's disease. Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy. 2019;4(1).

16. Shi J, Sabbagh MN, Vellas B. Alzheimer's disease beyond amyloid: strategies for future therapeutic interventions. BMJ. 2020;371:m3684.

17. Barnes DE, Yaffe K. The projected effect of risk factor reduction on Alzheimer's disease prevalence. The Lancet Neurology. 2011;10(9):819-28.

18. Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. The Lancet. 2020;396(10248):413-46.

19. Norton S, Matthews FE, Barnes DE, Yaffe K, Brayne C. Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: an analysis of population-based data. The Lancet Neurology. 2014;13(8):788-94.

20. Theuns J, Del-Favero J, Dermaut B, van Duijn CM, Backhovens H, Van den Broeck MV, et al. Genetic variability in the regulatory region of presenilin 1 associated with risk for Alzheimer's disease and variable expression. Hum Mol Genet. 2000;9(3):325-31.

21. CIHI. Dementia in Canada: Summary 2019 [Available from: https://www.cihi.ca/en/dementia-in-canada/dementia-in-canada-summary.

22. Naj AC, Jun G, Reitz C, Kunkle BW, Perry W, Park YS, et al. Effects of multiple genetic loci on age at onset in late-onset Alzheimer disease: a genome-wide association study. JAMA Neurol. 2014;71(11):1394-404.

23. Mattson MP, Arumugam TV. Hallmarks of Brain Aging: Adaptive and Pathological Modification by Metabolic States. Cell Metab. 2018;27(6):1176-99.

24. Barnes LL, Wilson RS, Bienias JL, Schneider JA, Evans DA, Bennett DA. Sex differences in the clinical manifestations of Alzheimer disease pathology. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005;62(6):685-91.

25. Cosgrove KP, Mazure CM, Staley JK. Evolving knowledge of sex differences in brain structure, function, and chemistry. Biol Psychiatry. 2007;62(8):847-55.

26. Belfiore R, Rodin A, Ferreira E, Velazquez R, Branca C, Caccamo A, et al. Temporal and regional progression of Alzheimer's disease-like pathology in 3xTg-AD mice. Aging Cell. 2019;18(1):e12873.

27. Bilkei-Gorzo A. Genetic mouse models of brain ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Pharmacol Ther. 2014;142(2):244-57.

28. Carroll JC, Rosario ER, Kreimer S, Villamagna A, Gentzschein E, Stanczyk FZ, et al. Sex differences in beta-amyloid accumulation in 3xTg-AD mice: role of neonatal sex steroid hormone exposure. Brain Res. 2010;1366:233-45.

29. Creighton SD, Mendell AL, Palmer D, Kalisch BE, MacLusky NJ, Prado VF, et al. Dissociable cognitive impairments in two strains of transgenic Alzheimer's disease mice revealed by a battery of object-based tests. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):57.

30. Sala Frigerio C, Wolfs L, Fattorelli N, Thrupp N, Voytyuk I, Schmidt I, et al. The Major Risk Factors for Alzheimer's Disease: Age, Sex, and Genes Modulate the Microglia Response to Abeta Plaques. Cell Rep. 2019;27(4):1293-306 e6.

31. Stimmell AC, Baglietto-Vargas D, Moseley SC, Lapointe V, Thompson LM, LaFerla FM, et al. Impaired Spatial Reorientation in the 3xTg-AD Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):1311.

32. Mannella P, Brinton RD. Estrogen receptor protein interaction with phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase leads to activation of phosphorylated Akt and extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 in the same population of cortical neurons: a unified mechanism of estrogen action. J Neurosci. 2006;26(37):9439-47.

33. Tang M-X, Jacobs D, Stern Y, Marder K, Schofield P, Gurland B, et al. Effect of oestrogen during menopause on risk and age at onset of Alzheimer's disease. The Lancet. 1996;348(9025):429-32.

34. Brinton RD, Yao J, Yin F, Mack WJ, Cadenas E. Perimenopause as a neurological transition state. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2015;11(7):393-405.

35. Altmann A, Tian L, Henderson VW, Greicius MD, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative I. Sex modifies the APOE-related risk of developing Alzheimer disease. Ann Neurol. 2014;75(4):563-73.

36. Graham LC, Harder JM, Soto I, de Vries WN, John SW, Howell GR. Chronic consumption of a western diet induces robust glial activation in aging mice and in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Sci Rep. 2016;6:21568.

37. Hooijmans CR, Rutters F, Dederen PJ, Gambarota G, Veltien A, van Groen T, et al. Changes in cerebral blood volume and amyloid pathology in aged Alzheimer APP/PS1 mice on a docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) diet or cholesterol enriched Typical Western Diet (TWD). Neurobiol Dis. 2007;28(1):16-29.

38. Aridi YS, Walker JL, Wright ORL. The Association between the Mediterranean Dietary Pattern and Cognitive Health: A Systematic Review. Nutrients. 2017;9(7).

39. Black LJ, Baker K, Ponsonby AL, van der Mei I, Lucas RM, Pereira G, et al. A Higher Mediterranean Diet Score, Including Unprocessed Red Meat, Is Associated with Reduced Risk of Central Nervous System Demyelination in a Case-Control Study of Australian Adults. J Nutr. 2019;149(8):1385-92.

40. Hardman RJ, Kennedy G, Macpherson H, Scholey AB, Pipingas A. Adherence to a Mediterranean-Style Diet and Effects on Cognition in Adults: A Qualitative Evaluation and Systematic Review of Longitudinal and Prospective Trials. Front Nutr. 2016;3:22.

41. Panza F, Solfrizzi V, Colacicco AM, D'Introno A, Capurso C, Torres F, et al. Mediterranean diet and cognitive decline. Public Health Nutr. 2004;7(7):959-63.

42. Buchman AS, Boyle PA, Yu L, Shah RC, Wilson RS, Bennett DA. Total daily physical activity and the risk of AD and cognitive decline in older adults. Neurology. 2012;78(17):1323-9.

43. Hamer M, Chida Y. Physical activity and risk of neurodegenerative disease: a systematic review of prospective evidence. Psychol Med. 2009;39(1):3-11.

44. Choi SH, Bylykbashi E, Chatila ZK, Lee SW, Pulli B, Clemenson GD, et al. Combined adult neurogenesis and BDNF mimic exercise effects on cognition in an Alzheimer's mouse model. Science. 2018;361(6406).

45. Cotman CW, Berchtold NC, Christie LA. Exercise builds brain health: key roles of growth factor cascades and inflammation. Trends Neurosci. 2007;30(9):464-72.

46. Erickson KI, Voss MW, Prakash RS, Basak C, Szabo A, Chaddock L, et al. Exercise training increases size of hippocampus and improves memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(7):3017-22.

47. Lourenco MV, Frozza RL, de Freitas GB, Zhang H, Kincheski GC, Ribeiro FC, et al. Exercise-linked FNDC5/irisin rescues synaptic plasticity and memory defects in Alzheimer's models. Nat Med. 2019;25(1):165-75.

48. Laske C, Stransky E, Leyhe T, Eschweiler GW, Maetzler W, Wittorf A, et al. BDNF serum and CSF concentrations in Alzheimer's disease, normal pressure hydrocephalus and healthy controls. J Psychiatr Res. 2007;41(5):387-94.

49. Stern Y. Cognitive reserve in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. The Lancet Neurology. 2012;11(11):1006-12.

50. Wang HX, Gustafson DR, Kivipelto M, Pedersen NL, Skoog I, Windblad B, et al. Education halves the risk of dementia due to apolipoprotein epsilon4 allele: a collaborative study from the Swedish brain power initiative. Neurobiol Aging. 2012;33(5):1007 e1-7.

51. Xu W, Tan L, Wang HF, Jiang T, Tan MS, Tan L, et al. Meta-analysis of modifiable risk factors for Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;86(12):1299-306.

52. Jonaitis E, La Rue A, Mueller KD, Koscik RL, Hermann B, Sager MA. Cognitive activities and cognitive performance in middle-aged adults at risk for Alzheimer's disease. Psychol Aging. 2013;28(4):1004-14.

53. Arenaza-Urquijo EM, Bejanin A, Gonneaud J, Wirth M, La Joie R, Mutlu J, et al. Association between educational attainment and amyloid deposition across the spectrum from normal cognition to dementia: neuroimaging evidence for protection and compensation. Neurobiol Aging. 2017;59:72-9.

54. Vemuri P, Lesnick TG, Przybelski SA, Knopman DS, Machulda M, Lowe VJ, et al. Effect of intellectual enrichment on AD biomarker trajectories: Longitudinal imaging study. Neurology. 2016;86(12):1128-35.

55. Alzheimer A. Uber eine eigenartige erkrankung der hirnrinde. Allgemeine Zeitschrift fu<sup>°</sup> r Psychiatrie und psychisch-gerichtliche Medizin. 1906.

Alzheimer A. Uber eigenartige Krankheitsfalle des spateren Alters (On certain peculiar diseases of old age). Allgemeine Zeitschrift fur Psychiatrie und psychisch-gerichtliche Medizin.
 1911.

57. Braak H, Braak E. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol. 1991;82(4):239-59.

58. Thal DR, Rub U, Orantes M, Braak H. Phases of A beta-deposition in the human brain and its relevance for the development of AD. Neurology. 2002;58(12):1791-800.

59. Mirra SS, Heyman A, McKeel D, Sumi SM, Crain BJ, Brownlee LM, et al. The Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD). Part II. Standardization of the neuropathologic assessment of Alzheimer's disease. Neurology. 1991;41(4):479-86.

60. Abramov E, Dolev I, Fogel H, Ciccotosto GD, Ruff E, Slutsky I. Amyloid-beta as a positive endogenous regulator of release probability at hippocampal synapses. Nat Neurosci. 2009;12(12):1567-76.

61. Kamenetz F, Tomita T, Hsieh H, Seabrook G, Borchelt D, Iwatsubo T, et al. APP processing and synaptic function. Neuron. 2003;37(6):925-37.

62. O'Brien RJ, Wong PC. Amyloid precursor protein processing and Alzheimer's disease. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2011;34:185-204.

63. Wilquet V, De Strooper B. Amyloid-beta precursor protein processing in neurodegeneration. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2004;14(5):582-8.

64. Vetrivel KS, Thinakaran G. Amyloidogenic processing of beta-amyloid precursor protein in intracellular compartments. Neurology. 2006;66(2 Suppl 1):S69-73.

65. Naslund J, Schierhorn A, Hellman U, Lannfelt L, Roses AD, Tjernberg LO, et al. Relative abundance of Alzheimer A beta amyloid peptide variants in Alzheimer disease and normal aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91(18):8378-82.

66. Shoji M, Golde TE, Ghiso J, Cheung TT, Estus S, Shaffer LM, et al. Production of the Alzheimer amyloid beta protein by normal proteolytic processing. Science. 1992;258(5079):126-9.

67. Tanzi RE, Moir RD, Wagner SL. Clearance of Alzheimer's Abeta peptide: the many roads to perdition. Neuron. 2004;43(5):605-8.

68. Nirmalraj PN, List J, Battacharya S, Howe G, Xu L, Thompson D, et al. Complete aggregation pathway of amyloid beta (1-40) and (1-42) resolved on an atomically clean interface. Sci Adv. 2020;6(15):eaaz6014.

69. He Y, Zheng MM, Ma Y, Han XJ, Ma XQ, Qu CQ, et al. Soluble oligomers and fibrillar species of amyloid beta-peptide differentially affect cognitive functions and hippocampal inflammatory response. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012;429(3-4):125-30.

70. Cleary JP, Walsh DM, Hofmeister JJ, Shankar GM, Kuskowski MA, Selkoe DJ, et al. Natural oligomers of the amyloid-beta protein specifically disrupt cognitive function. Nat Neurosci. 2005;8(1):79-84.

71. Lesne S, Koh MT, Kotilinek L, Kayed R, Glabe CG, Yang A, et al. A specific amyloidbeta protein assembly in the brain impairs memory. Nature. 2006;440(7082):352-7.

72. Li S, Hong S, Shepardson NE, Walsh DM, Shankar GM, Selkoe D. Soluble oligomers of amyloid Beta protein facilitate hippocampal long-term depression by disrupting neuronal glutamate uptake. Neuron. 2009;62(6):788-801.

73. Baik SH, Kang S, Lee W, Choi H, Chung S, Kim JI, et al. A Breakdown in Metabolic Reprogramming Causes Microglia Dysfunction in Alzheimer's Disease. Cell Metab. 2019;30(3):493-507 e6.

74. Maezawa I, Zimin PI, Wulff H, Jin LW. Amyloid-beta protein oligomer at low nanomolar concentrations activates microglia and induces microglial neurotoxicity. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(5):3693-706.

75. Clarke JR, Lyra ESNM, Figueiredo CP, Frozza RL, Ledo JH, Beckman D, et al. Alzheimerassociated Abeta oligomers impact the central nervous system to induce peripheral metabolic deregulation. EMBO Mol Med. 2015;7(2):190-210.

76. Serra-Batiste M, Ninot-Pedrosa M, Bayoumi M, Gairi M, Maglia G, Carulla N. Abeta42 assembles into specific beta-barrel pore-forming oligomers in membrane-mimicking environments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(39):10866-71.

77. Chen JX, Yan SD. Amyloid-beta-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. J Alzheimers Dis. 2007;12(2):177-84.

78. Benilova I, Karran E, De Strooper B. The toxic Abeta oligomer and Alzheimer's disease: an emperor in need of clothes. Nat Neurosci. 2012;15(3):349-57.

79. Sakono M, Zako T. Amyloid oligomers: formation and toxicity of Abeta oligomers. FEBS J. 2010;277(6):1348-58.

80. Adlard PA, Vickers JC. Morphologically distinct plaque types differentially affect dendritic structure and organisation in the early and late stages of Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2002;103(4):377-83.

81. Lacor PN, Buniel MC, Furlow PW, Clemente AS, Velasco PT, Wood M, et al. Abeta oligomer-induced aberrations in synapse composition, shape, and density provide a molecular basis for loss of connectivity in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci. 2007;27(4):796-807.

82. Spires TL, Meyer-Luehmann M, Stern EA, McLean PJ, Skoch J, Nguyen PT, et al. Dendritic spine abnormalities in amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice demonstrated by gene transfer and intravital multiphoton microscopy. J Neurosci. 2005;25(31):7278-87.

83. Forny-Germano L, Lyra e Silva NM, Batista AF, Brito-Moreira J, Gralle M, Boehnke SE, et al. Alzheimer's disease-like pathology induced by amyloid-beta oligomers in nonhuman primates. J Neurosci. 2014;34(41):13629-43.

84. Freir DB, Fedriani R, Scully D, Smith IM, Selkoe DJ, Walsh DM, et al. Abeta oligomers inhibit synapse remodelling necessary for memory consolidation. Neurobiol Aging. 2011;32(12):2211-8.

85. Scheff SW, Price DA, Ansari MA, Roberts KN, Schmitt FA, Ikonomovic MD, et al. Synaptic change in the posterior cingulate gyrus in the progression of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2015;43(3):1073-90.

86. Wilcox KC, Lacor PN, Pitt J, Klein WL. Abeta oligomer-induced synapse degeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2011;31(6):939-48.

87. Decker H, Jurgensen S, Adrover MF, Brito-Moreira J, Bomfim TR, Klein WL, et al. Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptors are required for synaptic targeting of Alzheimer's toxic amyloid-beta peptide oligomers. J Neurochem. 2010;115(6):1520-9.

88. Ksiezak-Reding H, Liu WK, Yen SH. Phosphate analysis and dephosphorylation of modified tau associated with paired helical filaments. Brain Res. 1992;597(2):209-19.

89. Mandelkow EM, Biernat J, Drewes G, Gustke N, Trinczek B, Mandelkow E. Tau domains, phosphorylation, and interactions with microtubules. Neurobiol Aging. 1995;16(3):355-62; discussion 62-3.

90. Manczak M, Reddy PH. Abnormal interaction between the mitochondrial fission protein Drp1 and hyperphosphorylated tau in Alzheimer's disease neurons: implications for mitochondrial dysfunction and neuronal damage. Hum Mol Genet. 2012;21(11):2538-47.

91. Wysocka A, Palasz E, Steczkowska M, Niewiadomska G. Dangerous Liaisons: Tau Interaction with Muscarinic Receptors. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2020;17(3):224-37.

92. Mairet-Coello G, Courchet J, Pieraut S, Courchet V, Maximov A, Polleux F. The CAMKK2-AMPK kinase pathway mediates the synaptotoxic effects of Abeta oligomers through Tau phosphorylation. Neuron. 2013;78(1):94-108.

93. Rapoport M, Dawson HN, Binder LI, Vitek MP, Ferreira A. Tau is essential to beta - amyloid-induced neurotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(9):6364-9.

94. Mandybur TI. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy: the vascular pathology and complications. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1986;45(1):79-90.

95. Brenowitz WD, Nelson PT, Besser LM, Heller KB, Kukull WA. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy and its co-occurrence with Alzheimer's disease and other cerebrovascular neuropathologic changes. Neurobiol Aging. 2015;36(10):2702-8.

96. Yamada M, Sodeyama N, Itoh Y, Suematsu N, Otomo E, Matsushita M, et al. Association of presenilin-1 polymorphism with cerebral amyloid angiopathy in the elderly. Stroke. 1997;28(11):2219-21.

97. Rannikmae K, Kalaria RN, Greenberg SM, Chui HC, Schmitt FA, Samarasekera N, et al. APOE associations with severe CAA-associated vasculopathic changes: collaborative metaanalysis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014;85(3):300-5. 98. Shinohara M, Murray ME, Frank RD, Shinohara M, DeTure M, Yamazaki Y, et al. Impact of sex and APOE4 on cerebral amyloid angiopathy in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 2016;132(2):225-34.

99. Greenberg SM, Bacskai BJ, Hernandez-Guillamon M, Pruzin J, Sperling R, van Veluw SJ. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy and Alzheimer disease - one peptide, two pathways. Nat Rev Neurol. 2020;16(1):30-42.

100. VanItallie TB. Alzheimer's disease: Innate immunity gone awry? Metabolism. 2017;69S:S41-S9.

101. Sarlus H, Heneka MT. Microglia in Alzheimer's disease. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(9):3240-9.

102. Acosta C, Anderson HD, Anderson CM. Astrocyte dysfunction in Alzheimer disease. J Neurosci Res. 2017;95(12):2430-47.

 Adibhatla RM, Hatcher JF. Altered lipid metabolism in brain injury and disorders. Subcell Biochem. 2008;49:241-68.

104. Hamilton LK, Dufresne M, Joppe SE, Petryszyn S, Aumont A, Calon F, et al. Aberrant Lipid Metabolism in the Forebrain Niche Suppresses Adult Neural Stem Cell Proliferation in an Animal Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Cell Stem Cell. 2015;17(4):397-411.

105. Yang DS, Stavrides P, Saito M, Kumar A, Rodriguez-Navarro JA, Pawlik M, et al. Defective macroautophagic turnover of brain lipids in the TgCRND8 Alzheimer mouse model: prevention by correcting lysosomal proteolytic deficits. Brain. 2014;137(Pt 12):3300-18.

106. Hardy J, Allsop D. Amyloid deposition as the central event in the aetiology of Alzheimer's disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 1991;12(10):383-8.

107. Selkoe DJ. The molecular pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron. 1991;6(4):487-98.

108. Gotz J, Bodea LG, Goedert M. Rodent models for Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurosci.2018;19(10):583-98.

109. Aizenstein HJ, Nebes RD, Saxton JA, Price JC, Mathis CA, Tsopelas ND, et al. Frequent amyloid deposition without significant cognitive impairment among the elderly. Arch Neurol. 2008;65(11):1509-17.

110. Dickson DW, Crystal HA, Mattiace LA, Masur DM, Blau AD, Davies P, et al. Identification of normal and pathological aging in prospectively studied nondemented elderly humans. Neurobiol Aging. 1992;13(1):179-89.

111. Morris JC, Roe CM, Xiong C, Fagan AM, Goate AM, Holtzman DM, et al. APOE predicts amyloid-beta but not tau Alzheimer pathology in cognitively normal aging. Ann Neurol. 2010;67(1):122-31.

112. Andrews KA, Modat M, Macdonald KE, Yeatman T, Cardoso MJ, Leung KK, et al. Atrophy rates in asymptomatic amyloidosis: implications for Alzheimer prevention trials. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e58816.

113. Chetelat G, Villemagne VL, Villain N, Jones G, Ellis KA, Ames D, et al. Accelerated cortical atrophy in cognitively normal elderly with high beta-amyloid deposition. Neurology. 2012;78(7):477-84.

114. Ewers M, Insel P, Jagust WJ, Shaw L, Trojanowski JQ, Aisen P, et al. CSF biomarker and PIB-PET-derived beta-amyloid signature predicts metabolic, gray matter, and cognitive changes in nondemented subjects. Cereb Cortex. 2012;22(9):1993-2004.

115. Frost B, Jacks RL, Diamond MI. Propagation of tau misfolding from the outside to the inside of a cell. J Biol Chem. 2009;284(19):12845-52.

116. Braak H, Del Tredici K. The pathological process underlying Alzheimer's disease in individuals under thirty. Acta Neuropathol. 2011;121(2):171-81.

117. Hamilton JA, Hillard CJ, Spector AA, Watkins PA. Brain uptake and utilization of fatty acids, lipids and lipoproteins: application to neurological disorders. J Mol Neurosci. 2007;33(1):2-11.

118. Fick LJ, Fick GH, Belsham DD. Palmitate alters the rhythmic expression of molecular clock genes and orexigenic neuropeptide Y mRNA levels within immortalized, hypothalamic neurons. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2011;413(3):414-9.

119. Forouzanfar MH, Afshin A, Alexander LT, Anderson HR, Bhutta ZA, Biryukov S, et al. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. The Lancet. 2016;388(10053):1659-724.

120. Morris MC, Evans DA, Bienias JL, Tangney CC, Bennett DA, Aggarwal N, et al. Dietary fats and the risk of incident Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol. 2003;60(2):194-200.

121. Huang S, Rutkowsky JM, Snodgrass RG, Ono-Moore KD, Schneider DA, Newman JW, et al. Saturated fatty acids activate TLR-mediated proinflammatory signaling pathways. J Lipid Res. 2012;53(9):2002-13.

122. Valdearcos M, Robblee MM, Benjamin DI, Nomura DK, Xu AW, Koliwad SK. Microglia dictate the impact of saturated fat consumption on hypothalamic inflammation and neuronal function. Cell Rep. 2014;9(6):2124-38.

123. Lancaster GI, Langley KG, Berglund NA, Kammoun HL, Reibe S, Estevez E, et al. Evidence that TLR4 Is Not a Receptor for Saturated Fatty Acids but Mediates Lipid-Induced Inflammation by Reprogramming Macrophage Metabolism. Cell Metab. 2018;27(5):1096-110 e5.

124. Sartorius T, Ketterer C, Kullmann S, Balzer M, Rotermund C, Binder S, et al. Monounsaturated fatty acids prevent the aversive effects of obesity on locomotion, brain activity, and sleep behavior. Diabetes. 2012;61(7):1669-79.

125. Maedler K, Oberholzer J, Bucher P, Spinas GA, Donath MY. Monounsaturated fatty acids prevent the deleterious effects of palmitate and high glucose on human pancreatic beta-cell turnover and function. Diabetes. 2003;52(3):726-33.

126. Kwon B, Lee HK, Querfurth HW. Oleate prevents palmitate-induced mitochondrial dysfunction, insulin resistance and inflammatory signaling in neuronal cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1843(7):1402-13.

127. Oh YT, Lee JY, Lee J, Kim H, Yoon KS, Choe W, et al. Oleic acid reduces lipopolysaccharide-induced expression of iNOS and COX-2 in BV2 murine microglial cells: possible involvement of reactive oxygen species, p38 MAPK, and IKK/NF-kappaB signaling pathways. Neurosci Lett. 2009;464(2):93-7.

128. Vassiliou EK, Gonzalez A, Garcia C, Tadros JH, Chakraborty G, Toney JH. Oleic acid and peanut oil high in oleic acid reverse the inhibitory effect of insulin production of the inflammatory cytokine TNF-alpha both in vitro and in vivo systems. Lipids Health Dis. 2009;8:25.

129. Camell C, Smith CW. Dietary oleic acid increases m2 macrophages in the mesenteric adipose tissue. PLoS One. 2013;8(9):e75147.

130. Rodriguez-Pacheco F, Gutierrez-Repiso C, Garcia-Serrano S, Alaminos-Castillo MA, Ho-Plagaro A, Valdes S, et al. The pro-/anti-inflammatory effects of different fatty acids on visceral adipocytes are partially mediated by GPR120. Eur J Nutr. 2017;56(4):1743-52.

131. Bazinet RP, Laye S. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and their metabolites in brain function and disease. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2014;15(12):771-85.

132. Dacks PA, Shineman DW, Fillit HM. Current evidence for the clinical use of long-chain polyunsaturated n-3 fatty acids to prevent age-related cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease. J Nutr Health Aging. 2013;17(3):240-51.

133. Chang PK, Khatchadourian A, McKinney RA, Maysinger D. Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA): a modulator of microglia activity and dendritic spine morphology. J Neuroinflammation. 2015;12:34.

134. Dong Y, Xu M, Kalueff AV, Song C. Dietary eicosapentaenoic acid normalizes hippocampal omega-3 and 6 polyunsaturated fatty acid profile, attenuates glial activation and regulates BDNF function in a rodent model of neuroinflammation induced by central interleukin-1beta administration. Eur J Nutr. 2018;57(5):1781-91.

135. Shi Z, Ren H, Huang Z, Peng Y, He B, Yao X, et al. Fish Oil Prevents Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Depressive-Like Behavior by Inhibiting Neuroinflammation. Mol Neurobiol. 2017;54(9):7327-34.

136. Rapoport SI. Arachidonic acid and the brain. J Nutr. 2008;138(12):2515-20.

137. Lin PY, Huang SY, Su KP. A meta-analytic review of polyunsaturated fatty acid compositions in patients with depression. Biol Psychiatry. 2010;68(2):140-7.

138. McNamara RK, Hahn CG, Jandacek R, Rider T, Tso P, Stanford KE, et al. Selective deficits in the omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid in the postmortem orbitofrontal cortex of patients with major depressive disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2007;62(1):17-24.

139. Ohvo-Rekila H, Ramstedt B, Leppimaki P, Slotte JP. Cholesterol interactions with phospholipids in membranes. Prog Lipid Res. 2002;41(1):66-97.

140. Aureli M, Grassi S, Prioni S, Sonnino S, Prinetti A. Lipid membrane domains in the brain.Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1851(8):1006-16.

141. Singh P, Saxena R, Srinivas G, Pande G, Chattopadhyay A. Cholesterol biosynthesis and homeostasis in regulation of the cell cycle. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e58833.

142. Ebert D, Haller RG, Walton ME. Energy contribution of octanoate to intact rat brain metabolism measured by 13C nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. J Neurosci. 2003;23(13):5928-35.

143. Ioannou MS, Jackson J, Sheu SH, Chang CL, Weigel AV, Liu H, et al. Neuron-Astrocyte
Metabolic Coupling Protects against Activity-Induced Fatty Acid Toxicity. Cell.
2019;177(6):1522-35 e14.

144. Astarita G, Jung KM, Vasilevko V, Dipatrizio NV, Martin SK, Cribbs DH, et al. Elevated stearoyl-CoA desaturase in brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One. 2011;6(10):e24777.

145. Cunnane SC, Schneider JA, Tangney C, Tremblay-Mercier J, Fortier M, Bennett DA, et al. Plasma and brain fatty acid profiles in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2012;29(3):691-7.

146. Fraser T, Tayler H, Love S. Fatty acid composition of frontal, temporal and parietal neocortex in the normal human brain and in Alzheimer's disease. Neurochem Res. 2010;35(3):503-13.

147. Martin V, Fabelo N, Santpere G, Puig B, Marin R, Ferrer I, et al. Lipid alterations in lipid rafts from Alzheimer's disease human brain cortex. J Alzheimers Dis. 2010;19(2):489-502.

148. Snowden SG, Ebshiana AA, Hye A, An Y, Pletnikova O, O'Brien R, et al. Association between fatty acid metabolism in the brain and Alzheimer disease neuropathology and cognitive performance: A nontargeted metabolomic study. PLoS Med. 2017;14(3):e1002266.

149. Whitmer RA, Sidney S, Selby J, Johnston SC, Yaffe K. Midlife cardiovascular risk factors and risk of dementia in late life. Neurology. 2005;64(2):277-81.

150. Refolo LM, Malester B, LaFrancois J, Bryant-Thomas T, Wang R, Tint GS, et al. Hypercholesterolemia accelerates the Alzheimer's amyloid pathology in a transgenic mouse model. Neurobiol Dis. 2000;7(4):321-31.

151. Heverin M, Bogdanovic N, Lutjohann D, Bayer T, Pikuleva I, Bretillon L, et al. Changes in the levels of cerebral and extracerebral sterols in the brain of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Lipid Res. 2004;45(1):186-93.

152. Lazar AN, Bich C, Panchal M, Desbenoit N, Petit VW, Touboul D, et al. Time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry (TOF-SIMS) imaging reveals cholesterol overload in the cerebral cortex of Alzheimer disease patients. Acta Neuropathol. 2013;125(1):133-44.

153. Chan RB, Oliveira TG, Cortes EP, Honig LS, Duff KE, Small SA, et al. Comparative lipidomic analysis of mouse and human brain with Alzheimer disease. J Biol Chem. 2012;287(4):2678-88.

154. Zhang M, Zhao D, Zhou G, Li C. Dietary Pattern, Gut Microbiota, and Alzheimer's Disease. J Agric Food Chem. 2020;68(46):12800-9.

155. Ghribi O, Larsen B, Schrag M, Herman MM. High cholesterol content in neurons increases BACE, beta-amyloid, and phosphorylated tau levels in rabbit hippocampus. Exp Neurol. 2006;200(2):460-7.

156. van der Kant R, Langness VF, Herrera CM, Williams DA, Fong LK, Leestemaker Y, et al. Cholesterol Metabolism Is a Druggable Axis that Independently Regulates Tau and Amyloid-beta in iPSC-Derived Alzheimer's Disease Neurons. Cell Stem Cell. 2019;24(3):363-75 e9.

157. Launer LJ, White LR, Petrovitch H, Ross GW, Curb JD. Cholesterol and neuropathologic markers of AD: a population-based autopsy study. Neurology. 2001;57(8):1447-52.

158. Feldman HH, Doody RS, Kivipelto M, Sparks DL, Waters DD, Jones RW, et al. Randomized controlled trial of atorvastatin in mild to moderate Alzheimer disease: LEADe. Neurology. 2010;74(12):956-64.

159. Sano M, Bell KL, Galasko D, Galvin JE, Thomas RG, van Dyck CH, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of simvastatin to treat Alzheimer disease. Neurology. 2011;77(6):556-63.

160. Huang W, Li Z, Zhao L, Zhao W. Simvastatin ameliorate memory deficits and inflammation in clinical and mouse model of Alzheimer's disease via modulating the expression of miR-106b. Biomed Pharmacother. 2017;92:46-57.

161. Sparks DL, Kryscio RJ, Connor DJ, Sabbagh MN, Sparks LM, Lin Y, et al. Cholesterol and cognitive performance in normal controls and the influence of elective statin use after conversion to mild cognitive impairment: results in a clinical trial cohort. Neurodegener Dis. 2010;7(1-3):183-6.

162. Filippov V, Song MA, Zhang K, Vinters HV, Tung S, Kirsch WM, et al. Increased ceramide in brains with Alzheimer's and other neurodegenerative diseases. J Alzheimers Dis. 2012;29(3):537-47.

163. Han X, Rozen S, Boyle SH, Hellegers C, Cheng H, Burke JR, et al. Metabolomics in early Alzheimer's disease: identification of altered plasma sphingolipidome using shotgun lipidomics. PLoS One. 2011;6(7):e21643.

164. He X, Huang Y, Li B, Gong CX, Schuchman EH. Deregulation of sphingolipid metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2010;31(3):398-408.

165. Saleem M, Herrmann N, Dinoff A, Mielke MM, Oh PI, Shammi P, et al. A Lipidomics Approach to Assess the Association Between Plasma Sphingolipids and Verbal Memory Performance in Coronary Artery Disease Patients Undertaking Cardiac Rehabilitation: A C18:0 Signature for Cognitive Response to Exercise. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;60(3):829-41.

166. Marwarha G, Rostad S, Lilek J, Kleinjan M, Schommer J, Ghribi O. Palmitate Increases beta-site AbetaPP-Cleavage Enzyme 1 Activity and Amyloid-beta Genesis by Evoking Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Subsequent C/EBP Homologous Protein Activation. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;57(3):907-25.

167. Marwarha G, Schommer J, Lund J, Schommer T, Ghribi O. Palmitate-induced C/EBP homologous protein activation leads to NF-kappaB-mediated increase in BACE1 activity and amyloid beta genesis. J Neurochem. 2018;144(6):761-79.

168. Patil S, Balu D, Melrose J, Chan C. Brain region-specificity of palmitic acid-induced abnormalities associated with Alzheimer's disease. BMC Res Notes. 2008;1:20.

169. Tracy LM, Bergqvist F, Ivanova EV, Jacobsen KT, Iverfeldt K. Exposure to the saturated free fatty acid palmitate alters BV-2 microglia inflammatory response. J Mol Neurosci. 2013;51(3):805-12.

170. Yanguas-Casas N, Crespo-Castrillo A, de Ceballos ML, Chowen JA, Azcoitia I, Arevalo MA, et al. Sex differences in the phagocytic and migratory activity of microglia and their impairment by palmitic acid. Glia. 2018;66(3):522-37.

171. Melo HM, Seixas da Silva GDS, Sant'Ana MR, Teixeira CVL, Clarke JR, Miya Coreixas VS, et al. Palmitate Is Increased in the Cerebrospinal Fluid of Humans with Obesity and Induces Memory Impairment in Mice via Pro-inflammatory TNF-alpha. Cell Rep. 2020;30(7):2180-94 e8.

172. Cohen P, Miyazaki M, Socci ND, Hagge-Greenberg A, Liedtke W, Soukas AA, et al. Role for stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 in leptin-mediated weight loss. Science. 2002;297(5579):240-3.

173. Ntambi JM, Miyazaki M, Stoehr JP, Lan H, Kendziorski CM, Yandell BS, et al. Loss of stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 function protects mice against adiposity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(17):11482-6.

174. Flowers JB, Rabaglia ME, Schueler KL, Flowers MT, Lan H, Keller MP, et al. Loss of stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 improves insulin sensitivity in lean mice but worsens diabetes in leptindeficient obese mice. Diabetes. 2007;56(5):1228-39.

175. Miyazaki M, Kim YC, Gray-Keller MP, Attie AD, Ntambi JM. The biosynthesis of hepatic cholesterol esters and triglycerides is impaired in mice with a disruption of the gene for stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(39):30132-8.

176. Rahman SM, Dobrzyn A, Lee SH, Dobrzyn P, Miyazaki M, Ntambi JM. Stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 deficiency increases insulin signaling and glycogen accumulation in brown adipose tissue. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2005;288(2):E381-7.

177. Liu Y, Yang L, Conde-Knape K, Beher D, Shearman MS, Shachter NS. Fatty acids increase presenilin-1 levels and [gamma]-secretase activity in PSwt-1 cells. J Lipid Res. 2004;45(12):2368-76.

178. Goozee K, Chatterjee P, James I, Shen K, Sohrabi HR, Asih PR, et al. Alterations in erythrocyte fatty acid composition in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):676.

179. Lukiw WJ, Cui JG, Marcheselli VL, Bodker M, Botkjaer A, Gotlinger K, et al. A role for docosahexaenoic acid-derived neuroprotectin D1 in neural cell survival and Alzheimer disease. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(10):2774-83.

180. Vandal M, Alata W, Tremblay C, Rioux-Perreault C, Salem N, Jr., Calon F, et al. Reduction in DHA transport to the brain of mice expressing human APOE4 compared to APOE2. J Neurochem. 2014;129(3):516-26.

181. Gustafson DR, Backman K, Scarmeas N, Stern Y, Manly JJ, Mayeux R, et al. Dietary fatty acids and risk of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: Observations from the Washington Heights-Hamilton Heights-Inwood Columbia Aging Project (WHICAP). Alzheimers Dement. 2020.

182. Calon F, Lim GP, Yang F, Morihara T, Teter B, Ubeda O, et al. Docosahexaenoic acid protects from dendritic pathology in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. Neuron. 2004;43(5):633-45.

183. Arsenault D, Julien C, Tremblay C, Calon F. DHA improves cognition and prevents dysfunction of entorhinal cortex neurons in 3xTg-AD mice. PLoS One. 2011;6(2):e17397.

184. Yurko-Mauro K, Alexander DD, Van Elswyk ME. Docosahexaenoic acid and adult memory: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10(3):e0120391.

185. Quinn JF, Raman R, Thomas RG, Yurko-Mauro K, Nelson EB, Van Dyck C, et al. Docosahexaenoic acid supplementation and cognitive decline in Alzheimer disease: a randomized trial. JAMA. 2010;304(17):1903-11.

186. Wang X, Zhu M, Hjorth E, Cortes-Toro V, Eyjolfsdottir H, Graff C, et al. Resolution of inflammation is altered in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2015;11(1):40-50 e1-2.

187. Zhu M, Wang X, Hjorth E, Colas RA, Schroeder L, Granholm AC, et al. Pro-Resolving Lipid Mediators Improve Neuronal Survival and Increase Abeta42 Phagocytosis. Mol Neurobiol. 2016;53(4):2733-49.

188. Lambert JC, Ibrahim-Verbaas CA, Harold D, Naj AC, Sims R, Bellenguez C, et al. Metaanalysis of 74,046 individuals identifies 11 new susceptibility loci for Alzheimer's disease. Nat Genet. 2013;45(12):1452-8.

189. Liu CC, Zhao N, Fu Y, Wang N, Linares C, Tsai CW, et al. ApoE4 Accelerates Early Seeding of Amyloid Pathology. Neuron. 2017;96(5):1024-32 e3.

190. Hashimoto T, Serrano-Pozo A, Hori Y, Adams KW, Takeda S, Banerji AO, et al. Apolipoprotein E, especially apolipoprotein E4, increases the oligomerization of amyloid beta peptide. J Neurosci. 2012;32(43):15181-92.

191. Koffie RM, Hashimoto T, Tai HC, Kay KR, Serrano-Pozo A, Joyner D, et al. Apolipoprotein E4 effects in Alzheimer's disease are mediated by synaptotoxic oligomeric amyloid-beta. Brain. 2012;135(Pt 7):2155-68.

192. Fagan AM, Watson M, Parsadanian M, Bales KR, Paul SM, Holtzman DM. Human and murine ApoE markedly alters A beta metabolism before and after plaque formation in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2002;9(3):305-18.

193. Holtzman DM, Bales KR, Wu S, Bhat P, Parsadanian M, Fagan AM, et al. Expression of human apolipoprotein E reduces amyloid-beta deposition in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Clin Invest. 1999;103(6):R15-R21.

194. Brecht WJ, Harris FM, Chang S, Tesseur I, Yu GQ, Xu Q, et al. Neuron-specific apolipoprotein e4 proteolysis is associated with increased tau phosphorylation in brains of transgenic mice. J Neurosci. 2004;24(10):2527-34.

195. Minett T, Classey J, Matthews FE, Fahrenhold M, Taga M, Brayne C, et al. Microglial immunophenotype in dementia with Alzheimer's pathology. J Neuroinflammation. 2016;13(1):135.

196. Ulrich JD, Ulland TK, Mahan TE, Nystrom S, Nilsson KP, Song WM, et al. ApoE facilitates the microglial response to amyloid plaque pathology. J Exp Med. 2018;215(4):1047-58.

197. Yeh FL, Wang Y, Tom I, Gonzalez LC, Sheng M. TREM2 Binds to Apolipoproteins, Including APOE and CLU/APOJ, and Thereby Facilitates Uptake of Amyloid-Beta by Microglia. Neuron. 2016;91(2):328-40. 198. Love S, Siew LK, Dawbarn D, Wilcock GK, Ben-Shlomo Y, Allen SJ. Premorbid effects of APOE on synaptic proteins in human temporal neocortex. Neurobiol Aging. 2006;27(6):797-803.

199. Farmer BC, Kluemper J, Johnson LA. Apolipoprotein E4 Alters Astrocyte Fatty Acid Metabolism and Lipid Droplet Formation. Cells. 2019;8(2).

200. Heinsinger NM, Gachechiladze MA, Rebeck GW. Apolipoprotein E Genotype Affects Size of ApoE Complexes in Cerebrospinal Fluid. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2016;75(10):918-24.

201. Hanson AJ, Bayer-Carter JL, Green PS, Montine TJ, Wilkinson CW, Baker LD, et al. Effect of apolipoprotein E genotype and diet on apolipoprotein E lipidation and amyloid peptides: randomized clinical trial. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(8):972-80.

202. Jagust WJ, Landau SM, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I. Apolipoprotein E, not fibrillar beta-amyloid, reduces cerebral glucose metabolism in normal aging. J Neurosci. 2012;32(50):18227-33.

203. Fu Y, Hsiao JH, Paxinos G, Halliday GM, Kim WS. ABCA7 Mediates Phagocytic Clearance of Amyloid-beta in the Brain. J Alzheimers Dis. 2016;54(2):569-84.

204. Sakae N, Liu CC, Shinohara M, Frisch-Daiello J, Ma L, Yamazaki Y, et al. ABCA7 Deficiency Accelerates Amyloid-beta Generation and Alzheimer's Neuronal Pathology. J Neurosci. 2016;36(13):3848-59.

205. Hughes TM, Lopez OL, Evans RW, Kamboh MI, Williamson JD, Klunk WE, et al. Markers of cholesterol transport are associated with amyloid deposition in the brain. Neurobiol Aging. 2014;35(4):802-7.

206. Shulman JM, Chen K, Keenan BT, Chibnik LB, Fleisher A, Thiyyagura P, et al. Genetic susceptibility for Alzheimer disease neuritic plaque pathology. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(9):1150-7.

207. Ma FC, Zong Y, Wang HF, Li JQ, Cao XP, Tan L, et al. ABCA7 genotype altered Abeta levels in cerebrospinal fluid in Alzheimer's disease without dementia. Ann Transl Med. 2018;6(22):437.

208. Oh GS, Kim G, Yoon J, Kim GH, Kim SW. The E-box-like sterol regulatory element mediates the insulin-stimulated expression of hepatic clusterin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2015;465(3):501-6.

209. Foster EM, Dangla-Valls A, Lovestone S, Ribe EM, Buckley NJ. Clusterin in Alzheimer's Disease: Mechanisms, Genetics, and Lessons From Other Pathologies. Front Neurosci. 2019;13:164.

210. Bell RD, Sagare AP, Friedman AE, Bedi GS, Holtzman DM, Deane R, et al. Transport pathways for clearance of human Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide and apolipoproteins E and J in the mouse central nervous system. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2007;27(5):909-18.

211. Robbins JP, Perfect L, Ribe EM, Maresca M, Dangla-Valls A, Foster EM, et al. Clusterin Is Required for beta-Amyloid Toxicity in Human iPSC-Derived Neurons. Front Neurosci. 2018;12:504.

212. Miners JS, Clarke P, Love S. Clusterin levels are increased in Alzheimer's disease and influence the regional distribution of Abeta. Brain Pathol. 2017;27(3):305-13.

213. Yerbury JJ, Poon S, Meehan S, Thompson B, Kumita JR, Dobson CM, et al. The extracellular chaperone clusterin influences amyloid formation and toxicity by interacting with prefibrillar structures. FASEB J. 2007;21(10):2312-22.

214. Zhou Y, Hayashi I, Wong J, Tugusheva K, Renger JJ, Zerbinatti C. Intracellular clusterin interacts with brain isoforms of the bridging integrator 1 and with the microtubule-associated protein Tau in Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One. 2014;9(7):e103187.

215. Shepherd CE, Affleck AJ, Bahar AY, Carew-Jones F, Halliday GM. Intracellular and secreted forms of clusterin are elevated early in Alzheimer's disease and associate with both Abeta and tau pathology. Neurobiol Aging. 2020;89:129-31.

216. Chapuis J, Hansmannel F, Gistelinck M, Mounier A, Van Cauwenberghe C, Kolen KV, et al. Increased expression of BIN1 mediates Alzheimer genetic risk by modulating tau pathology. Mol Psychiatry. 2013;18(11):1225-34.

217. Franzmeier N, Rubinski A, Neitzel J, Ewers M, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I. The BIN1 rs744373 SNP is associated with increased tau-PET levels and impaired memory. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):1766.

218. Glennon EB, Lau DH, Gabriele RMC, Taylor MF, Troakes C, Opie-Martin S, et al. Bridging Integrator-1 protein loss in Alzheimer's disease promotes synaptic tau accumulation and disrupts tau release. Brain Commun. 2020;2(1).

219. Crotti A, Sait HR, McAvoy KM, Estrada K, Ergun A, Szak S, et al. BIN1 favors the spreading of Tau via extracellular vesicles. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):9477.

220. Miyagawa T, Ebinuma I, Morohashi Y, Hori Y, Young Chang M, Hattori H, et al. BIN1 regulates BACE1 intracellular trafficking and amyloid-beta production. Hum Mol Genet. 2016;25(14):2948-58.

221. Dodson SE, Gearing M, Lippa CF, Montine TJ, Levey AI, Lah JJ. LR11/SorLA expression is reduced in sporadic Alzheimer disease but not in familial Alzheimer disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2006;65(9):866-72.

222. Scherzer CR, Offe K, Gearing M, Rees HD, Fang G, Heilman CJ, et al. Loss of apolipoprotein E receptor LR11 in Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol. 2004;61(8):1200-5.

223. Andersen OM, Reiche J, Schmidt V, Gotthardt M, Spoelgen R, Behlke J, et al. Neuronal sorting protein-related receptor sorLA/LR11 regulates processing of the amyloid precursor protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(38):13461-6.

224. Rogaeva E, Meng Y, Lee JH, Gu Y, Kawarai T, Zou F, et al. The neuronal sortilin-related receptor SORL1 is genetically associated with Alzheimer disease. Nat Genet. 2007;39(2):168-77.

225. Grimm MO, Grimm HS, Tomic I, Beyreuther K, Hartmann T, Bergmann C. Independent inhibition of Alzheimer disease beta- and gamma-secretase cleavage by lowered cholesterol levels. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(17):11302-11.

226. Kalvodova L, Kahya N, Schwille P, Ehehalt R, Verkade P, Drechsel D, et al. Lipids as modulators of proteolytic activity of BACE: involvement of cholesterol, glycosphingolipids, and anionic phospholipids in vitro. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(44):36815-23.

227. Marquer C, Devauges V, Cossec JC, Liot G, Lecart S, Saudou F, et al. Local cholesterol increase triggers amyloid precursor protein-Bace1 clustering in lipid rafts and rapid endocytosis. FASEB J. 2011;25(4):1295-305.

228. Schneider A, Schulz-Schaeffer W, Hartmann T, Schulz JB, Simons M. Cholesterol depletion reduces aggregation of amyloid-beta peptide in hippocampal neurons. Neurobiol Dis. 2006;23(3):573-7.

229. Fassbender K, Simons M, Bergmann C, Stroick M, Lutjohann D, Keller P, et al. Simvastatin strongly reduces levels of Alzheimer's disease beta -amyloid peptides Abeta 42 and Abeta 40 in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(10):5856-61.

230. Simons M, Keller P, De Strooper B, Beyreuther K, Dotti CG, Simons K. Cholesterol depletion inhibits the generation of beta-amyloid in hippocampal neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95(11):6460-4.

231. Fassbender K, Ragoschke A, Kuhl S, Szabo K, Fatar M, Back W, et al. Inflammatory leukocyte infiltration in focal cerebral ischemia: unrelated to infarct size. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2002;13(3):198-203.

232. Hoglund K, Syversen S, Lewczuk P, Wallin A, Wiltfang J, Blennow K. Statin treatment and a disease-specific pattern of beta-amyloid peptides in Alzheimer's disease. Exp Brain Res. 2005;164(2):205-14.

233. Friedhoff LT, Cullen EI, Geoghagen NS, Buxbaum JD. Treatment with controlled-release lovastatin decreases serum concentrations of human beta-amyloid (A beta) peptide. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol. 2001;4(2):127-30.

234. Kojro E, Gimpl G, Lammich S, Marz W, Fahrenholz F. Low cholesterol stimulates the nonamyloidogenic pathway by its effect on the alpha -secretase ADAM 10. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001;98(10):5815-20.

235. Grimm MO, Grimm HS, Patzold AJ, Zinser EG, Halonen R, Duering M, et al. Regulation of cholesterol and sphingomyelin metabolism by amyloid-beta and presenilin. Nat Cell Biol. 2005;7(11):1118-23.

236. Grimm MO, Kuchenbecker J, Grosgen S, Burg VK, Hundsdorfer B, Rothhaar TL, et al. Docosahexaenoic acid reduces amyloid beta production via multiple pleiotropic mechanisms. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(16):14028-39.

237. Lim GP, Calon F, Morihara T, Yang F, Teter B, Ubeda O, et al. A diet enriched with the omega-3 fatty acid docosahexaenoic acid reduces amyloid burden in an aged Alzheimer mouse model. J Neurosci. 2005;25(12):3032-40.

238. Green KN, Martinez-Coria H, Khashwji H, Hall EB, Yurko-Mauro KA, Ellis L, et al. Dietary docosahexaenoic acid and docosapentaenoic acid ameliorate amyloid-beta and tau pathology via a mechanism involving presenilin 1 levels. J Neurosci. 2007;27(16):4385-95.

239. Lawson LJ, Perry VH, Gordon S. Turnover of resident microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. Neuroscience. 1992;48(2):405-15.

240. Mittelbronn M, Dietz K, Schluesener HJ, Meyermann R. Local distribution of microglia in the normal adult human central nervous system differs by up to one order of magnitude. Acta Neuropathol. 2001;101(3):249-55.

241. Ginhoux F, Greter M, Leboeuf M, Nandi S, See P, Gokhan S, et al. Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. Science. 2010;330(6005):841-5.

242. Kierdorf K, Erny D, Goldmann T, Sander V, Schulz C, Perdiguero EG, et al. Microglia emerge from erythromyeloid precursors via Pu.1- and Irf8-dependent pathways. Nat Neurosci. 2013;16(3):273-80.

243. Monier A, Evrard P, Gressens P, Verney C. Distribution and differentiation of microglia in the human encephalon during the first two trimesters of gestation. J Comp Neurol. 2006;499(4):565-82.

244. Gosselin D, Link VM, Romanoski CE, Fonseca GJ, Eichenfield DZ, Spann NJ, et al. Environment drives selection and function of enhancers controlling tissue-specific macrophage identities. Cell. 2014;159(6):1327-40.

245. Lavin Y, Winter D, Blecher-Gonen R, David E, Keren-Shaul H, Merad M, et al. Tissueresident macrophage enhancer landscapes are shaped by the local microenvironment. Cell. 2014;159(6):1312-26.

246. Gomez Perdiguero E, Klapproth K, Schulz C, Busch K, Azzoni E, Crozet L, et al. Tissueresident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. Nature. 2015;518(7540):547-51.

247. Bruttger J, Karram K, Wortge S, Regen T, Marini F, Hoppmann N, et al. Genetic Cell Ablation Reveals Clusters of Local Self-Renewing Microglia in the Mammalian Central Nervous System. Immunity. 2015;43(1):92-106.

248. Mildner A, Schmidt H, Nitsche M, Merkler D, Hanisch UK, Mack M, et al. Microglia in the adult brain arise from Ly-6ChiCCR2+ monocytes only under defined host conditions. Nat Neurosci. 2007;10(12):1544-53.

249. Elmore MR, Najafi AR, Koike MA, Dagher NN, Spangenberg EE, Rice RA, et al. Colonystimulating factor 1 receptor signaling is necessary for microglia viability, unmasking a microglia progenitor cell in the adult brain. Neuron. 2014;82(2):380-97.

250. Butovsky O, Jedrychowski MP, Moore CS, Cialic R, Lanser AJ, Gabriely G, et al. Identification of a unique TGF-beta-dependent molecular and functional signature in microglia. Nat Neurosci. 2014;17(1):131-43.

251. Bohlen CJ, Bennett FC, Tucker AF, Collins HY, Mulinyawe SB, Barres BA. Diverse Requirements for Microglial Survival, Specification, and Function Revealed by Defined-Medium Cultures. Neuron. 2017;94(4):759-73 e8.

252. Spangenberg E, Severson PL, Hohsfield LA, Crapser J, Zhang J, Burton EA, et al. Sustained microglial depletion with CSF1R inhibitor impairs parenchymal plaque development in an Alzheimer's disease model. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):3758.

253. Spangenberg EE, Lee RJ, Najafi AR, Rice RA, Elmore MR, Blurton-Jones M, et al. Eliminating microglia in Alzheimer's mice prevents neuronal loss without modulating amyloidbeta pathology. Brain. 2016;139(Pt 4):1265-81.

254. Bottcher C, Schlickeiser S, Sneeboer MAM, Kunkel D, Knop A, Paza E, et al. Human microglia regional heterogeneity and phenotypes determined by multiplexed single-cell mass cytometry. Nat Neurosci. 2019;22(1):78-90.

255. De Biase LM, Schuebel KE, Fusfeld ZH, Jair K, Hawes IA, Cimbro R, et al. Local Cues Establish and Maintain Region-Specific Phenotypes of Basal Ganglia Microglia. Neuron. 2017;95(2):341-56 e6.

256. Sankowski R, Bottcher C, Masuda T, Geirsdottir L, Sagar, Sindram E, et al. Mapping microglia states in the human brain through the integration of high-dimensional techniques. Nat Neurosci. 2019;22(12):2098-110.

257. Hammond TR, Dufort C, Dissing-Olesen L, Giera S, Young A, Wysoker A, et al. Single-Cell RNA Sequencing of Microglia throughout the Mouse Lifespan and in the Injured Brain Reveals Complex Cell-State Changes. Immunity. 2019;50(1):253-71 e6.

258. Li Q, Cheng Z, Zhou L, Darmanis S, Neff NF, Okamoto J, et al. Developmental Heterogeneity of Microglia and Brain Myeloid Cells Revealed by Deep Single-Cell RNA Sequencing. Neuron. 2019;101(2):207-23 e10.

259. Masuda T, Sankowski R, Staszewski O, Bottcher C, Amann L, Sagar, et al. Spatial and temporal heterogeneity of mouse and human microglia at single-cell resolution. Nature. 2019;566(7744):388-92.

260. Matcovitch-Natan O, Winter DR, Giladi A, Vargas Aguilar S, Spinrad A, Sarrazin S, et al. Microglia development follows a stepwise program to regulate brain homeostasis. Science. 2016;353(6301):aad8670.

261. Thion MS, Ginhoux F, Garel S. Microglia and early brain development: An intimate journey. Science. 2018;362(6411):185-9.

262. Matsui TK, Mori E. Microglia support neural stem cell maintenance and growth. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2018;503(3):1880-4.

263. Shigemoto-Mogami Y, Hoshikawa K, Goldman JE, Sekino Y, Sato K. Microglia enhance neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis in the early postnatal subventricular zone. J Neurosci. 2014;34(6):2231-43.

264. Ueno M, Fujita Y, Tanaka T, Nakamura Y, Kikuta J, Ishii M, et al. Layer V cortical neurons require microglial support for survival during postnatal development. Nat Neurosci. 2013;16(5):543-51.

265. Hagemeyer N, Hanft KM, Akriditou MA, Unger N, Park ES, Stanley ER, et al. Microglia contribute to normal myelinogenesis and to oligodendrocyte progenitor maintenance during adulthood. Acta Neuropathol. 2017;134(3):441-58.

266. Sierra A, Encinas JM, Deudero JJ, Chancey JH, Enikolopov G, Overstreet-Wadiche LS, et al. Microglia shape adult hippocampal neurogenesis through apoptosis-coupled phagocytosis. Cell Stem Cell. 2010;7(4):483-95.

267. Squarzoni P, Oller G, Hoeffel G, Pont-Lezica L, Rostaing P, Low D, et al. Microglia modulate wiring of the embryonic forebrain. Cell Rep. 2014;8(5):1271-9.

268. Miyamoto A, Wake H, Ishikawa AW, Eto K, Shibata K, Murakoshi H, et al. Microglia contact induces synapse formation in developing somatosensory cortex. Nat Commun. 2016;7:12540.

269. Tremblay ME, Lowery RL, Majewska AK. Microglial interactions with synapses are modulated by visual experience. PLoS Biol. 2010;8(11):e1000527.

270. Fonseca MI, Zhou J, Botto M, Tenner AJ. Absence of C1q leads to less neuropathology in transgenic mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci. 2004;24(29):6457-65.

271. Grabert K, Michoel T, Karavolos MH, Clohisey S, Baillie JK, Stevens MP, et al. Microglial brain region-dependent diversity and selective regional sensitivities to aging. Nat Neurosci. 2016;19(3):504-16.

272. Deleidi M, Jaggle M, Rubino G. Immune aging, dysmetabolism, and inflammation in neurological diseases. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:172.

273. Damani MR, Zhao L, Fontainhas AM, Amaral J, Fariss RN, Wong WT. Age-related alterations in the dynamic behavior of microglia. Aging Cell. 2011;10(2):263-76.

274. Solano Fonseca R, Mahesula S, Apple DM, Raghunathan R, Dugan A, Cardona A, et al. Neurogenic Niche Microglia Undergo Positional Remodeling and Progressive Activation Contributing to Age-Associated Reductions in Neurogenesis. Stem Cells Dev. 2016;25(7):542-55. 275. Bolos M, Perea JR, Avila J. Alzheimer's disease as an inflammatory disease. Biomol Concepts. 2017;8(1):37-43.

276. Tang Y, Le W. Differential Roles of M1 and M2 Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases.Mol Neurobiol. 2016;53(2):1181-94.

277. Walker DG, Lue LF. Immune phenotypes of microglia in human neurodegenerative disease: challenges to detecting microglial polarization in human brains. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2015;7(1):56.

278. Cherry JD, Olschowka JA, O'Banion MK. Neuroinflammation and M2 microglia: the good, the bad, and the inflamed. J Neuroinflammation. 2014;11:98.

279. Zoller T, Schneider A, Kleimeyer C, Masuda T, Potru PS, Pfeifer D, et al. Silencing of TGFbeta signalling in microglia results in impaired homeostasis. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):4011.

280. Biber K, Neumann H, Inoue K, Boddeke HW. Neuronal 'On' and 'Off' signals control microglia. Trends Neurosci. 2007;30(11):596-602.

281. Vainchtein ID, Molofsky AV. Astrocytes and Microglia: In Sickness and in Health. Trends Neurosci. 2020;43(3):144-54.

282. Prajeeth CK, Dittrich-Breiholz O, Talbot SR, Robert PA, Huehn J, Stangel M. IFN-gamma Producing Th1 Cells Induce Different Transcriptional Profiles in Microglia and Astrocytes. Front Cell Neurosci. 2018;12:352.

283. Doens D, Fernandez PL. Microglia receptors and their implications in the response to amyloid beta for Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis. J Neuroinflammation. 2014;11:48.

284. Holtman IR, Skola D, Glass CK. Transcriptional control of microglia phenotypes in health and disease. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(9):3220-9.

285. Orihuela R, McPherson CA, Harry GJ. Microglial M1/M2 polarization and metabolic states. Br J Pharmacol. 2016;173(4):649-65.

286. Bernier LP, York EM, Kamyabi A, Choi HB, Weilinger NL, MacVicar BA. Microglial metabolic flexibility supports immune surveillance of the brain parenchyma. Nat Commun. 2020;11(1):1559.

287. Gimeno-Bayon J, Lopez-Lopez A, Rodriguez MJ, Mahy N. Glucose pathways adaptation supports acquisition of activated microglia phenotype. J Neurosci Res. 2014;92(6):723-31.

288. Nair S, Sobotka KS, Joshi P, Gressens P, Fleiss B, Thornton C, et al. Lipopolysaccharideinduced alteration of mitochondrial morphology induces a metabolic shift in microglia modulating the inflammatory response in vitro and in vivo. Glia. 2019;67(6):1047-61.

289. Voloboueva LA, Emery JF, Sun X, Giffard RG. Inflammatory response of microglial BV-2 cells includes a glycolytic shift and is modulated by mitochondrial glucose-regulated protein 75/mortalin. FEBS Lett. 2013;587(6):756-62.

290. Wang L, Pavlou S, Du X, Bhuckory M, Xu H, Chen M. Glucose transporter 1 critically controls microglial activation through facilitating glycolysis. Mol Neurodegener. 2019;14(1):2.

291. Wang Q, Zhao Y, Sun M, Liu S, Li B, Zhang L, et al. 2-Deoxy-d-glucose attenuates sevoflurane-induced neuroinflammation through nuclear factor-kappa B pathway in vitro. Toxicol In Vitro. 2014;28(7):1183-9.

292. Galvan-Pena S, O'Neill LA. Metabolic reprograming in macrophage polarization. Front Immunol. 2014;5:420.

293. Lampropoulou V, Sergushichev A, Bambouskova M, Nair S, Vincent EE, Loginicheva E, et al. Itaconate Links Inhibition of Succinate Dehydrogenase with Macrophage Metabolic Remodeling and Regulation of Inflammation. Cell Metab. 2016;24(1):158-66.

294. Mills EL, Kelly B, Logan A, Costa ASH, Varma M, Bryant CE, et al. Succinate Dehydrogenase Supports Metabolic Repurposing of Mitochondria to Drive Inflammatory Macrophages. Cell. 2016;167(2):457-70 e13.

295. Fodelianaki G, Lansing F, Bhattarai P, Troullinaki M, Zeballos MA, Charalampopoulos I, et al. Nerve Growth Factor modulates LPS - induced microglial glycolysis and inflammatory responses. Exp Cell Res. 2019;377(1-2):10-6.

296. Holland R, McIntosh AL, Finucane OM, Mela V, Rubio-Araiz A, Timmons G, et al. Inflammatory microglia are glycolytic and iron retentive and typify the microglia in APP/PS1 mice. Brain Behav Immun. 2018;68:183-96.

297. Chausse B, Kakimoto PA, Caldeira-da-Silva CC, Chaves-Filho AB, Yoshinaga MY, da Silva RP, et al. Distinct metabolic patterns during microglial remodeling by oleate and palmitate. Biosci Rep. 2019;39(4).

298. Vats D, Mukundan L, Odegaard JI, Zhang L, Smith KL, Morel CR, et al. Oxidative metabolism and PGC-1beta attenuate macrophage-mediated inflammation. Cell Metab. 2006;4(1):13-24.

299. Van den Bossche J, Baardman J, Otto NA, van der Velden S, Neele AE, van den Berg SM, et al. Mitochondrial Dysfunction Prevents Repolarization of Inflammatory Macrophages. Cell Rep. 2016;17(3):684-96.

300. Chen WT, Lu A, Craessaerts K, Pavie B, Sala Frigerio C, Corthout N, et al. Spatial Transcriptomics and In Situ Sequencing to Study Alzheimer's Disease. Cell. 2020;182(4):976-91 e19.

301. Sierksma A, Lu A, Mancuso R, Fattorelli N, Thrupp N, Salta E, et al. Novel Alzheimer risk genes determine the microglia response to amyloid-beta but not to TAU pathology. EMBO Mol Med. 2020;12(3):e10606.

302. Grathwohl SA, Kalin RE, Bolmont T, Prokop S, Winkelmann G, Kaeser SA, et al. Formation and maintenance of Alzheimer's disease beta-amyloid plaques in the absence of microglia. Nat Neurosci. 2009;12(11):1361-3.

303. Sosna J, Philipp S, Albay R, 3rd, Reyes-Ruiz JM, Baglietto-Vargas D, LaFerla FM, et al. Early long-term administration of the CSF1R inhibitor PLX3397 ablates microglia and reduces accumulation of intraneuronal amyloid, neuritic plaque deposition and pre-fibrillar oligomers in 5XFAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Mol Neurodegener. 2018;13(1):11.

304. Ismail R, Parbo P, Madsen LS, Hansen AK, Hansen KV, Schaldemose JL, et al. The relationships between neuroinflammation, beta-amyloid and tau deposition in Alzheimer's disease: a longitudinal PET study. J Neuroinflammation. 2020;17(1):151.

305. D'Andrea MR, Cole GM, Ard MD. The microglial phagocytic role with specific plaque types in the Alzheimer disease brain. Neurobiol Aging. 2004;25(5):675-83.

306. Eikelenboom P, Bate C, Van Gool WA, Hoozemans JJ, Rozemuller JM, Veerhuis R, et al. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease and prion disease. Glia. 2002;40(2):232-9.

307. Hauwel M, Furon E, Canova C, Griffiths M, Neal J, Gasque P. Innate (inherent) control of brain infection, brain inflammation and brain repair: the role of microglia, astrocytes, "protective" glial stem cells and stromal ependymal cells. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 2005;48(2):220-33.

308. Heneka MT, Sastre M, Dumitrescu-Ozimek L, Dewachter I, Walter J, Klockgether T, et al. Focal glial activation coincides with increased BACE1 activation and precedes amyloid plaque deposition in APP[V717I] transgenic mice. J Neuroinflammation. 2005;2:22.

309. Lee JW, Lee YK, Yuk DY, Choi DY, Ban SB, Oh KW, et al. Neuro-inflammation induced by lipopolysaccharide causes cognitive impairment through enhancement of beta-amyloid generation. J Neuroinflammation. 2008;5:37.

310. Liao YF, Wang BJ, Cheng HT, Kuo LH, Wolfe MS. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1beta, and interferon-gamma stimulate gamma-secretase-mediated cleavage of amyloid precursor protein through a JNK-dependent MAPK pathway. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(47):49523-32.

311. Sastre M, Walter J, Gentleman SM. Interactions between APP secretases and inflammatory mediators. J Neuroinflammation. 2008;5:25.

312. Venegas C, Kumar S, Franklin BS, Dierkes T, Brinkschulte R, Tejera D, et al. Microgliaderived ASC specks cross-seed amyloid-beta in Alzheimer's disease. Nature. 2017;552(7685):355-61.

313. Heppner FL, Ransohoff RM, Becher B. Immune attack: the role of inflammation in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2015;16(6):358-72.

314. Perry VH, Holmes C. Microglial priming in neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Neurol. 2014;10(4):217-24.

315. Hickman SE, Allison EK, El Khoury J. Microglial dysfunction and defective beta-amyloid clearance pathways in aging Alzheimer's disease mice. J Neurosci. 2008;28(33):8354-60.

316. Bertram L, Tanzi RE. Genome-wide association studies in Alzheimer's disease. Hum Mol Genet. 2009;18(R2):R137-45.

317. Joshi P, Turola E, Ruiz A, Bergami A, Libera DD, Benussi L, et al. Microglia convert aggregated amyloid-beta into neurotoxic forms through the shedding of microvesicles. Cell Death Differ. 2014;21(4):582-93.

318. Baik SH, Kang S, Son SM, Mook-Jung I. Microglia contributes to plaque growth by cell death due to uptake of amyloid beta in the brain of Alzheimer's disease mouse model. Glia. 2016;64(12):2274-90.

319. Malpetti M, Kievit RA, Passamonti L, Jones PS, Tsvetanov KA, Rittman T, et al. Microglial activation and tau burden predict cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. Brain. 2020;143(5):1588-602.
320. Serrano-Pozo A, Mielke ML, Gomez-Isla T, Betensky RA, Growdon JH, Frosch MP, et al. Reactive glia not only associates with plaques but also parallels tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol. 2011;179(3):1373-84.

321. Sasaki A, Kawarabayashi T, Murakami T, Matsubara E, Ikeda M, Hagiwara H, et al. Microglial activation in brain lesions with tau deposits: comparison of human tauopathies and tau transgenic mice TgTauP301L. Brain Res. 2008;1214:159-68.

322. Zilka N, Stozicka Z, Kovac A, Pilipcinec E, Bugos O, Novak M. Human misfolded truncated tau protein promotes activation of microglia and leukocyte infiltration in the transgenic rat model of tauopathy. J Neuroimmunol. 2009;209(1-2):16-25.

323. Hopp SC, Lin Y, Oakley D, Roe AD, DeVos SL, Hanlon D, et al. The role of microglia in processing and spreading of bioactive tau seeds in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuroinflammation. 2018;15(1):269.

324. Leyns CEG, Gratuze M, Narasimhan S, Jain N, Koscal LJ, Jiang H, et al. TREM2 function impedes tau seeding in neuritic plaques. Nat Neurosci. 2019;22(8):1217-22.

325. Asai H, Ikezu S, Tsunoda S, Medalla M, Luebke J, Haydar T, et al. Depletion of microglia and inhibition of exosome synthesis halt tau propagation. Nat Neurosci. 2015;18(11):1584-93.

326. Bussian TJ, Aziz A, Meyer CF, Swenson BL, van Deursen JM, Baker DJ. Clearance of senescent glial cells prevents tau-dependent pathology and cognitive decline. Nature. 2018;562(7728):578-82.

327. Bemiller SM, McCray TJ, Allan K, Formica SV, Xu G, Wilson G, et al. TREM2 deficiency exacerbates tau pathology through dysregulated kinase signaling in a mouse model of tauopathy. Mol Neurodegener. 2017;12(1):74.

328. Bhaskar K, Konerth M, Kokiko-Cochran ON, Cardona A, Ransohoff RM, Lamb BT. Regulation of tau pathology by the microglial fractalkine receptor. Neuron. 2010;68(1):19-31.

329. Maphis N, Xu G, Kokiko-Cochran ON, Jiang S, Cardona A, Ransohoff RM, et al. Reactive microglia drive tau pathology and contribute to the spreading of pathological tau in the brain. Brain. 2015;138(Pt 6):1738-55.

330. Ghosh S, Wu MD, Shaftel SS, Kyrkanides S, LaFerla FM, Olschowka JA, et al. Sustained interleukin-1beta overexpression exacerbates tau pathology despite reduced amyloid burden in an Alzheimer's mouse model. J Neurosci. 2013;33(11):5053-64.

331. Daborg J, Andreasson U, Pekna M, Lautner R, Hanse E, Minthon L, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid levels of complement proteins C3, C4 and CR1 in Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2012;119(7):789-97.

332. Wu T, Dejanovic B, Gandham VD, Gogineni A, Edmonds R, Schauer S, et al. Complement C3 Is Activated in Human AD Brain and Is Required for Neurodegeneration in Mouse Models of Amyloidosis and Tauopathy. Cell Rep. 2019;28(8):2111-23 e6.

333. Beckman D, Ott S, Donis-Cox K, Janssen WG, Bliss-Moreau E, Rudebeck PH, et al. Oligomeric Abeta in the monkey brain impacts synaptic integrity and induces accelerated cortical aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019.

334. Hong S, Beja-Glasser VF, Nfonoyim BM, Frouin A, Li S, Ramakrishnan S, et al. Complement and microglia mediate early synapse loss in Alzheimer mouse models. Science. 2016;352(6286):712-6.

335. Azevedo EP, Ledo JH, Barbosa G, Sobrinho M, Diniz L, Fonseca AC, et al. Activated microglia mediate synapse loss and short-term memory deficits in a mouse model of transthyretin-related oculoleptomeningeal amyloidosis. Cell Death Dis. 2013;4:e789.

336. Lill CM, Rengmark A, Pihlstrom L, Fogh I, Shatunov A, Sleiman PM, et al. The role of TREM2 R47H as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease, frontotemporal lobar degeneration, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and Parkinson's disease. Alzheimers Dement. 2015;11(12):1407-16.

337. Gotzl JK, Brendel M, Werner G, Parhizkar S, Sebastian Monasor L, Kleinberger G, et al. Opposite microglial activation stages upon loss of PGRN or TREM2 result in reduced cerebral glucose metabolism. EMBO Mol Med. 2019;11(6).

338. Griciuc A, Patel S, Federico AN, Choi SH, Innes BJ, Oram MK, et al. TREM2 Acts Downstream of CD33 in Modulating Microglial Pathology in Alzheimer's Disease. Neuron. 2019;103(5):820-35 e7.

339. Leyns CEG, Ulrich JD, Finn MB, Stewart FR, Koscal LJ, Remolina Serrano J, et al. TREM2 deficiency attenuates neuroinflammation and protects against neurodegeneration in a mouse model of tauopathy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(43):11524-9.

340. Song WM, Joshita S, Zhou Y, Ulland TK, Gilfillan S, Colonna M. Humanized TREM2 mice reveal microglia-intrinsic and -extrinsic effects of R47H polymorphism. J Exp Med. 2018;215(3):745-60.

341. Atagi Y, Liu CC, Painter MM, Chen XF, Verbeeck C, Zheng H, et al. Apolipoprotein E Is a Ligand for Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells 2 (TREM2). J Biol Chem. 2015;290(43):26043-50.

342. Bailey CC, DeVaux LB, Farzan M. The Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells2 Binds Apolipoprotein E. J Biol Chem. 2015;290(43):26033-42.

343. Kober DL, Alexander-Brett JM, Karch CM, Cruchaga C, Colonna M, Holtzman MJ, et al. Neurodegenerative disease mutations in TREM2 reveal a functional surface and distinct loss-of-function mechanisms. Elife. 2016;5.

344. Wang Y, Ulland TK, Ulrich JD, Song W, Tzaferis JA, Hole JT, et al. TREM2-mediated early microglial response limits diffusion and toxicity of amyloid plaques. J Exp Med. 2016;213(5):667-75.

345. Perez SE, Nadeem M, He B, Miguel JC, Malek-Ahmadi MH, Chen K, et al. Neocortical and hippocampal TREM2 protein levels during the progression of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2017;54:133-43.

346. Frank S, Burbach GJ, Bonin M, Walter M, Streit W, Bechmann I, et al. TREM2 is upregulated in amyloid plaque-associated microglia in aged APP23 transgenic mice. Glia. 2008;56(13):1438-47.

347. Parhizkar S, Arzberger T, Brendel M, Kleinberger G, Deussing M, Focke C, et al. Loss of TREM2 function increases amyloid seeding but reduces plaque-associated ApoE. Nat Neurosci. 2019;22(2):191-204.

348. Yuan P, Condello C, Keene CD, Wang Y, Bird TD, Paul SM, et al. TREM2 Haplodeficiency in Mice and Humans Impairs the Microglia Barrier Function Leading to Decreased Amyloid Compaction and Severe Axonal Dystrophy. Neuron. 2016;90(4):724-39.

349. Jay TR, Miller CM, Cheng PJ, Graham LC, Bemiller S, Broihier ML, et al. TREM2 deficiency eliminates TREM2+ inflammatory macrophages and ameliorates pathology in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. J Exp Med. 2015;212(3):287-95.

350. Wang Y, Cella M, Mallinson K, Ulrich JD, Young KL, Robinette ML, et al. TREM2 lipid sensing sustains the microglial response in an Alzheimer's disease model. Cell. 2015;160(6):1061-71.

351. Terwel D, Steffensen KR, Verghese PB, Kummer MP, Gustafsson JA, Holtzman DM, et al. Critical role of astroglial apolipoprotein E and liver X receptor-alpha expression for microglial Abeta phagocytosis. J Neurosci. 2011;31(19):7049-59.

352. Griciuc A, Serrano-Pozo A, Parrado AR, Lesinski AN, Asselin CN, Mullin K, et al. Alzheimer's disease risk gene CD33 inhibits microglial uptake of amyloid beta. Neuron. 2013;78(4):631-43.

353. Bradshaw EM, Chibnik LB, Keenan BT, Ottoboni L, Raj T, Tang A, et al. CD33 Alzheimer's disease locus: altered monocyte function and amyloid biology. Nat Neurosci. 2013;16(7):848-50.

354. Malik M, Simpson JF, Parikh I, Wilfred BR, Fardo DW, Nelson PT, et al. CD33 Alzheimer's risk-altering polymorphism, CD33 expression, and exon 2 splicing. J Neurosci. 2013;33(33):13320-5.

355. Karch CM, Jeng AT, Nowotny P, Cady J, Cruchaga C, Goate AM. Expression of novel Alzheimer's disease risk genes in control and Alzheimer's disease brains. PLoS One. 2012;7(11):e50976.

356. Ulland TK, Song WM, Huang SC, Ulrich JD, Sergushichev A, Beatty WL, et al. TREM2 Maintains Microglial Metabolic Fitness in Alzheimer's Disease. Cell. 2017;170(4):649-63 e13.

357. Nugent AA, Lin K, van Lengerich B, Lianoglou S, Przybyla L, Davis SS, et al. TREM2 Regulates Microglial Cholesterol Metabolism upon Chronic Phagocytic Challenge. Neuron. 2020;105(5):837-54 e9.

358. Liu X, Strable MS, Ntambi JM. Stearoyl CoA desaturase 1: role in cellular inflammation and stress. Adv Nutr. 2011;2(1):15-22.

359. Mason P, Liang B, Li L, Fremgen T, Murphy E, Quinn A, et al. SCD1 inhibition causes cancer cell death by depleting mono-unsaturated fatty acids. PLoS One. 2012;7(3):e33823.

360. Roongta UV, Pabalan JG, Wang X, Ryseck RP, Fargnoli J, Henley BJ, et al. Cancer cell dependence on unsaturated fatty acids implicates stearoyl-CoA desaturase as a target for cancer therapy. Mol Cancer Res. 2011;9(11):1551-61.

361. Cohen JT, Ziv G, Bloom J, Zikk D, Rapoport Y, Himmelfarb MZ. Blast injury of the ear in a confined space explosion: auditory and vestibular evaluation. Isr Med Assoc J. 2002;4(7):559-62.

362. Miyazaki M, Sampath H, Liu X, Flowers MT, Chu K, Dobrzyn A, et al. Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 deficiency attenuates obesity and insulin resistance in leptin-resistant obese mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2009;380(4):818-22.

363. Hyun CK, Kim ED, Flowers MT, Liu X, Kim E, Strable M, et al. Adipose-specific deletion of stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 up-regulates the glucose transporter GLUT1 in adipose tissue. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;399(4):480-6.

364. Dalla Valle A, Vertongen P, Spruyt D, Lechanteur J, Suain V, Gaspard N, et al. Induction of Stearoyl-CoA 9-Desaturase 1 Protects Human Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Against Palmitic Acid-Induced Lipotoxicity and Inflammation. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2019;10:726.

365. Liu X, Miyazaki M, Flowers MT, Sampath H, Zhao M, Chu K, et al. Loss of Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 attenuates adipocyte inflammation: effects of adipocyte-derived oleate. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2010;30(1):31-8.

366. de Moura RF, Nascimento LF, Ignacio-Souza LM, Morari J, Razolli DS, Solon C, et al. Hypothalamic stearoyl-CoA desaturase-2 (SCD2) controls whole-body energy expenditure. Int J Obes (Lond). 2016;40(3):471-8.

367. Liu Q, Zhang J. Lipid metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Bull. 2014;30(2):331-45.

368. Fanning S, Haque A, Imberdis T, Baru V, Barrasa MI, Nuber S, et al. Lipidomic Analysis of alpha-Synuclein Neurotoxicity Identifies Stearoyl CoA Desaturase as a Target for Parkinson Treatment. Mol Cell. 2019;73(5):1001-14 e8.

369. Bogie JFJ, Grajchen E, Wouters E, Corrales AG, Dierckx T, Vanherle S, et al. Stearoyl-CoA desaturase-1 impairs the reparative properties of macrophages and microglia in the brain. J Exp Med. 2020;217(5).

370. Uryu S, Tokuhiro S, Oda T. β-Amyloid-specific upregulation of stearoyl coenzyme A desaturase-1 in macrophages. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2003;303(1):302-5.

371. Oddo S, Caccamo A, Shepherd JD, Murphy MP, Golde TE, Kayed R, et al. Triple-Transgenic Model of Alzheimer's Disease with Plaques and Tangles. Neuron. 2003;39(3):409-21.

372. Vandal M, White PJ, Chevrier G, Tremblay C, St-Amour I, Planel E, et al. Age-dependent impairment of glucose tolerance in the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. FASEB J. 2015;29(10):4273-84.

373. Bories C, Guitton MJ, Julien C, Tremblay C, Vandal M, Msaid M, et al. Sex-dependent alterations in social behaviour and cortical synaptic activity coincide at different ages in a model of Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One. 2012;7(9):e46111.

374. Clinton LK, Billings LM, Green KN, Caccamo A, Ngo J, Oddo S, et al. Age-dependent sexual dimorphism in cognition and stress response in the 3xTg-AD mice. Neurobiol Dis. 2007;28(1):76-82.

375. Pietropaolo S, Sun Y, Li R, Brana C, Feldon J, Yee BK. The impact of voluntary exercise on mental health in rodents: a neuroplasticity perspective. Behav Brain Res. 2008;192(1):42-60.

376. Yang JT, Wang ZJ, Cai HY, Yuan L, Hu MM, Wu MN, et al. Sex Differences in Neuropathology and Cognitive Behavior in APP/PS1/tau Triple-Transgenic Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Neurosci Bull. 2018;34(5):736-46.

377. Arsenault D, Tremblay C, Emond V, Calon F. Sex-dependent alterations in the physiology of entorhinal cortex neurons in old heterozygous 3xTg-AD mice. Biol Sex Differ. 2020;11(1):63.

378. Vandal M, Bourassa P, Calon F. Can insulin signaling pathways be targeted to transport Abeta out of the brain? Front Aging Neurosci. 2015;7:114.

379. Hamilton LK, Aumont A, Julien C, Vadnais A, Calon F, Fernandes KJ. Widespread deficits in adult neurogenesis precede plaque and tangle formation in the 3xTg mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Neurosci. 2010;32(6):905-20.

380. Penzes P, Cahill ME, Jones KA, VanLeeuwen JE, Woolfrey KM. Dendritic spine pathology in neuropsychiatric disorders. Nat Neurosci. 2011;14(3):285-93.

381. Scheff SW, Price DA, Schmitt FA, Mufson EJ. Hippocampal synaptic loss in early Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging. 2006;27(10):1372-84.

382. Kim D, Langmead B, Salzberg SL. HISAT: a fast spliced aligner with low memory requirements. Nat Methods. 2015;12(4):357-60.

383. Anders S, Pyl PT, Huber W. HTSeq--a Python framework to work with high-throughput sequencing data. Bioinformatics. 2015;31(2):166-9.

384. Sun J, Nishiyama T, Shimizu K, Kadota K. TCC: an R package for comparing tag count data with robust normalization strategies. BMC Bioinformatics. 2013;14:219.

385. Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, et al. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102(43):15545-50.

386. Schindelin J, Arganda-Carreras I, Frise E, Kaynig V, Longair M, Pietzsch T, et al. Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. Nat Methods. 2012;9(7):676-82.

387. Su F, Bai F, Zhang Z. Inflammatory Cytokines and Alzheimer's Disease: A Review from the Perspective of Genetic Polymorphisms. Neurosci Bull. 2016;32(5):469-80.

388. Wang WY, Tan MS, Yu JT, Tan L. Role of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from microglia in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Transl Med. 2015;3(10):136.

389. Wood LB, Winslow AR, Proctor EA, McGuone D, Mordes DA, Frosch MP, et al. Identification of neurotoxic cytokines by profiling Alzheimer's disease tissues and neuron culture viability screening. Sci Rep. 2015;5:16622.

390. Pannese E. The Golgi Stain: invention, diffusion and impact on neurosciences. J Hist Neurosci. 1999;8(2):132-40.

391. Frisoni GB, Ganzola R, Canu E, Rub U, Pizzini FB, Alessandrini F, et al. Mapping local hippocampal changes in Alzheimer's disease and normal ageing with MRI at 3 Tesla. Brain. 2008;131(Pt 12):3266-76.

392. Fanselow MS, Dong HW. Are the dorsal and ventral hippocampus functionally distinct structures? Neuron. 2010;65(1):7-19.

393. Timmerman R, Burm SM, Bajramovic JJ. An Overview of in vitro Methods to Study Microglia. Front Cell Neurosci. 2018;12:242.

394. Chari T, Griswold S, Andrews NA, Fagiolini M. The Stage of the Estrus Cycle Is Critical for Interpretation of Female Mouse Social Interaction Behavior. Front Behav Neurosci. 2020;14:113.

395. Ter Horst JP, Kentrop J, Arp M, Hubens CJ, de Kloet ER, Oitzl MS. Spatial learning of female mice: a role of the mineralocorticoid receptor during stress and the estrous cycle. Front Behav Neurosci. 2013;7:56.

396. Li C, Brake WG, Romeo RD, Dunlop JC, Gordon M, Buzescu R, et al. Estrogen alters hippocampal dendritic spine shape and enhances synaptic protein immunoreactivity and spatial memory in female mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(7):2185-90.

397. Spencer JL, Waters EM, Milner TA, McEwen BS. Estrous cycle regulates activation of hippocampal Akt, LIM kinase, and neurotrophin receptors in C57BL/6 mice. Neuroscience. 2008;155(4):1106-19.

398. Mangold CA, Wronowski B, Du M, Masser DR, Hadad N, Bixler GV, et al. Sexually divergent induction of microglial-associated neuroinflammation with hippocampal aging. J Neuroinflammation. 2017;14(1):141.

399. Vegeto E, Belcredito S, Ghisletti S, Meda C, Etteri S, Maggi A. The endogenous estrogen status regulates microglia reactivity in animal models of neuroinflammation. Endocrinology. 2006;147(5):2263-72.

400. Risher WC, Ustunkaya T, Singh Alvarado J, Eroglu C. Rapid Golgi analysis method for efficient and unbiased classification of dendritic spines. PLoS One. 2014;9(9):e107591.

401. Taghizadeh M, Talaei SA, Salami M. Vitamin D deficiency impairs spatial learning in adult rats. Iran Biomed J. 2013;17(1):42-8.

402. Townsend M, Shankar GM, Mehta T, Walsh DM, Selkoe DJ. Effects of secreted oligomers of amyloid beta-protein on hippocampal synaptic plasticity: a potent role for trimers. J Physiol. 2006;572(Pt 2):477-92.

403. Yang T, Li S, Xu H, Walsh DM, Selkoe DJ. Large Soluble Oligomers of Amyloid beta-Protein from Alzheimer Brain Are Far Less Neuroactive Than the Smaller Oligomers to Which They Dissociate. J Neurosci. 2017;37(1):152-63.

404. Mamelak M. Energy and the Alzheimer brain. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2017;75:297-313.